

# Some contributions to deep learning for metagenomics Thanh Hai Nguyen

# ▶ To cite this version:

Thanh Hai Nguyen. Some contributions to deep learning for metagenomics. Artificial Intelligence [cs.AI]. Sorbonne Université, 2018. English. NNT: 2018SORUS102. tel-02505179

# HAL Id: tel-02505179 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02505179

Submitted on 11 Mar 2020

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.









# DOCTORAL THESIS SORBONNE UNIVERSITY

# Spécialité : Computer Science École doctorale nº130: Informatics, Telecommunication and Electronic

organized

at UMMISCO, IRD, Sorbonne Université, Bondy and Integromics, Institute of Cardiometabolism and Nutrition, Paris under the direction of Jean-Daniel ZUCKER, Nataliya SOKOLOVSKA and Edi PRIFTI

presented by

# **NGUYEN** Thanh Hai

for obtaining the degree of:

DOCTOR SORBONNE UNIVERSITY

Thesis Title :

Some Contributions to Deep Learning for Metagenomics

Defended 26 <sup>th</sup> September, 2018

with the following juries:

Pr.	Tu-Bao HO	Reviewer
Pr.	Mohamed ELATI	Reviewer
Pr.	Yann CHEVALEYRE	Examinator
Pr.	Blaise HANCZAR	Examinator
Pr.	Jean-Pierre BRIOT	Examinator
Pr.	Jean-Daniel ZUCKER	Advisor
Dr.	Nataliya SOKOLOVSKA	Co-Advisor
Dr.	Edi PRIFTI	Co-Advisor

Version Tuesday 9<sup>th</sup> October, 2018, 15:27

# Contents

A	cknov	vledgements	$\mathbf{v}$
A	bstra	$\mathbf{ct}$	vii
R	ésum	é	ix
I Introduction			1
	I.1	Motivation	1
	I.2	Brief Overview of Results	4
		I.2.1 Chapter II: Heterogeneous Biomedical Signatures Extraction based	
		on Self-Organising Maps	4
		I.2.2 Chapter III: Visualization approaches for metagenomics	4
		I.2.3 Chapter IV: Deep learning for metagenomics using embeddings	5
п	II Feature Selection for heterogeneous data		
	II.1	Introduction	7
	II.2	Related work	8
	II.3	Deep linear support vector machines	9
	II.4	Self-Organising Maps for feature selection	10
		II.4.1 Unsupervised Deep Self-Organising Maps	11
		II.4.2 Supervised Deep Self-Organising Maps	11
	II.5	Experiment	12
		II.5.1 Signatures of Metabolic Health	12
		II.5.2 Dataset description	12
		II.5.3 Comparison with State-of-the-art Methods	17
	II.6	Closing and remarks	18
п	IVisı	alization Approaches for metagenomics	<b>21</b>
	III.1	Introduction	22
	III.2	Dimensionality reduction algorithms	23
	III.3	Metagenomic data benchmarks	27
	III.4	Met2Img approach	28
		III.4.1 Abundance Bins for metagenomic synthetic images	28
		III.4.1.1 Binning based on abundance distribution	29
		III.4.1.2 Binning based on Quantile Transformation (QTF) $\ldots$	30
		III.4.1.3 Binary Bins	31

		III.4.2	Generation of artificial metagenomic images: Fill-up and Manifold	
			learning algorithms	31
			III.4.2.1 Fill-up	31
			III.4.2.2 Visualization based on dimensionality reduction algorithms	35
		III.4.3	Colormaps for images	43
	III.5	Closing	g remarks	45
IV	Dee	p Lear	ning for Metagenomics	51
	IV.1	Introd	uction	52
	IV.2	Relate	d work	53
		IV.2.1	Machine learning for Metagenomics	53
		IV.2.2	Convolutional Neural Networks	56
			IV.2.2.1 AlexNet, ImageNet Classification with Deep Convolutional Neural Networks	57
			IV.2.2.2 ZFNet, Visualizing and Understanding Convolutional Net-	50
			WORKS	- 00 50
			IV.2.2.5 Inception Architecture	59 50
			IV 2.2.5 VCCNet very deep convolutional networks for large scale	59
			image recognition	62
			IV.2.2.6 ResNet, Deep Residual Learning for Image Recognition .	65
	IV.3	Metag	enomic data benchmarks	65
	IV.4	CNN e	architectures and models used in the experiments	67
		IV.4.1	Convolutional Neural Networks	67
		IV.4.2	One-dimensional case	69
		IV.4.3	Two-dimensional case	70
		IV.4.4	Experimental Setup	71
	IV.5	Result	S	74
		IV.5.1	Comparing to the-state-of-the-art (MetAML)	74
			IV.5.1.1 Execution time	75
			IV.5.1.2 The results on 1D data	75
			IV.5.1.3 The results on 2D data	76
			IV.5.1.4 The explanations from LIME and Grad-CAM	80
		IV.5.2	Comparing to shallow learning algorithms	83
		IV.5.3	Applying Met2Img on Sokol's lab data	83
		IV.5.4	Applying Met2Img on selbal's datasets	86
		IV.5.5	The results with gene-families abundance	86
			IV.5.5.1 Applying dimensionality reduction algorithms	86
			IV.5.5.2 Comparing to standard machine learning methods	90
	IV.6	Closing	g remarks	92
V Conclusion and Perspectives		and Perspectives	97	
	V.1	Conclu	usion	97
	V.2	Future	Research Directions	99
Ap	open	dices		103

# CONTENTS

A The contributions of the thesis	105
B Taxonomies used in the example illustrated by Figure III.7	107
C Some other results on datasets in group A	111
List of Figures	117
List of Tables	
Bibliography	

iii

# CONTENTS

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to my advisors, Prof. Jean-Daniel ZUCKER, Assist. Prof. Nataliya SOKOLOVSKA, and Dr. Edi PRIFTI who have supported, guided, and encouraged me during over three years and who are great mentors in my study as well in various aspects of my personal life. I will never forget all your kindness and supportiveness. Also, I would like to especially thank Prof. Jean-Daniel who not only created my PhD candidate position, but also helped me to find the scholarship for PhD. Thank you very much for all!

I am very grateful to the reviewers and examiners in my jury, Prof. Tu-Bao HO, Prof. Mohamed ELATI, Prof. Jean-Pierre BRIOT, Prof. Yann CHEVALEYRE, and Prof. Blaise HANCZAR for their insightful comments and constructive suggestions.

In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Nguyen Truong Hai and Mrs. Nguyen Cam Thao who supported my financial for the period of high school, university, and who influenced my life choices, transmitted me the passion and brought me to computer science when I was a high school student. I would like to thank Assoc. Prof. Huynh Xuan Hiep who introduced me to the great advisors. Also, thank you Dr. Pham Thi Xuan Loc for giving me useful advice for my life in France. In addition, a big thank to Prof. Jean Hare who contributed a great thesis template to compose the thesis manuscript.

My PhD would not have begun without financial support from the 911 Vietnamese scholarship. I acknowledge the Vietnamese Government and Campus France for the quality support. In addition, thank you Can Tho University, my workplace in Vietnam, for facilitating me to complete my research.

Furthermore, I would like to thank all Integromics team members, and my friends for interesting discussions and the time spent together, thank you so much for supporting me throughout my studies in France. I would like to thank Dr. Chloé Vigliotti, Dr. Dang Quoc Viet, Nguyen Van Kha, Dr. Nguyen Hoai Tuong, Dr. Nguyen Phuong Nga, Dr. Le Thi Phuong, Dr. Ho The Nhan, Pham Ngoc Quyen, Dao Quang Minh, Pham Nguyen Hoang, and Solia Adriouch for their necessary supports for my life in France. Also, thank you Kathy Baumont, secretary at l'UMI 209 UMMISCO, for completing my administrative procedures.

Last but not least, I thank my family members, my parents, Vo Thi Ngoc Lan and Nguyen Van E. A big thank to my mother, Ngoc Lan, for motivating me to never stop trying. Thank you, my uncles, Thanh Hong, Phuong Lan, Thanh Van and my cousin, Phuong Truc for supporting the financial and providing me precious advices.

Acknowledgements

# Abstract

Metagenomic data from human microbiome is a novel source of data for improving diagnosis and prognosis in human diseases. However, to do a prediction based on individual bacteria abundance is a challenge, since the number of features is much bigger than the number of samples. Therefore, we face the difficulties related to high dimensional data processing, as well as to the high complexity of heterogeneous data. Machine Learning (ML) in general, and Deep Learning (DL) in particular, has obtained great achievements on important metagenomics problems linked to OTU-clustering, binning, taxonomic assignment, comparative metagenomics, and gene prediction. ML offers powerful frameworks to integrate a vast amount of data from heterogeneous sources, to design new models, and to test multiple hypotheses and therapeutic products.

The contribution of this PhD thesis is multi-fold: 1) we introduce a feature selection framework for efficient heterogeneous biomedical signature extraction, and 2) a novel DL approach for predicting diseases using artificial image representations.

The first contribution is an efficient feature selection approach based on visualization capabilities of Self-Organising Maps (SOM) for heterogeneous data fusion. We reported that the framework is efficient on a real and heterogeneous dataset called MicrObese, containing metadata, genes of adipose tissue, and gut flora metagenomic data with a reasonable classification accuracy compared to the state-of-the-art methods.

The second approach developed in the context of this PhD project, is a method to visualize metagenomic data using a simple fill-up method, and also various state-of-the-art dimensional reduction learning approaches. The new metagenomic data representation can be considered as synthetic images, and used as a novel data set for an efficient deep learning method such as Convolutional Neural Networks. We also explore applying Local Interpretable Model-agnostic explanations (LIME), Saliency Maps and Gradient-weighted Class Activation (Grad-CAM) to identify important regions in the newly constructed artificial images which might help to explain the predictive models.

We show by our experimental results that the proposed methods either achieve the state-of-the-art predictive performance, or outperform it on public rich metagenomic benchmarks.

Abstract

# Résumé

Les technologies à haut débit telles que le séquençage du génome entier ont révolutionné la recherche biologique. Cet apport technologique a permis d'augmenter remarquablement la quantité de données biologiques disponibles. En effet, l'acquisition de données devient moins coûteuse, et la quantité croissante de données omiques fournit des vues générales sans précédent sur les organismes vivants et les systèmes biologiques. D'autre part, l'apprentissage par machine statistique est un domaine en plein essor, à l'intersection des mathématiques, de l'informatique et des statistiques. Depuis déjà quelques décennies, l'apprentissage automatique a été appliqué à un certain nombre de défis biologiques: la modélisation prédictive (classification), la modélisation descriptive (clustering) et la réduction de la dimensionnalité. Par exemple, Edoardo et al. dans [18] utilisent des méthodes d'apprentissage automatique sur des profils quantitatifs de microbiome (abdondances relatives) pour prédire des maladies spécifiques.

En outre, l'apprentissage automatique fournit des machines dédiées au traitement des données biologiques. Cet apport matériel permet de répondre aux problématiques classiques du traitement de ces nouvelles données biologiques. Un exemple de ces problématiques pourrait être :comment traiter des tâches où le nombre d'instances est trop petit par rapport au nombre de dimensions, ou encore comment gérer les données structurées (arbres, graphes, hyper graphes).

Ainsi, aujourd'hui, le défi consiste donc à traiter, analyser et interpréter cette grande quantité de données disponibles afin d'en obtenir des connaissances biologiques fondamentales et pratiques.

Les maladies cardiométaboliques (CMD) sont des troubles métaboliques progressifs conduisant à des stades chroniques de maladies cardiovasculaires et d'insuffisance cardiaque. Pendant longtemps, la diversité génétique du microbiome a été ignorée et le même traitement a été appliqué à tous les patients ayant un diagnostic similaire. Cependant, il n'était pas clair comment les patients individuels réagissent à ce traitement. Donc, Les progrès dans le traitement des données provenant de grandes études épidémiologiques et génomiques devrait contribuer à la résolution des épidémies cardiométaboliques mondiales. L'identification des patients réagissant aux thérapies est cruciale pour fournir le traitement le plus approprié et éviter les médicaments inutiles. L'apprentissage automatique possède des outils puissants pour intégrer une grande quantité de données provenant de sources hétérogènes, concevoir de nouveaux modèles, tester de multiples hypothèses et des produits thérapeutiques.

La première contribution de cette thèse correspond au développement de méthodes d'intégration de données (phénotypes biocliniques et données environnementales) avec des omiques personnalisées (métagénomique, métabolomique, transcriptomique) dans le but de développer de nouvelles stratégies pour la médecine personnalisée.

La métagénomique est un domaine de recherche qui étudie de nombreux génomes provenant de divers microorganismes prélevés dans un environnement. Dans une étude de métagénomique, les données sont obtenues à partir d'un environnement, par exemple, un gramme de sol ou une partie d'un organisme vivant (par exemple, l'intestin humain). La recherche de réponses sur l'origine et la composition des données permet de déterminer l'identité, l'abondance et la fonctionnalité des gènes présents dans ces organismes [78]. Un échantillon métagénomique est traditionnellement décrit par sa composition taxonomique microbienne. Cette composition est souvent décrite à l'aide de l'abondance relative des taxons microbiens de l'une des sept catégories taxonomiques majeures: domaine, royaume, classe, ordre, famille, genre et espèce. Déterminer l'abondance relative d'une bactérie et l'aligner aux maladies de l'hôte nous permet d'avoir une idée d'un diagnostic à un stade précoce. Ce type d'études peut également fournir une compréhension plus profonde du mécanisme de la maladie [83]. Cependant, l'association de microbes individuels à un type particulier de maladie a révélé des résultats incohérents [83] en raison de problèmes différents tels que la complexité des maladies et la quantité limitée de données observées. De plus, les données biologiques en général, et la métagénomique en particulier, sont des données complexes, car les données de grande dimension sont très difficiles à interpréter par des êtres humains.

Les méthodes d'apprentissage d'ensemble telles que Random Forest donnent souvent des résultats très raisonnables sur les données métagénomiques [18], mais ces algorithmes fonctionnent toujours comme une "boîte noire". La détection de biomarqueurs de signaux associés à des facteurs de risque pour la santé et la visualisation de résultats pouvant être facilement interprétés par des experts humains sont d'une grande importance dans les domaines biologiques et médical.

Nous avons accès à une importante quantité de données expérimentales biologiques de grande dimension, et formalisons le problème du traitement des données en tant que tâche d'apprentissage supervisé. La seconde et principale contribution de la thèse est l'introduction d'une nouvelle approche visuelle pour la métagénomique basée sur des incorporationsplongements utilisant une variété d'algorithmes différents. Ces méthodes visuelles fournissent non seulement des images 2D révélant des distributions d'unités taxonomiques opérationnelles (OTU), mais nous permettent également de tirer parti des techniques d'apprentissage en profondeur pour produire des résultats exceptionnels par rapport aux données 1D.

Les algorithmes d'apprentissage automatique ont récemment révélé des résultats impressionnants dans divers domaines de la biologie et de la médecine. Les applications de l'apprentissage automatique en bioinformatique comprennent la prédiction des processus biologiques (par exemple, les tâches de prédiction sur la fonction génique [151], les maladies humaines [18], etc.), la prévention des maladies [150], et un traitement personnalisé [152, 52]. Au cours de la dernière décennie, l'apprentissage en profondeur a remporté un succès impressionnant sur divers problèmes tels que la reconnaissance de la parole, la classification des images et le traitement du langage naturel [5, 65, 17]. Parmi les diverses variantes méthodologiques des réseaux d'apprentissage en profondeur, les Réseaux de Neurones Convolutif (CNN) ont été largement étudiés [65], en particulier dans le domaine du traitement de l'image. Il convient de noter que les CNN sont plus performants que les humains dans certaines applications [183]. De plus, parmi une variété de réseaux d'apprentissage en profondeur, les réseaux CNN ont le plus grand impact dans le domaine de l'informatique de la santé [149]. Cependant, en raison du manque de données d'apprentissage dans de nombreuses tâches bioinformatiques où le nombre de fonctionnalités variables est supérieur au nombre d'échantillons, il est difficile de former un CNN sans sur-apprentissage. Pour cette raison, les CNN affichent généralement des performances médiocres dans de nombreuses tâches bioinformatiques. Suite à cela, plusieurs études ont conclu que les approches d'apprentissage en profondeur peuvent ne pas convenir aux applications métagénomiques [78]. Dans cette thèse, nous remettons en question cette conclusion, et nous montrons que l'apprentissage en profondeur est un outil efficace qui donne des résultats très raisonnables sur les données métagénomiques par rapport à l'apprentissage automatique standard. Nous proposons diverses techniques d'apprentissage en profondeur de la visualisation de données qui révèlent des résultats prometteurs sur 25 ensembles de données métagénomiques différents liés à différentes maladies.

# Sélection de caractéristiques pour des données hétérogènes à l'aide de cartes auto-organisationnelles profondes

Après la croissance rapide de la quantité de données métagénomiques et les améliorations récentes dans les unités de traitement par ordinateur, la recherche sur l'apprentissage automatique appliquée à la métagénomique a obtenu de nombreux résultats à lapointe de la technologie. Cependant, cela constitue également un défi pour le traitement de données de grande dimension et de nombreuses et diverses sources. Un cadre d'intégration de diverses sources et de sélection de caractéristiques est nécessaire dans des applications pratiques. L'intégration de données hétérogènes est une tâche potentielle et difficile avec un objectif ambitieux, celui d'augmenter la performance de l'apprentissage supervisé. En effet, diverses sources de données ont tendance à contenir différentes parties de l'information sur le problème étudié. L'apprentissage structuré et l'intégration des données permettent de mieux comprendre les propriétés et le contenu des données biologiques en général et des données "omiques" (métabolomique, métagénomique, lipidomique, etc.) en particulier. La combinaison de pièces complémentaires issues de différentes sources de données est susceptible de fournir plus de connaissances, car des types distincts de données fournissent des vues distinctes de la machinerie moléculaire des cellules. Les structures hiérarchiques et les méthodes d'intégration de données révèlent les dépendances qui existent entre les composants cellulaires et aident à comprendre la structure du réseau biologique. Les modèles graphiques suivent une organisation naturelle et une représentation des données, et constituent une méthode prometteuse de traitement simultané hétérogène des données. Les variables cachées dans un modèle hiérarchique graphique peuvent efficacement agglomérer les informations des instances observées via la réduction de la dimensionnalité, puisque moins de variables latentes sont capables de résumer plusieurs entités. Cependant, l'intégration des variables latentes est une étape cruciale de la modélisation. L'apprentissage multimodal, la fusion de données hétérogènes ou l'intégration de données impliquent la mise en relation d'informations de nature différente. Dans les applications biologiques et médicales, les données provenant d'une source sont déjà de haute dimension. Par conséquent, l'intégration de données augmente encore plus la dimensionnalité d'un problème, et une procédure de sélection de caractéristiques ou de réduction de dimension est absolument nécessaire à la fois pour rendre les calculs traitables et pour obtenir un modèle compact et facilement interprétable. Notre objectif est de développer une approche efficace de sélection de caractéristiques qui concevra un modèle compact. La méthode doit être évolutive, pour fusionner des données hétérogènes, et être capable d'atteindre une meilleure performance généralisante par rapport à un modèle complet et à des méthodes de pointe. Une autre question importante est de savoir si l'introduction de données de nature différente a un effet positif et fournit des connaissances supplémentaires. Un aspect important de la sélection de caractéristiques est de savoir si un modèle est facilement interprétable et s'il est possible de visualiser les résultats afin d'étudier les dépendances dans le modèle.

## La carte auto-organisatrice (SOM) pour sélection de fonctionnalité

La carte auto-organisatrice (SOM) est un réseau artificiel associé au paradigme d'apprentissage non supervisé [69]. Il est célèbre pour sa manière efficace de cartographier à partir d'un espace d'entrée de haute dimension dans un espace plus compact, généralement à un espace de sortie en deux dimensions. La représentation bidimensionnelle est pratique pour une visualisation, puisque la cartographie préserve les relations topologiques entre les éléments de la grille. De plus, l'espace d'entrée continu peut être mappé dans un espace de sortie discret. Le SOM appartient à des méthodes d'apprentissage compétitives, puisque les neurones sont en compétition pour être activés, et, par conséquent, un seul est activé à la fois. Le neurone gagnant est appelé le gagnant. Lorsque le gagnant est fixé, tous les autres neurones doivent se réorganiser. Fait intéressant, la MOS peut être considérée comme une généralisation non linéaire de l'analyse en composantes principales.

#### Cartes profondes auto-organisées non supervisées

Dans un environnement non supervisé, la procédure de sélection des entités est complètement non supervisée et l'algorithme n'effectue que la première étape, une "forward pass". Dans cette "forward pass", nous construisons une structure profonde en couches, où chaque couche est constituée des représentants des clusters du niveau précédent. Une question naturelle qui se pose est de savoir si une telle sélection de fonctionnalités non supervisée peut être bénéfique pour une tâche de prédiction. Bien qu'il soit actuellement impossible de fournir une base théorique pour cela, il y a une intuition pour laquelle une sélection profonde de fonctionnalités non supervisées devrait être performante dans la pratique. Les données réelles sont toujours bruyantes, et une "bonne" réduction de cluster ou de dimensionnalité peut réduire considérablement le bruit. Si les fonctionnalités sont liées à des grappes de «haute qualité», il est plus facile de détecter un signal à partir des données et la performance de la classification généralisée est plus élevée. La sélection de fonction hiérarchique joue ici un rôle de filtre et un filtre à plusieurs couches semble mieux performer qu'un filtre à une couche.

#### Cartes profondes auto-organisées supervisées

La sélection de la fonctionnalité SOM profonde supervisée est basée principalement sur l'idée avant-arrière. Les algorithmes avancés de sélection de caractéristiques gloutonnes sont basés sur la sélection d'une fonctionnalité à chaque étape pour réduire de manière significative une fonction de coût. L'idée est de progresser de façon agressive à chaque itération, et d'obtenir un modèle peu dense. Le problème majeur de cette heuristique est qu'une fois qu'une caractéristique a été ajoutée, elle ne peut pas être supprimée, c'està-dire que la "forward pass" ne peut pas corriger les erreurs faites dans les itérations précédentes. Une solution à ce problème serait une passe en arrière, qui entraînerait un modèle complet, et non pas un modèle clairsemé, et supprimerait les caractéristiques avares ayant le plus petit impact sur une fonction de coût. L'algorithme arrière est à lui seul très coûteux en calcul, puisqu'il commence par un modèle complet [43]. Nous proposons un schéma de sélection d'entités hiérarchique avec SOM. Les fonctionnalités de l'étape arrière sont dessinées au hasard.

L'intégration de données est un défi, en particulier dans les applications où les données sont de grande dimension, par exemple, la métagénomique et les espèces métagénomiques, où le nombre d'observations (patients) est faible. Nous avons proposé de réduire la dimensionnalité par une approche profonde basée sur SOM, et qui apprend de nouvelles couches de données compactes, de manière hiérarchique. Nous avons considéré des outils de sélection de fonctionnalités supervisés et non supervisés, ainsi que nous avons considéré un réel défi d'intégration de données. Nous montrons que l'approche SOM profonde considérée est efficace sur un ensemble de données médicales complexes, et il est avantageux de la combiner avec les approches lasso et élastique. La sélection de fonctionnalités non supervisées diminue la charge de calcul des méthodes standard et conduit également à des performances de pointe. Bien que la discussion biomédicale détaillée sur le regroupement des caractéristiques et la qualité des signatures obtenues soit hors de portée de cet article, et qu'elle soit faite par des biologistes effectuant des recherches pré-cliniques, nous nous attendons à ce que notre cadre puisse aider à mieux stratifier les patients, et développer des méthodes de médecine personnalisée.

# Approches de visualisation pour la métagénomique

La visualisation des données métagénomiques est toujours un problème difficile en biologie computationnelle en raison de sa très grande dimension, ainsi que des interactions complexes entre les microbes. En outre, les données métagénomiques montrent également des corrélations compliquées avec des facteurs environnementaux confondants [165] (par exemple, le carbone organique total, l'azote total et le pH [166]). Comme l'illustrent de nombreuses études, la visualisation de données est considérée comme une technique indispensable pour l'analyse exploratoire des données et devient une clé pour les découvertes [153]. Une bonne visualisation devrait discriminer des groupes spécifiques pour extraire les caractéristiques de ces groupes. De plus, une méthode de visualisation idéale nous permet d'analyser efficacement de telles données à grande échelle.

Dans [153], les auteurs ont déclaré que la visualisation en métagénomique est devenue un domaine attrayant avec de nombreuses publications introduisant de nombreuses approches nouvelles chaque année, et présentant de nouvelles techniques basées sur la visualisation pour générer et vérifier de nouvelles hypothèses biologiques. Ils ont présenté un aperçu des approches existantes pour visualiser les données métagénomiques. En outre, l'étude a également souligné que la visualisation la plus connue des données de composition est un graphique à secteurs qui a la forme d'un graphique circulaire séparé en morceaux. Chacune de ces pièces représente un groupe de données correspondantes en pourcentage. Le camembert est disponible, implémenté populairement à une variété de logiciels et de plates-formes tels que Python, R [154], Excel, et ainsi de suite. Krona [155] est l'un de ces outils populaires couramment utilisés dans la communauté de la recherche. Le logiciel présente un métagénome sous la forme d'anneaux concentriques imbriqués formant un cercle ensemble. Chaque anneau correspond à un rang taxonomique. Cette visualisation révèle une vue à plusieurs niveaux des structures des données métagénomiqus. MG-RAST [157] est un serveur en ligne qui permet l'analyse et la visualisation de données métagénomiques. , représente la métagénomique dans la hiérarchie indépendamment de l'ampleur. MEGAN est un logiciel qui nous permet d'analyser et d'explorer le contenu taxonomique de grandes données métagénomiques. Une comparaison entre 3 méthodes communes est présentée dans [155].

Un grand nombre d'outils fournis incluent Amphora Vizu [160], le paquet de metricsgraphics [162] et gplots dans R [161]. Phinch [163] est aussi un logiciel utile pour montrer la composition taxonomique des communautés microbiennes.

Une méthode standard pour représenter la structure de la communauté déduite d'un ensemle de données métagénomique est la table d'abondance [153]. Cette table contient des lignes représentant les échantillons et des colonnes correspondant aux espèces microbiennes (ou fonction de gènes).

Dans ce tableau, chaque cellule contient la valeur de l'abondance relative des taxons correspondants dans l'échantillon. Une table de cartes de chaleur ("heatmap") est une version étendue de la table d'abondance. Chaque cellule de cette table est remplie d'une couleur. L'abondance différente entre 2 cellules est identifiée par des couleurs distinctes. Le paquet R d3heatmap [164] fournit une variété d'options pour construire un grand nombre de types de heatmaps. De plus, Anvi'o est également capable de représenter une carte thermique des positions des nucléotides. Le tableau des cartes thermiques est une idée clé que nous utilisons pour l'approche de remplissage.

Trouver la structure globale de la communauté microbienne en utilisant des données métagénomiques est vraiment un défi important. En plus des diagrammes et des tableaux, les chercheurs ont aussi récemment tenté des algorithmes de réduction de dimension comme Isomap, Principe Component Analysis (PCA), t-SNE dans de nombreuses études métagénomiques [170, 167, 168, 169, 170]. Chaque échantillon caractérisé par des centaines de caractéristiques (abondance relative des espèces individuelles ou genre) est appliqué à la réduction de la dimension et présenté sous la forme d'un point (ou point, pixel) sur le nuage de points de deux (2D) ou trois (3D).

Notre approche comprend les étapes suivantes: Tout d'abord, un ensemble de couleurs est choisi et appliqué à différentes approches de binning. Le binning peut être effectué sur une échelle logarithmique ou une transformation. Ensuite, les caractéristiques sont visualisées en images par l'une des deux approches différentes, à savoir *Fill-up* (en utilisant un tri phylogénétique ou un ordre aléatoire) ou visualisées sur la base de méthodes d'apprentissage variées telles que le stochastique t Intégration de voisin (t-SNE) [3]. La technique t-SNE est utile pour trouver des représentations fidèles pour des points de grande dimension visualisés dans un espace plus compact. Pour le remplissage phylogénétique, les caractéristiques qui sont des espèces bactériennes sont classées en fonction de leur annotation taxonomique ordonnée alphabétiquement en concaténant les chaînes de leur taxonomie (c'est-à-dire phylum, classe, ordre, famille, genre et espèce). Cet ordonnancement des variables intègre dans l'image des connaissances biologiques externes, ce qui reflète la relation évolutive entre ces espèces. Toutes les expériences de la section III.4, nous utilisons Fill-up avec tri phylogénétique.

Chaque méthode de visualisation est utilisée pour représenter les données d'abondance ou de présence. La dernière représentation, qui sert de contrôle, est la 1D des données brutes (avec les espèces également triées phylogénétiquement). Pour la représentation basée sur des approches d'apprentissage multiples, nous utilisons uniquement des ensembles d'apprentissage pour générer des cartes globales, des images de formation et un ensemble de tests sont créés à partir de ces cartes globales.

#### "Bins" d'abondance pour les images synthétiques métagénomiques

Afin de discrétiser les abondances en tant que couleurs dans les images, nous utilisons différentes méthodes de binning. Chaque corbeille est illustrée par une couleur distincte extraite de la bande de couleurs des cartes de couleurs de la carte thermique dans la bibliothèque Python, comme *jet*, *viridis* et ainsi de suite. Dans [38], les auteurs ont déclaré que *viridis* a montré une bonne performance en termes de temps et d'erreur. La méthode de binning que nous avons utilisée dans le projet est Binning non supervisé qui n'utilise pas les informations de la classe cible. Dans cette partie, nous utilisons **EQual Width binning** (EQW) avec allant [**Min, Max**]. Nous testons avec k = 10 bins (pour les images distinctes en couleur, et les images grises), la largeur des intervalles est w = 0.1, si Min = 0 et Max = 1, par exemple.

#### Binning basé sur la distribution de l'abondance

Typiquement, les données métagénomiques sont très clairsemées, donc sa distribution ressemble à une distribution Zéro-Gonflée, tandis que la distribution log-transformée des données est calculée par Logarithme (base 4) qui est plus normalement distribuée. Dans l'échelle logarithmique, la largeur de chaque saut est de 1 équivalent à une augmentation de 4 fois de la précédente. D'après nos observations, nous proposons une hypothèse selon laquelle les modèles fonctionneront mieux avec de telles cassures possédant des valeurs de cassures de  $0, 10^{-7}, 4 \times 10^{-7}, 1.6 \times 10^{-6}, ..., 0.0065536, 1$ . La première pause est de 0 à  $10^{-7}$  qui est la valeur minimale de l'abondance des espèces connue dans 6 jeux de données du groupe A, chacune multiplie quatre fois la précédente. Nous avons appelé ce binning "SPecies Bins" **SPB** dans nos expériences.

#### Binning basé sur la transformation de quantile (QTF)

Nous proposons une autre approche pour classer les données, basée sur un facteur d'échelle qui est appris dans l'ensemble d'apprentissage, puis appliqué à l'ensemble de test. Avec différentes distributions de données, la normalisation est une technique couramment utilisée pour de nombreux algorithmes ML. Quantile TransFormation (QTF), une transformation non-linéaire, est considérée comme une technique de pré-traitement forte en raison de la réduction de l'effet aberrant. Les valeurs dans les données nouvelles/invisibles (par exemple, ensemble de test/validation) qui sont inférieures ou supérieures à la plage ajustée seront définies aux limites de la distribution de sortie. Dans les expériences, nous utilisons cette transformation pour adapter le signal des caractéristiques à une distribution uniforme.

## **Binary Bins**

Outre les deux méthodes précédentes décrites ci-dessus, nous utilisons également les cases binaires pour indiquer PResence/absence (PR), correspondant respectivement aux valeurs noir / blanc (BW) dans les images suivantes. Notez que cette méthode est équivalente à l'encodage à un seul niveau.

# Génération d'images métagénomiques artificielles

## Fill-up

Les images sont créées en plaçant les valeurs d'abondance / présence dans une matrice dans un ordre de droite à gauche par rangée de haut en bas. L'image est carrée et la partie inférieure gauche de l'image est vide (blanc). L'ordre est d'organiser les espèces peuvent être soit phylogénétique ou aléatoire. A titre d'exemple pour un ensemble de données contenant 542 caractéristiques (espèces bactériennes) dans l'ensemble de données sur la cirrhose, nous avons besoin d'une matrice de  $24 \times 24$  pour remplir 542 valeurs d'espèces dans ce carré. La première rangée de pixels est disposée de la première espèce à la 24ème espèce, la deuxième rangée comprend de la 25ème à la 48ème et ainsi de suite jusqu'à la fin. Nous utilisons des couleurs distinctes dans l'échelle de binning avec SPB, QTF et PR pour illustrer les valeurs d'abondance des espèces et du noir et blanc pour la présence / absence, où le blanc représente des valeurs absentes.

## Visualisation basée sur des algorithmes de réduction de dimensionnalité

Outre le remplissage, nous utilisons également des algorithmes de réduction de la dimensionnalité pour visualiser les fonctionnalités. La visualisation des données est un bon moyen de voir les structures des données de sorte que la forme visualisée des données améliore probablement l'apprentissage pour obtenir une meilleure performance. Les ensembles de données de grande dimension tels que la métagénomique rencontrent généralement des difficultés à interpréter, alors que nous sommes en mesure de tracer facilement des données en deux ou trois dimensions. Une idée clé de cette approche est que nous pouvons trouver les structures de données de grande dimension façonnées en images 2D où des techniques d'apprentissage en profondeur pour les images peuvent être appliquées pour améliorer les prédictions plus précises. Outre la réduction de dimensionnalité non supervisée comme ci-dessus, nous appliquons également une version supervisée avec l'algorithme LDA (Linear Discriminant Analysis), qui permet d'ajuster la densité gaussienne à chaque classe et de supposer que toutes les classes révèlent la même matrice de covariance. Chaque groupe peut être un niveau relatif supérieur d'un groupe d'organismes dans une hiérarchie taxonomique telle que le genre, la famille, l'ordre et ainsi de suite. Afin d'appliquer des méthodes de réduction de dimensionnalité pour visualiser des données de grande dimension, les caractéristiques de tous les échantillons en formation à partir de données brutes sont visualisées à l'aide d'algorithmes de réduction de dimensionnalité tels que PCA, NMF, Random Projection, t-SNE, MDS, Isomap, LLE,

LDA et Spectral Embedding (SE) dans une carte globale. La carte est ensuite utilisée pour générer des images pour les ensembles d'entraînement et de test. Chaque espèce est considérée comme un point sur la carte et seules les espèces présentes sont représentées en abondance ou en présence en utilisant les mêmes schémas de couleurs que ci-dessus.

Comme les résultats le montrent, Fill-up surpasse les approches basées sur la réduction de la dimensionnalité car tous les points utilisant Fill-up sont visibles tandis que les autres techniques subissent le problème de chevauchement des points. Deuxièmement, l'approche Fill-up intègre les connaissances antérieures sur la classification phylogénétique des caractéristiques. De plus, les images basées sur l'apprentissage des variétés sont plus complexes que les images de remplissage. Cependant, les résultats encourageants des méthodes basées sur la réduction de la dimensionnalité du T2D et OBE qui sont supérieurs au Fill-up montrent une puissance potentielle de ces approches.

Nous avons également présenté cinq méthodes de binning qui sont menées à partir de trois approches: la distribution de l'abondance, la transformation et le "one-hot encoding". L'approche des "bins" et des images est construite et produite à l'aide de données d'apprentissage seulement, évitant ainsi des problèmes trop complexes. Pour les méthodes basées sur la distribution de l'abondance, nous comparons deux méthodes, y compris l'utilisation de l'abondance originale (EQW) et l'utilisation du logarithme (SPB). Les algorithmes de transformation sont également étudiés avec des approches linéaires (MMS) et non-linéaires (QTF). Comme démontré dans les résultats, QTF et SPB sont des méthodes de binning prometteuses pour les données métagénomiques.

Une gamme variée de cartes de couleurs est étudiée avec des performances prometteuses. *Jet, rainbow, viridis* sont de bons choix, mais CNN sous-exécute souvent FC pour les images couleur, tandis que *grays* donne généralement de meilleures performances dans CNN.

# Apprentissage profond pour la métagénomique

L'acquisition de données à haut débit dans le domaine biomédical a révolutionné la recherche et les applications en médecine et en biotechnologie. Aussi connues sous le nom de données "omiques", elles reflètent différents aspects de la biologie des systèmes (génomique, transcriptomique, métabolomique, protéomique, etc.) mais aussi des écosystèmes biologiques entiers acquis par la métagénomique. Il y a un nombre croissant d'ensembles de données qui sont accessibles au public. Différentes méthodes statistiques ont été appliquées pour classer les patients de contrôles [57] et certains ont également effectué des méta-analyses sur plusieurs ensembles de données [18]. Cependant, l'exploration des données omiques est difficile, car le nombre de caractéristiques d est très important et le nombre d'observations N est faible. Jusqu'à présent, les techniques les plus efficaces appliquées aux ensembles de données omiques ont été principalement la forêt aléatoire (RF) et la régression clairsemée.

Nous avons évalué toutes les représentations proposées sur six jeux de données métagénomiques dans le groupe A, qui reflètent l'abondance des espèces bactériennes et la présence dans l'intestin des patients malades et des témoins sains. Ensuite, nous appliquons notre méthode à d'autres ensembles de données sur le cancer colorectal (groupe B), des ensembles de données supplémentaires avec l'abondance de *genre* (groupe C) et des ensembles de données sur l'abondance des familles de gènes (groupe D). Puisque DL fonctionne particulièrement bien pour la classification d'images, nous nous sommes concentrés dans ce travail sur l'utilisation des CNN appliqués aux images.

#### Les benchmarks de données métagenomiques

Nous avons évalué notre méthode sur 25 ensembles de données différents divisés en **quatre** groupes (A, B, C, D et E).

Le groupe A correspond à des ensembles de données comprenant des espèces bactériennes liées à diverses maladies, notamment: cirrhose du foie (CIR), cancer colorectal (COL), obésité (OBE), maladie intestinale inflammatoire (IBD) et diabète de type 2 (T2D) [18, 19, 20, 36, 2, 10, 32, 141, 142], avec CIR (n = 232 échantillons avec 118 patients), COL (n = 48 patients et n = 73 individus en bonne santé), OBE (n = 89 non obèses et n = 164 obèses), IBD (n = 110 échantillons dont 25 étaient atteints de la maladie) et T2D (n = 344 individus dont n = 170 sont des patients T2D). En outre, un ensemble de données, à savoir WT2, qui comprend 96 femmes européennes avec n = 53 patients DT2 et n = 43 individus en bonne santé est également considéré. Les ensembles de données d'abondance sont transformés pour obtenir une autre représentation basée sur la présence de caractéristiques lorsque l'abondance est supérieure à zéro (0). Ces données ont été obtenues en utilisant les paramètres par défaut de MetaPhlAn2 [30] comme détaillé dans Pasolli et al. [18].

Le groupe B contient 526 échantillons métagénomiques de la maladie du cancer colorectal (COL) provenant de cohortes chinoise, autrichienne, américaine, allemande et française, respectivement C1, C2, C3, C4. Ces cohortes ont été analysées dans l'article cité [37]. Un ensemble de données supplémentaire (C5) a été créé en fusionnant C1, C2, C3 et C4. Ces ensembles de données comprennent des séquences de séquençage métagénomique (utilisant la plateforme de séquençage Illumina Hiseq 2000/2500271 avec des profondeurs de séquençage similaires (longueur de lecture 100 pb et profondeur de séquençage cible 5 Go)) avec 271 contrôles et 255 cas de COL. Les séquences de faible qualité ont été éliminées en utilisant Trimmomatic v \_0.36.

Le groupe C comprend les données de laboratoire de Sokol [8] consistant en des informations sur le microbiome de 38 sujets sains (HS) et de 222 patients atteints de MICI. L'abondance comprend 306 UTO avec une abondance de genre. Les patients dans ces données sont classés en deux catégories selon le phénotype de la maladie colite ulcéreuse (UC) et la maladie de Crohn (CD). Chaque catégorie est divisée en deux conditions (flare (f), si les symptômes des patients s'aggravent ou réapparaissent et la condition remission(r), si les symptômes des patients diminuent ou disparaissent). L'ensemble de données a été divisé en sous-ensemble avec la maladie de Crohn iliaque (iCD) et la maladie de Crohn du côlon (cCD). La description détaillée des données a été présentée dans [11].

Le groupe D a les mêmes échantillons de CIR [10], COL [32], IBD [141], OBE [19], T2D [142], WT2D [2] que le groupe A, mais les données incluent l'abondance des familles de gènes générées par le réseau d'analyses métaboliques unifiées HMP (HUMAnN2) [140] avec une très grande dimension allant jusqu'à plus d'un million de caractéristiques. Les données sont téléchargées depuis le paquet *curatedMetagenomicData* dans R.

Pour chaque échantillon, l'abondance des espèces / genres / gènes est une proportion relative et est représentée par un nombre réel - l'abondance totale de toutes les espèces / genres / sommes de gènes à 1.

Nous examinons également notre approche sur deux ensembles de données (groupe E) en analyse autonome (Crohn et HIV) [194] avec le nombre de comptages de taxa microbiens au niveau du genre. Le HIV contient 155 échantillons, tandis que Crohn comprend 662 patients atteints de la maladie de Crohn et 313 témoins. L'ensemble de données sur le HIV comprend 62 éléments, le dernier indiquant un facteur de risque du HIV, MSM: "Hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec des hommes". Nous utilisons un codage à chaud avec 1 si MSM est vrai et 0 si MSM est faux.

# Architectures de réseau neuronal convolutif et modèles utilisés dans les expériences

#### Cas unidimensionnel

Afin de prédire la maladie en utilisant les données 1D, nous utilisons un réseau neuronal (FC) entièrement connecté et un réseau neuronal convolutif 1D (CNN1D). Le modèle FC comprend une couche entièrement connectée et donne une sortie. C'est un modèle très simple mais la performance est relativement élevée. La structure de ce réseau contient une couche entièrement connectée avec une fonction sigmoïde. CNN1D inclut une couche convolutionnelle 1D avec 64 filtres et un pool maximum de 2. Nous adaptons les données aux algorithmes d'apprentissage classiques tels que RF [118] (avec 50 arbres) et SVM [119] (noyaux de Sigmoid, Radial , Linear) pour les données 1D.

#### Cas bidimensionnel

Les images dans Fill-up varient de  $16 \times 16$  à  $24 \times 24$  (pour les ensembles de données dans le groupe A) en fonction du nombre de fonctionnalités tandis que, dans t-SNE, nous utilisons des images  $24 \times 24$  pour tous les datasets.

L'architecture est conduite à partir des résultats étudiés sur une variété d'architectures de CNN appliquées aux représentations basées sur Fill-up, à l'aide de SPB, d'images grises. Nous comparons également les réseaux convolutifs de type VGG (convnet) proposés dans Keras (une API de réseaux neuronaux de haut niveau, écrite en Python [109]) document https://keras.io/getting-started/sequential-model-guide/ avec une petite modification comme base. Les résultats montrent que les performances augmentent en fonction de la largeur des CNN. Cependant, la performance diminue lorsque nous ajoutons plus de couches en raison d'un sur-ajustement. CNN avec une couche convolutionnelle et un grand nombre de filtres surpassent FC pour CIR, COL, IBD tandis que WT2, OBE semblent rencontrer remplissages avec CNN. Dans la plupart des cas, les architectures de CNN avec une couche convolutive obtiennent de meilleures performances que les architectures à deux convolutions et à VGG. Cependant, pour WT2, les architectures à deux couches semblent apporter une légère amélioration. Pour les CNN peu profonds, l'abandon dans FC semble ne pas améliorer la performance mais il fonctionne sur des réseaux profonds tels que VGG. VGG avec un taux de décrochage de 0,2 révèle la meilleure performance parmi les variations de VGG dans nos expériences. Dans certains cas, la combinaison entre l'abandon dans les couches Convolutional et les couches FC améliore les performances par rapport à l'application aux seules couches FC (dans CNN-l132, CNN-l2f16). Pour CIR, CNN avec une couche convolutionnelle surclassent FC. CIR et IBD atteignent le pic à CNN-l1f64 tandis que OBE et T2D effectuent le meilleur à CNN1f16 et CNN1l20. D'un autre côté, WT2 est confronté à un problème de sur-adaptation sans meilleurs résultats dans les CNN par rapport à FC. L'utilisation de l'abandon n'est apparemment pas efficace.

Comme les résultats le montrent, une architecture simple telle qu'une couche à convolution unique présente de meilleures performances que des architectures plus complexes et plus profondes telles que VGG.

Lorsque les résultats sont exposés, l'approche Fill-up surpasse les méthodes de visualisation basées sur l'apprentissage de la réduction de la dimensionnalité. Cela peut être dû à plusieurs facteurs. Tout d'abord, les entités du remplissage sont toutes visibles alors que les fonctions des autres méthodes se chevauchent souvent. Deuxièmement, l'approche Fill-up intègre les connaissances antérieures sur la classification phylogénétique des caractéristiques. De plus, les images basées sur l'apprentissage des variétés sont plus complexes que les images de remplissage. Il est à noter qu'avec le Fill-up, nous montrons des améliorations significatives de quatre ensembles de données, tandis que le t-SNE révèle une amélioration significative sur un ensemble de données, le T2D. Le modèle FC surpasse le modèle CNN en images couleur tandis que le modèle CNN obtient de meilleures performances que le FC pour les images en gris et en noir et blanc. En outre, les représentations basées sur des images 2D donnent de meilleurs résultats par rapport aux données 1D. En général, la méthode Met2Img proposée surpasse l'état de l'art à la fois sur les espèces et les données sur l'abondance du genre.

Notre approche est également évaluée sur un vaste ensemble de données différentes, y compris l'abondance des espèces, l'abondance du genre et l'abondance des familles de gènes. Ces ensembles de données sont caractérisés par différentes dimensions allant de mille à des millions de fonctionnalités. Les résultats montrent que l'augmentation du nombre d'attributs considérés est également susceptible d'améliorer la performance par rapport aux méthodes classiques d'apprentissage automatique.

Le temps de calcul des GPU pour les CNN est considérablement amélioré par rapport au CPU, mais il n'y a pas de différence considérable dans le modèle FC. Cela indique que le GPU ne semble fonctionner efficacement qu'avec des modèles complexes.

Actuellement, nous étudions différentes architectures d'apprentissage en profondeur, et explorons également l'intégration d'autres données omiques hétérogènes.

# **Principales contributions**

La contribution principale de cette thèse est un framework appelé **Met2Img** qui fournit une nouvelle approche pour la visualisation des données métagénomiques, et l'architecture correspondante des CNN appliqués aux visualisations (Chapter ref chap: deeplearning). Nous avons également présenté un cadre de sélection de caractéristiques pour intégrer des sources hétérogènes de grande dimension basées sur les capacités de visualisation puissantes des cartes auto-organisatrices (SOM) et des machines vectorielles de support (SVM).

Nous avons proposé un cadre pour réduire la dimensionnalité par une approche profonde basée sur la SOM associée à un SVM. La structure profonde vise à visualiser les clusters en 2D sur la base de la capacité robuste de SOM. La méthode permet d'obtenir des résultats raisonnables par rapport à la performance de l'état de l'art. Le cadre devrait aider à mieux stratifier les patients et à développer des approches de la médecine personnalisée.

Nous avons également présenté un cadre Met2Img qui aide à visualiser les caractéristiques en tant qu'images synthétiques et qui permet les puissantes capacités d'apprentissage en profondeur dans la classification des images. Nous avons exploré une variété de méthodes de visualisation, y compris les approches basées sur le remplissage et l'apprentissage multiple, en utilisant divers types de classes pour réduire les effets des erreurs d'observation mineures afin d'éliminer le bruit dans les données.

Comme résultats sur les ensembles de données du groupe A comprenant 6 ensembles de données d'abondance d'espèces liées à cinq maladies avec le nombre de caractéristiques allant de 381 à 572, Fill-up réalise des améliorations significatives sur 4 ensembles de données sur 6 tels que CIR, IBD, OBE, WT2 basé sur des méthodes d'apprentissage de réduction de la dimensionnalité telles que t-SNE, et NMF surpasser sur l'ensemble de données T2D par rapport à l'état de l'art [18]. Bien que nous n'obtenions pas de résultats significatifs sur les données COL du groupe A par rapport aux RF, les performances sur les jeux de données sur le cancer colorectal dans le groupe B sont améliorées avec 4 ensembles de données sur 5 obtenant des résultats significatifs comparés aux RF. des OTU considérées est proche de 2000). Remarquables, les "bins" SBP montrent des améliorations significatives des modèles FC et CNN par rapport à l'état de l'art qui n'utilisait que sept espèces enrichies trouvées dans [37]. Si l'on compare avec un autre Ph-CNN de pointe, sur l'abondance au niveau du genre (avec un plus petit nombre de caractéristiques allant de 237 à 257 caractéristiques), notre cadre obtient également des résultats encourageants avec des résultats significatifs. De plus, le framework fonctionne bien sur un ensemble de validation externe. En comparant les résultats de l'abondance des familles de gènes (groupe D) avec le nombre de caractéristiques allant jusqu'à plus d'un million, nous obtenons également des performances supérieures à celles des RF, même si seules de très petites images sont réalisées dans cette analyse. Les résultats sur l'abondance des familles de gènes montrent également des améliorations considérables pour le modèle FC en termes de temps d'exécution et de précision. Les modèles d'information de commande phylogénétique intégrée de Fill-up surpassent le tri aléatoire sur les ensembles de données COL, IBD. Cela montre que les informations phylogénétiques intégrées dans les images peuvent améliorer les performances. En outre, le tri des espèces qui ont une relation sur l'ordre phylogénétique côte à côte peut être une information utile pour la prédiction.

Nous avons proposé trois types de classes efficaces, à savoir **SBP**, **QTF** et **PR**. SBP est plus efficace que les autres pour l'abondance des espèces dans la plupart des situations, mais QTF aide à améliorer remarquablement la performance de l'Isomap et présente des résultats substantiels pour l'abondance du genre. Pour les classes QTF, pour chaque pli, les données sont transformées en une distribution uniforme, puis les images sont créées en fonction des données transformées. Par conséquent, QTF a tendance à consommer plus de temps dans l'exécution par rapport à SPB où l'ensemble des images créées une fois au début. Bien que le PR se révèle être le pire, sa performance atteint aussi l'art de l'art. Remarquablement, PR surperforme SPB lorsque nous employons des images très fortement compressées pour l'abondance des familles de gènes.

Une variété de dix cartes de couleurs quantitatives est explorée et évaluée dans cette thèse. Pour les données en forme de distribution uniforme, viridis fonctionne bien dans le terme de précision tandis que le jet, arc-en-ciel semble approprié pour des distributions en forme de cloche. En outre, l'échelle de gris est un choix approprié, il est à noter que les images grises présentent des résultats substantiels à la fois FC et CNN. *Grays* donne aussi souvent de meilleures performances dans CNN comparé à FC. Cependant, *grays* a besoin de plus d'époques pour converger contrairement aux images couleur.

# **Explorations futures**

Nos études préliminaires sur la visualisation des données sur le microbiome pourraient mener à plusieurs directions pour les travaux futurs. Le cadre proposé explore l'utilisation potentielle des données métagénomiques. Cependant, bien que le Met2Img ne soit étudié que pour la métagénomique, la méthode peut être appliquée directement à toute autre donnée " omics ", afin d'effectuer une analyse basée sur la fonction plus avancée.

La quantité croissante de données provenant de sources multiples entraîne davantage d'exigences pour l'intégration de données hétérogènes. La prédiction de diverses maladies peut être plus précise si les classificateurs combinent ces données hétérogènes plus efficacement. Une combinaison de données métagénomiques et d'autres données telles que les facteurs diététiques, environnementaux, etc. permet une meilleure précision diagnostique. De plus, l'apprentissage en profondeur en général, et les réseaux de neurones convolutionnels en particulier, est un domaine de recherche actif où des résultats de performance excitants sont régulièrement rapportés. De plus en plus d'architectures de CNN sont proposées pour améliorer les performances et performer mieux que les humains dans de nombreuses applications. Si la performance des méthodes d'apprentissage en profondeur appliquées au traitement de l'image va encore s'améliorer, les idées pour présenter les données comme des images pour une analyse efficace ont un bon terrain pour devenir réalité.

De nos jours, la vitesse de traitement des données métagénomiques (abondance des familles de gènes) est plutôt lente, et les progrès récents dans les algorithmes distribués et les calculs parallèles sont grandement nécessaires pour réduire le temps d'exécution. Actuellement, la génération d'images synthétiques prend beaucoup de temps et de mémoire pour les données de grande dimension telles que les matrices d'abondance de gènes, en particulier pour le QTF. Dans [37], les auteurs ont calculé l'importance des changements d'abondance bactérienne disponibles dans les ensembles de données sur le cancer colorectal pour extraire sept marqueurs bactériens pour le diagnostic du cancer colorectal à un stade précoce. Cette méthode d'extraction de caractéristiques qui identifie sept espèces bactériennes révélant une abondance différentielle dans le CRC par rapport aux témoins dans l'ensemble des quatre cohortes, est un grand potentiel pour réduire la dimensionnalité des données d'abondance des familles de gènes conduisant à des images de plus petite résolution. la procédure de formation sera beaucoup moins complexe. De tels résultats nous incitent à approfondir la visualisation des fonctionnalités significatives dans les environnements où le nombre de fonctionnalités est extrêmement élevé. Cependant, ces méthodes peuvent demander beaucoup plus de temps pour le calcul de la signification statistique des UTO. Par conséquent, il est nécessaire de trouver un compromis entre le temps d'inférence et la précision.

Les CNN avec des architectures assez profondes font toujours face à un sur-ajustement

alors que l'augmentation de la largeur de l'architecture peut améliorer les performances. Dans cette thèse, nous avons seulement considéré les petites images allant de  $16 \times 16$  à  $48 \times 48$ , donc les exigences sur les CNN ne sont pas très complexes. Cependant, des données plus importantes telles que l'abondance des gènes avec le nombre de caractéristiques allant jusqu'à des millions, des architectures plus profondes devraient être étudiées avec précision. L'optimisation des hyper-paramètres pour les réseaux CNN constitue également une limitation et consomme beaucoup de temps. Notre étude n'a pas évalué l'efficacité de l'application du réseau pré-formé dans des images naturelles telles que VGG16, VGG19, ResNet50, etc. Une des raisons est que la plupart des analyses de cette thèse se concentrent sur de petites images. des images telles que  $224 \times 224$ . En outre, il existe certaines limites des ressources de calcul, de sorte que de tels réseaux lourds n'ont pas encore été complètement examinés. Par conséquent, ce problème devrait explorer des stratégies plus avancées pour améliorer encore la performance de la classification.

Le t-SNE est un outil prometteur pour la visualisation. Cependant, il souffre de ne pas être généralisable. Un problème important pour le t-SNE est de savoir comment gérer de nouvelles données. Lorsque nous avons effectué t-SNE sur l'ensemble de formation, nous devons également réexécuter l'algorithme entier sur l'ensemble de données ajouté de nouvelles données. Certaines recherches visant à résoudre ce problème sont apparues mais l'implémentation n'est pas terminée en Python. Un autre problème pour t-SNE est que le t-SNE consomme une énorme quantité de mémoire et de temps d'exécution pour l'abondance des gènes. Cela conduit au fait que d'autres études devraient être étudiées pour améliorer l'algorithme en termes de consommation de mémoire et de temps d'inférence. xxiv

# Chapter I Introduction

## Contents

I.1	Mot	ivation	1
<b>I.2</b>	2 Brief Overview of Results		4
	I.2.1	Chapter II: Heterogeneous Biomedical Signatures Extraction based on Self-Organising Maps	4
	I.2.2	Chapter III: Visualization approaches for metagenomics	4
	I.2.3	Chapter IV: Deep learning for metagenomics using embeddings .	5

# I.1 Motivation

High-throughput technologies such as whole-genome sequencing revolutionized biological research and transformed it from a relatively data-poor discipline into a domain which is rich in data. Today the challenge is to process, analyze, and to interpret the available data, and to derive fundamental and practical biological knowledge. The data acquisition becomes cheaper, and the increasing amount of omics data provides with unprecedented broad views of living organisms and biological systems. Statistical machine learning is a relatively young but actively developing field on the intersection of mathematics, computer science, and statistics. For already a couple of decades machine learning has been applied to a number of biological challenging: predictive modeling (classification), descriptive modeling (clustering), and dimensionality reduction. Besides, machine learning provides machineries for data processing, typical for biological applications: how to deal with tasks where the number of instances is too small but the dimensionality it too high, and how to cope with structured (sequences, trees, graphs, hyper graphs) data.

The Cardiometabolic diseases (CMD) are progressive metabolic disorders leading to chronic stages of cardiovascular diseases and heart insufficiency. For a long time the genetic diversity has been ignored and the same treatment has been applied to all patients with a similar diagnosis. However, it was not clear how individual patients respond to it. Advances in data processing from large epidemiological and genome-wide studies are expected to contribute to the resolution of the worldwide Cardiometabolic epidemics. The identification of responders to therapies is crucial to provide the most appropriate treatment and avoid unnecessary medications. Machine learning possesses powerful frameworks to integrate a vast amount of data from heterogeneous sources, design new models, and test multiple hypotheses and therapeutic products.

After the rapid growth in the amount of the metagenomic data and the recent improvements in computer processor units, the research on machine learning applying to metagenomics has achieved numerous state-of-the-art results. However, this is also a challenge for processing high-dimensional data and from numerous various sources. A framework for integrating a variety of sources and selecting features is needed in practical applications. Heterogeneous data integration is a potential and challenging task with an ambitious goal to increase performance of supervised learning, since various sources of data tend to contain various parts of information about the problem. Structure learning and data integration allow to better understand the properties and content of biological data in general and of "omics" data (metabolomics, metagenomics, lipidomics, etc.) in particular. Combining complementary pieces issued from different data sources is likely to provide more knowledge, since distinct types of data provide distinct views of the molecular machinery of cells. Medical and biological knowledge can be naturally organized into hierarchies: symptoms of diseases are observed and pathological states on all levels of omics data are hidden. Hierarchical structures and data integration methods reveal dependencies that exist between cellular components and help to understand the biological network structure. Graphical models follow a natural organization and representation of data, and are a promising method of simultaneous heterogeneous data processing. Hidden variables in a graphical hierarchical model can efficiently agglomerate information of observed instances via dimensionality reduction, since fewer latent variables are able to summarize multiple features. However, integration of latent variables is a crucial step of modeling. Multi-modal learning, heterogeneous data fusion, or data integration, involves relating information of different nature. In biological and medical applications, data coming from one source are already high-dimensional. Hence, data integration increases the dimensionality of a problem even more, and some feature selection or dimensionality reduction procedure is absolutely needed both to make the computations tractable and to obtain a model which is compact and easily interpretable.

As the first contribution of this thesis, we develop methods of data integration of bioclinical and environmental phenotype together with personalized omics (metagenomics, metabolomics, transcriptomics) with the objective of developing new strategies for personalized medicine.

Metagenomics is a research field that focuses on numerous genomes from various microorganisms collected from an environment. In a metagenomic study, data is obtained from an environment, e.g., a gram of soil or a part from a living organism (for example, human gut). Finding the answers on the origin and composition of the data allows to determine the identity, abundance, and the functionality of the organisms [78, 15]. A metagenomic sample is traditionally described by its microbial taxonomic composition that can be a relative abundance of microbial taxa of one of major seven taxonomic categories including domain, kingdom, phylum, class, order, family, genus, and species. Determining relative abundance of a bacteria, and linking it to host diseases allows us to have an idea of a diagnosis at its early stage. It can also provide a deeper understanding of the disease mechanism [83]. However, association of individual microbes of a particular type of a disease has revealed inconsistent results [83] due to different problems such as the complexity of diseases, and the limited amount of observed data. Furthermore, biological

data in general, and metagenomics in particular, are complex data, since high-dimensional data are very hard to interpret by human beings.

Ensemble learning methods such as Random Forest often yield very reasonable performance on metagenomic data [18], but these algorithms still work as a "black-box". Detecting signal biomarkers associated with health risk factors, and visualization of results which can be easily interpreted by human experts, is of great importance in biological and medial domains. The visualization of metagenomic data is still a challenging issue in computational biology due to its very large dimensionality, as well as complex interactions among microbes. Metagenomic data also shows complicated correlations with confounding environmental factors [165] (for example, total organic carbon, total nitrogen and pH[166]). As illustrated in numerous studies, data visualization is considered as an indispensable technique for the exploratory data analysis and becomes a key for discoveries [153]. A good visualization should discriminate between specific groups to extract characteristics of these groups. Furthermore, an ideal visualization method enables us to analyze such large-scale data efficiently.

We have access to vast amounts of biological high-dimensional experimental data, and we formalize the problem of data processing as a supervised learning task. The second, and the main contribution of the thesis is the introduction of a novel visual approach for metagenomics based on embeddings using a variety of different algorithms. These visualization methods not only produce 2-dimensional images revealing Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) distributions, but also enable us to apply deep learning techniques to reach promising classification results.

Machine learning algorithms have recently revealed impressive results across a variety of biology and medicine domains. The applications of machine learning in bioinformatics include predicting of biological processes (for example, prediction tasks on gene function [151], human diseases [18, 42, 63, 72, 143], prevention of diseases [150, 64], and personalized treatment [152, 52]. In the last decade, deep learning has gained an impressive success on a variety of problems such as speech recognition, image classification, and natural language processing [5, 65, 17]. Among various methodological variants of deep learning networks, the Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN) have been extensively studied [65], especially in the field of image processing. Noteworthy, CNN are able to perform better than humans in some applications [183]. Moreover, among a variety of deep learning networks, CNN have the greatest impact for the field of health informatics [149]. However, due to the lack of training data in many bioinformatics tasks where the number of features is bigger than the number of samples, it is difficult to train a CNN without overfitting. For this reason, CNN usually show poor performance in many bioinformatics tasks. This had led to several studies, see, e.g., [78] where it was reported that "the deep learning approaches may not be suitable for metagenomic applications". In this thesis, we challenge this important question, and we show that deep learning is an efficient tool achieving very reasonable results on metagenomic data compared to standard machine learning methods. We consider various deep learning techniques that reveal promising results on 25 different metagenomic datasets related to different diseases.

# I.2 Brief Overview of Results

The thesis includes three main contributions, and is organized as follows. In Chapter II, we introduce a feature selection framework for heterogeneous data integration. Our contributions in deep learning applied to metagenomics are presented in Chapter III with the visualization approaches. The architectures for the deep learning are discussed in Chapter IV. Concluding remarks and perspectives are provided in Chapter V.

# I.2.1 Chapter II: Heterogeneous Biomedical Signatures Extraction based on Self-Organising Maps

This work aims to find a feature selection framework for heterogeneous high dimensional sources. Feature selection is needed in numerous applications, where information comes from a variety of heterogeneous high-dimensional data sources. Different sources of data include various parts of information on the problem, so integrating heterogeneous data enables probably to improve the performance of supervised learning algorithms.

In this chapter, we propose a framework based on powerful visualization capabilities of self-organizing- maps (SOM) which together with the Support Vector Machines (SVM) allow to visualize biomedical signatures as well as to reach a reasonable predictive performance compared to the-state-of-the-art. The SOM calculate the similarity of patterns to classify the units [184]. They use competitive learning as opposed to error-correction learning of other artificial neural network [185] and apply a neighborhood function to retain the topological properties of input. We investigate a simple deep feature selection framework which constructs layers of a deep structure layer-wise based on SOM (can be learned either in a supervised or unsupervised mode) to figure out clusters in 2D. The framework is evaluated on real data including meta-data, alimentary patterns of patients, gene expressions of adipose tissue, and gene abundance of gut flora. As we show below, the performance based on the features extracted by the feature selection framework is similar to the one with all available features.

This work has led to a publication in the International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN).

• N. Sokolovska, H. T. Nguyen, K. Clément, J.-D. Zucker. *Deep Self-Organizing Maps for Efficient Heterogeneous Biomedical Signatures Extraction*. International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN), 2016, pages 5079-5086, IEEE, Vancouver, Canada.

## 1.2.2 Chapter III: Visualization approaches for metagenomics

Chapter III discusses visualization methods for metagenomic data using Fill-up and supervised and unsupervised dimensionality reduction methods including such algorithms as the t-SNE, LDA, Isomap, and some other methods. The Fill-up method relies on filling a square matrix whose size depends on the number of features with abundance/presence values for each sample. The image is square where the size is a rounded square root of the number of features. For example, we use images of  $24 \times 24$  for the data with 542 features, since the ceiling of the square root of 542 is 24. For the visualizations based on dimensionality reduction algorithms, a global map includes coordinates of features determined

by dimensionality reduction algorithms learned from a training set. It is expected that the features which are similar in the magnitude of abundance will be close. Based on this assumption, we build images for all samples from both training and testing sets.

In addition, we explore a number of discretization or binning methods as well a variety of colormaps to build synthetic images from metagenomic abundance data. As observed from numerical results on six public datasets, we propose *SPecies Bin* (SPB) based on species abundance distribution. Furthermore, we introduce a new binning approach based on *Quantile transformation* which is called QTF. We also deploy PResence/absence (PR) binning which only indicates whether a feature is present or not in a sample.

Furthermore, we investigate ten quantitative colormaps for images. Our results show that *viridis* and *grays* can provide a sufficient discrimination for classification on large scale data.

## 1.2.3 Chapter IV: Deep learning for metagenomics using embeddings

Deep learning methods were reported to be efficient techniques for practical applications [5, 65] such as image classification, text recognition, etc. However, applying deep learning to metagenomics is challenging because of high data complexity, and the small size of observed samples. In this setting, classical machine learning algorithms such as Random Forest (RF) usually show a better result than deep learning [78, 11]. This chapter investigates various architectures of deep learning methods such as Convolutional Neural Networks, and their application to the proposed visualizations (Chapter III). The proposed CNN architecture that is considered in Chapter III and Chapter IV includes one convolutional layer and 64 kernels, followed by a max pooling of  $2\times 2$ . Although this architecture is relatively modest, it outperforms deep architectures such as VGG-like models. Furthermore, we demonstrate encouraging results on 25 real metagenomic benchmarks related to different diseases characterized by various number of features ranging from hundreds to millions features. The proposed method is evaluated on species abundance, genus abundance and gene-families abundance and compared to the-state-ofthe-art of standard machine learning algorithm such as RF, SVM [18, 37] as well CNN on metagenomics such as Ph-CNN [11].

Some our recent results on deep learning for metagenomics have led to two articles at the Workshop on Machine Learning for Health of the Conference and Workshop on Neural Information Processing Systems (NIPS) 2017, and the annual French Conference in Machine Learning, la Conférence sur l'Apprentissage automatique (CAp 2018). In the first paper, we presented preliminary ideas and illustrated them by some results using our own implementation in Torch [1]. The second paper is an advanced version of it, and it shows the results of our package written in Python. The empirical performance shows a significant improvement compared to the-state-of-the-art (MetAML [18] and Ph-CNN [11]).

- T. H. Nguyen, Y. Chevaleyre, E. Prifti, N. Sokolovska, J.-D. Zucker. *Deep Learning for Metagenomic Data: using 2D Embeddings and Convolutional Neural Networks.* NIPS 2017 Workshop on Machine Learning for Healthcare. In Proceedings of the NIPS ML4H 2017 Workshop in Long Beach, CA, USA.
- T. H. Nguyen, E. Prifti, Y. Chevaleyre, N. Sokolovska, J.-D. Zucker. Disease Clas-

sification in Metagenomics with 2D Embeddings and Deep Learning. In Proceedings of Conférence d'Apprentissage (CAP) 2018, Rouen, France.

It is planned to submit the results presented in the following chapters III and IV to the *Scientific Reports*.

# Chapter II

# Feature Selection for heterogeneous data using Deep Self-Organising Maps

#### Contents

II.1 Intr	roduction	7
II.2 Rel	ated work	8
II.3 Dee	ep linear support vector machines	9
II.4 Self	f-Organising Maps for feature selection 1	0
II.4.1	Unsupervised Deep Self-Organising Maps 1	1
II.4.2	Supervised Deep Self-Organising Maps	1
II.5 Exp	periment $\ldots \ldots 12$	<b>2</b>
II.5.1	Signatures of Metabolic Health	2
II.5.2	Dataset description $\ldots \ldots 1$	2
II.5.3	Comparison with State-of-the-art Methods $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1$	7
II.6 Clo	$sing and remarks \ldots 18$	8

**Abstract:** Feature selection is a challenging task, and is needed in numerous practical applications where data are supposed to be integrated from a variety of heterogeneous high dimensional data sources. In this chapter, we present a feature selection framework based on a robust visualization algorithm, Self-Organising Maps (SOM) to learn deep structures in either a supervised or unsupervised way. We propose a supervised version of the deep SOM that is implemented with a linear Support Vector Machine (SVM) and a forward-backward procedure to converge to an optimal feature set. Our numerical experiments show that our method achieves a reasonable performance in accuracy (ACC) compared to the-state-of-the-art approaches on the a large-scale biomedical data set.

# **II.1** Introduction

In this chapter, our goal is to develop an efficient feature selection approach which will design a compact model. The method needs to be scalable, to fusion heterogeneous data, and be able to reach a better generalizing performance compared to a full model and to state-of-the-art methods. Another important question is whether introducing data of different nature have a positive effect, and provides additional knowledge. An important aspect of feature selection is whether a model is easily interpretable, and whether it is possible to visualize the results in order to investigate dependencies in the model.

We propose a framework which is based on SOM [69]. In this contribution, we run the learning procedure with linear support vector machines. The deep linear SVM has been considered and tested in [56] and it was reported that replacing the soft-max function in a deep structure by a linear SVM leads to a better accuracy. The learning procedure minimizes a hinge or a margin-based loss, and not the cross-entropy. Our contribution is multi-fold:

- We introduce and consider a simple deep feature selection framework which constructs layers of a deep structure layer-wise, the deep structure is based on the capability of SOM to visualize clustering in 2D, the proposed deep architecture can be learned either in a supervised or unsupervised mode,
- We illustrate that the proposed framework is efficient on a real original rich heterogeneous MicrObese [46] data set, which contains meta-data, i.e., clinical parameters and alimentary patterns of patients, gene expressions of adipose tissue, and gene abundance of gut flora. We efficiently extract compact new data representations structured into a multi-level hierarchy.
- We evaluate the prediction power of the models with the reduced dimensionality showing that the proposed approach reaches the state-of-the-art performance.

# II.2 Related work

Learning features from unlabeled data is important in many applications [47], including bioinformatics and medical informatics, where the number of medical analysis or interventions is critical. Upper layers of hierarchical structures are more abstract data representations, whereas lower layers are low level features from data. [76] states that optimization in deep structures is not obvious. A possible explanation is that standard gradient-based approaches may easily get stuck near poor solutions. To learn a complex model efficiently, it is sometimes useful and beneficial to split a task into simpler models that can be estimated sequentially. The inference is extremely expensive in densely connected networks. Dimensionality reduction and feature selection is already a classical problem associated with deep structures (see [69, 46, 53] for an overview). Several heuristics have been proposed to make the problem tractable. Some of them are based on greedy layerwise inference, [50], and the inference is reported to be quite efficient. It has been shown [47] that feature selection with deep structures is sensitive to the number of hidden layers in graphs, and to the choice of an optimization algorithm. So, in [47] it was demonstrated that a simple K-means clustering can provide very efficient new features representation (for an image processing task). When extracting features from plentiful unlabeled data, the dimension of a problem becomes easily very big. Apart from numerous feature selection methods, there are approaches how to deal with manifold. [58], e.g., proposed a classifier which is insensitive to local directions changes along the manifold.

The idea to do feature selection using SOM is not new. [70] introduced a simple greedy heuristic iterative approach for feature selection which includes 4 steps: 1) learn a SOM and label map; 2) if the classes overlap, then add a new feature or replace a feature; 3) if a feature does not improve the separability of the groups, eliminate or replace this feature: 4) retrain and re-label the map. We also propose a feature selection algorithm based on a clustering, and, namely, a SOM. Note, however, that [70] clusters observations and greedily looks for features ameliorating the separation of classes. We, on the contrary, cluster features, and look for best representatives in each feature cluster. Clustering of features has been already considered by [73, 68]. The principal interest was to build classifiers in a semi-supervised manner and to help analysts in their choice of features or attributes. Another motivation of [70] was to illuminate relationships between attributes, their relative importance for classification, and to better understand structure in data. Another clustering of features was done in [59]. [59] has introduced an algorithm called FAST which consists of two simple steps: 1) features are clustered (by using graph-theoretic clustering methods); 2) the most representative features somehow strongly related to classes are selected from each cluster to form a subset of new features. This approach is close to our idea. However, we do not estimate any relations to classes while choosing best representatives from clusters. In this study, we use SOM clustering, however, it is possible to investigate the clustering with medoids for the same purpose. Partitioning around medoids (PAM) is introduced and described in details by [51], [49]. This is another quite efficient and robust clustering, which can be used for a hierarchy construction [49]. In an already classical deep architecture, in convolutional nets, the non-linearities are sigmoid functions, and new representations are learned in supervised mode using gradient descent. The advantages of the convolutional nets and SVM are combined in [66]. Deep structures learn complex mappings by transforming their inputs through multiple layers of nonlinear transformations. There are several motivations to learn such an architecture. It is, first of all, a way to combine supervised and unsupervised learning. Second, there is a number of functions that can be used to compose weakly non-linear transformations. [61] introduced a multilayer kernel machines, which are based on an iterative procedure, repeated for each layer of a structure: 1) compute principal components in the feature space induced by a nonlinear kernel, and 2) prune components that are less informative from the feature space. Our approach, in its unsupervised mode, is a convolutional net. An interesting parallel between [61] and us, apart from using SVM, is that SOM is a nonlinear generalization of the PCA. Another avenue of research is controlling structure in data by penalty terms such as lasso-like methods. So, [71] proposed recently to add some convex constraints to the logistic regression penalized by the L1 norm to produce a sparse model which involves a hierarchy restriction on feature interactions: an interaction is included if one or both features are marginally important. The disadvantage of the method is that the number of features in this approach is very big even for moderate-size applications, since the approach tests all interactions pairwise.

# II.3 Deep linear support vector machines

To learn a hierarchical model, a training algorithm has access to n i.i.d. data points. We can either have labeled pairs  $(X_i; Y_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$ , or an unlabeled data set  $(X_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$ . The
input variable or covariate is  $X \in \chi$ , and the class variable is  $Y \in \mathcal{Y}$ , if the problem is supervised. The covariate variables are high-dimensional, and  $X_i = (X_{i,1}, \dots, X_{i,d})$ , where d is the dimensionality of the problem. We are interested, in particular, to reduce the number of features in the model, so that the dimensionality of our problem becomes  $r \ll d$ , and so that we can carry out a classification task on a much more compact, and probably less noisy, feature space. A deep structure can be learned with an SVM. A version of deep linear SVM which we exploit in our framework, has been introduced by [56]. The function in the linear case takes the following form (Eq. II.1):

$$\mathcal{L}(w) = \min_{w} \frac{1}{2} w^{T} w + C \sum_{i=1}^{N} \max(1 - w^{T} x_{i} y_{i}, 0)$$
(II.1)

and the rule to take a decision (Eq. II.2)

$$\hat{y} = \arg\max_{y} w^{T} x y \tag{II.2}$$

Let  $h_j$  be hidden or latent layers in the hierarchy, then (Eq. II.3)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}(w)}{\partial h_j} = -Cwy_j \mathbf{1}_{\{w^T h_j y_j > 1\}}$$
(II.3)

A way of producing probabilistic outputs from a kernel method (see [67]) is to use (Eq. II.4)

$$p(y|x,w) = \frac{\exp w^T x}{1 + \exp(w^T x)} \tag{II.4}$$

The logistic function can be used as an activation function of a deep learning structure. In such a deep supervised learning based on the linear SVM, we have two alternating steps. The forward step: apply logistic regression function to provide probabilistic interpretation and to activate units (weights are fixed). The backward step: compute the gradient presented as eq. (II.3), and update the weights. The gradient is one of the linear SVM, it is convex and differentiable, and we can apply any standard gradient descent method.

# II.4 Self-Organising Maps for feature selection

The Self-Organising Map (SOM) is an artificial network associated with the unsupervised learning paradigm [69]. It is famous for its efficient manner to map from a high dimensional input space into a more compact space, usually to a two-dimensional output space. The two-dimensional representation is practical for a visualization, since the mapping preserves topological relations between elements on the grid. Moreover, the continuous input space can be mapped into a discrete output space. The SOM belongs to competitive learning methods, since neurons compete to be activated, and, as a result, only one is activated at a time. The winning neuron is called the winner. When the winner is set, all the other neurons have to re-organize themselves. Interestingly, the SOM can be seen as a non-linear generalization of principal component analysis. Given high-dimensional data  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , the connection weights between observations i and the neurons of the grid j can be presented as  $wj = w_{ij} : j = 1, ..., K; i = 1; ..., n$ , where K is the number of neurons on the grid. A discriminate function (Eq. II.5) which is widely used, and which we also use

in our experiments, is the squared Euclidean distance between an observation x and the weight vector  $w_j$ , for all j

$$D_j(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - w_{ji})^2$$
(II.5)

The structure learning can be either supervised, or unsupervised. This algorithm includes four steps detailed in Algorithm 1.

## Algorithm 1 Self-Organising Maps Learning Procedure

- 1: Initialization: all connection weights are initialized randomly;
- 2: Competition: for each observation, and all features, the neurons compute their values of a discriminant function;
- 3: Cooperation: The winner determines the spatial location of a topological neighborhood for other neurons, what provides the basis for cooperation between neighboring neurons;
- 4: Adaptation: Excited neurons decrease their values through an adjustment of the connection weights;

#### II.4.1 Unsupervised Deep Self-Organising Maps

In an unsupervised setting, the feature selection procedure is completely unsupervised, and the algorithm performs only the first step, a forward pass. In this forward pass, we construct a deep structure layer-wise, where each layer consists of the clusters representatives from the previous level. A natural question which arises is whether such an unsupervised feature selection can be beneficial for a prediction task. Although it is currently impossible to provide a theoretical foundation for it, there is an intuition why a deep unsupervised feature selection is expected to perform and performs better in practice. Real data are always noisy, and a "good" clustering or dimensionality reduction can significantly reduce the noise. If features are tied into clusters of "high quality", then it is easier to detect a signal from data, and the generalizing classification performance is higher. The hierarchical feature selection plays here a role of a filter, and a filter with multiple layers seems to perform better than a one-layer filter.

## II.4.2 Supervised Deep Self-Organising Maps

The supervised deep SOM feature selection is based mostly on the forward-backward idea. Forward greedy feature selection algorithms are based on a greedily picking a feature at every step to significantly reduce a cost function. The idea is to progress aggressively at each iteration, and to get a model which is sparse. The major problem of this heuristic is that once a feature has been added, it cannot be removed, i.e. the forward pass can not correct mistakes done in earlier iterations. A solution to this problem would be a backward pass, which trains a full, not a sparse, model, and removes greedily features with the smallest impact on a cost function. The backward algorithm on its own is computationally quite expensive, since it starts with a full model [43]. We propose a hierarchical feature selection scheme with SOM which is drafted as Algorithm 2. The features in the backward step are drawn randomly.

Algorithm 2 Feature Selection with Forward-Backward SOM

1: for each layer  $l \in L$  do {bottom up}

```
2: Run a SOM
```

3: Select representatives from each cluster to propagate them to an upper level

```
4: end for
```

- 5: for each layer  $l \in L$  do {top down}
- 6: Estimate accuracy for level l
- 7: Greedily update selected features
- 8: end for

# **II.5** Experiment

In this section, we describe our experiments and results on a real rich, and original biomedical data set. To construct the SOMs, we use somtoolbox1 from Matlab. We also use SOM graphics from [54], [62].

## II.5.1 Signatures of Metabolic Health

The biomedical problem of our interest is a real problem which is a binary classification of obese patients. The aim is to stratify patients in order to choose an efficient appropriate personalized medical treatment. The task is motivated by a recent French study [46] of gene-environment interactions carried out to understand the development of obesity. It was reported that the gut microbial gene richness can influence the outcome of a dietary intervention. A quantitative metagenomic analysis stratified patients into two groups: group with low gene gut flora count (LGC) and high gene gut flora count (HGC) group. The LGC individuals have a higher insulin resistance and low-grade inflammation, and therefore the gene richness is strongly associated with obesity-driven diseases. The individuals from a low gene count group seemed to have an increased risk to develop obesity-related cardiometabolic risk compared to the patients from the high gene count group. It was shown [46] that a particular diet is able to increase the gene richness: an increase of genes was observed with the LGC patients after a 6-weeks energy-restricted diet. [19] conducted a similar study with Dutch individuals, and made a similar conclusion: there is a hope that a diet can be used to induce a permanent change of gut flora, and that treatment should be phenotype-specific. There is therefore a need to go deeper into these biomedical results and to identify candidate biomarkers associated with cardiometabolic disease (CMD) risk factors and with different stages of CMD evolution.

## II.5.2 Dataset description

The MicrObese corpus contains meta-data, genes of adipose tissue, and gut flora metagenomic data. For each patient, we have the information to which class he or she belongs. There are two classes, high gene count (HGC) and low gene count (LGC) classes. Therefore, our problem is a binary prediction task from heterogeneous data. In general, 49 patients have been hired and examined at the Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital hospital, Paris, France [46], but as to the genes of the adipose tissue, we faced the problem of missing data, and not for all patients their class, LGC or HGC is provided. We decided to impute missing data by median values for the adipose tissue data. The patients who were not clearly stratified into the LGC or HGC group, were excluded from the analysis. Therefore, in our experiments we have access to 42 observations (patients). To get rid of important noise, after the discussion with pre-clinical researchers, we run a significance test (Kruskal-Wallis), and we keep those variables for which the raw (not adjusted for the multiple hypothesis testing) p-values < 0.05.

Figure II.1 is a hierarchical structure based on SOM. Each upper layer is constructed from variables which are the closest ones to the unit centers of the previous level. Here we also perform data integration. We carry out feature extraction for four data sources - metagenomic species, environmental data, host variables, and genes expressions for adipose tissue. We do feature selection separately for each data source (three layers). Then we integrate all selected variables in one analysis and obtain a mixed signature (also three layers). Taking into consideration that we would like to get a well-balanced signature, where each data type is presented by some features, the SOM of the lower levels of the hierarchy are constructed per data source, since the number of parameters are extremely different in, e.g., adipose tissue data and in the block of environmental variables. Although Figure II.1 provides a schematic overview, the maps on the figure are exactly what we get in our experiments. It is interesting to see that lower levels where the number of parameters is quite big, do not reveal specific structures in data. The highest levels, on the contrary, show well-organized clusters. Figure II.2 illustrates the quantization error associated with hierarchies on each data sources and on the mixed hierarchy. It is easy to see that in all cases the quantization error diminishes. Figure II.3A illustrates the patients separation after the feature selection, where 1 stands for high gene count patients, and 2 for the low gene count ones. Note that each cluster may contain several patients.

The framework of Figure II.1 can be applied to the whole MicroObese cohort, both to the HGC and to the LGC data points (we do the 10-folds cross validation in all our classification experiments), but we can also split the data into the HGC and LGC data sets, and extract signatures for each group. These results that can be found on Figure II.4A and B are very interesting for clinicians and researchers doing pre-clinical research, since these signatures allow them to better characterize the groups of patients.

Figure II.4C shows the result of the prediction using the HGC and LGC groups. The signature, therefore, characterizes the discrimination between two classes. It is a well-reported fact that biological and medical signatures are rather unstable. See, for instance, [75], where a comparison of more than thirty feature selection methods has been made, and where it has been shown that the stability of modern state-of-the-art approaches is rather low.

Another avenue to analyze signatures, is to construct Bayesian networks and to study the relations between the variables. We carry out feature selection with the deep SOM, and we run a Bayesian network on the selected variables. Figure II.5 reveals the signature relations of the high gene count group and the low gene count group with the Bayesian network. The highest level of the deep SOM structure and the Bayesian networks provide complementary results. If we compare the relations for the HGC group, (Figure II.4A and II.5A), we will see that the SOM clusters and the Bayesian networks quite often provide similar results, however, in some cases they reveal different relations between variables of interest. It is interesting, that the number of selected features for the LGC is bigger



Figure II.1 The hierarchy of SOM. For three lower levels, from left to right: MGS, environmental variables, host, and adipose tissue microarray data. Three upper layers perform data integration from four data sources.



Figure II.2 Quantization error. Above: the error associated with three highest levels of the SOM deep architecture; below: the quantization error for each data source, associated with the lower three levels of the SOM hierarchy on Figure II.1



Figure II.3 Separation of patients with the selected features. 1- high gene count patients, 2- low gene count patients.



Figure II.4 (A): Signature of the high gene count group which is associated with a better health. (B): Signature of the low gene count group which is associated with higher inflammation. (C): A signature which discriminates high gene count and low gene count groups.



Figure II.5 (A): Bayesian network of the selected features associated with the HGC (A) and LGC (B) group

than for the HGC. Analyzing Figure Figure II.4B and II.5B, we do the same conclusion: the SOM and the network reveal the same structure in data, with several interesting exceptions. The biomedical analysis of the results is out of scope of this study, and will be done by fundamental biologists and clinicians.

#### II.5.3 Comparison with State-of-the-art Methods

In this section we show that the proposed feature selection method is efficient compared to the state-of-the art methods such as lasso and elastic net. In our experiments we use the glmnet R package [74]. Figure II.6 shows the 10- folds cross validation error rate on the MicroObese data as a function of the number of non-zero features in the model. We have done unsupervised feature pre-selection with the deep SOM, the structure drafted on Figure II.1. Then we apply the lasso to the pre-selected set of features, and compare the result with the lasso applied to the whole set of parameters (more than 2000 features).

Figure II.6A on the left demonstrates the performance for the lasso applied to all features, without the unsupervised pre-selection step. On the right of Figure II.6A, we show the performance of our framework. Note that since the pre-selection step is unsupervised, we do not do any overfitting. The accuracy of both methods is comparable, and taking into consideration that the prediction task is quite challenging, the error rate around 0.3 – 0.33 is acceptable. However, the proposed framework applies lasso to a reduced data set, with a hundred of parameters, and not with thousands as the initial set.

Figure II.6B illustrates our result (with the elastic net) which is similar to the one of Figure II.6A. It shows the performance as function of the number of selected features. On the left, we show the error rate for the elastic net ( $\alpha = 0.5$  in the *glmnet* R package) on all features, and on the right of II.6B, for the proposed approach. The elastic net achieves a higher accuracy than the lasso. As in the previous lasso experiment, we run the elastic



Figure II.6 The 10-folds cross validation error rate on the MicroObese data as a function of the number of active features. On the left: the lasso (A) and the elastic net (B); on the right: the lasso (A) and the elastic net (B) after the unsupervised feature selection.

net on about 100 variables for our approach, instead of thousands (the result on the left), and we see that the best model is one with about 30 parameters chosen among 100 from the features pre-selected in unsupervised manner. Note that the best model learned from all parameters (on the left of Figure II.6B), but with the comparable error rate, has more, namely, 43 features.

# II.6 Closing and remarks

Data integration is a challenge, especially in applications where data are high-dimensional, e.g., metagenomics and the metagenomic species, and where the number of observations (patients) is small. We have proposed to reduce dimensionality by a deep approach which is based on SOM, and which learns new compact data layer-wise, in a hierarchical way. We have considered supervised and unsupervised feature selection frameworks, as well as we considered a real data integration challenge. We show that the considered deep SOM approach is efficient on a real medical complex data set, and it is beneficial to combine it with the lasso and the elastic net approaches. The unsupervised feature selection diminishes the computational burden of the standard methods and also leads to the state-of-the art performance. Although the detailed biomedical discussion of the features clustering and of the quality of the obtained signatures is out of scope of this study, and is to be done by biologists doing pre-clinical research, we expect that our framework can help to better stratify patients, develop methods of personalized medicine, and improve diagnosis and prognosis.

# Chapter III Visualization Approaches for Metagenomics

#### Contents

III.1 Introduction	22
III.2 Dimensionality reduction algorithms	23
III.3 Metagenomic data benchmarks	27
III.4 Met2Img approach	28
III.4.1 Abundance Bins for metagenomic synthetic images	28
III.4.2 Generation of artificial metagenomic images: Fill-up and Mani- fold learning algorithms	31
III.4.3 Colormaps for images	43
III.5 Closing remarks	45

**Abstract:** In this chapter, we introduce the **Met2Img** framework based on *Fill-up* and dimensionality reduction methods to visualize features which reflect the abundance of different levels of OTUs such as species, genus, order, family, class, phylum. A simple way as Fill-up arranges abundance/presence values into a square matrix sizing by the number of features. We also consider more sophisticated methods that carry out dimensionality reduction are used in this study, both supervised and unsupervised methods such as Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA), Isomap, and t-Distributed Stochastic Neighbor (t-SNE). We propose three binning methods which are essential to map abundance/presence values into images. Furthermore, we consider a range of diverse colormaps provided from Python library.

Our approach is evaluated on six metagenomic datasets using either abundance or presence values. We report that the proposed **Met2Img** not only shows improvements in the performance but also allows to visualize biomedical signatures.

# III.1 Introduction

The visualization of metagenomic data is still a challenging issue in computational biology due to its very large dimensionality, as well as complex interactions among microbes. In addition, metagenomic data also shows complicated correlations with confounding environmental factors [165] (for example, total organic carbon, total nitrogen and pH[166]). As illustrated in numerous studies, data visualization is considered as an indispensable technique for the exploratory data analysis and becomes a key for discoveries [153]. A good visualization should discriminate between specific groups to extract characteristics of these groups. In addition, an ideal visualization method enables us to analyze such large-scale data efficiently.

In [153], the authors stated that Metagenomics visualization has become an attractive domain with a vast of publications introducing numerous novel approaches every year, and presenting new techniques based on visualization for generating and verifying novel biological hypotheses. They presented an overview of the existing approaches to visualize metagenomic data. Furthermore, the study also pointed out the best-known visualization of compositional data is a pie chart which shaped like a circular graphic separated into pieces. Each such piece represents a group of corresponding data in percent. Pie chart is available, implemented popularly to a variety of softwares and platforms such as Python, R [154], Excel, and so on. Krona [155] is one of such popular tools commonly-used in the research community. The software presents a metagenome as nested concentric rings shaping a circle together. Each ring matches to a taxonomic rank. This visualization reveals a multi-level view of the structures of metagenome data. MG-RAST [157] is a type of the web-based display, represents metagenomics in the hierarchy regardless of magnitude. MEGAN is a software that enables us to analyze and explore the taxonomic content of large metagenomic data. A comparison among 3 these common methods are presented in [155]. Figure III.1 exhibits the taxonomic classification using MG-RAST, MEGAN and Krona. As seen from the figure, all levels of the hierarchy of the most abundance taxa are visualized clearly by Krona while MEGAN and MG-RAST is limited the scope of their overview. MEGAN and MG-RAST expand hierarchical node-link diagrams with log-scaled, quantitative charts while Krona utilizes a radial space-filling display to visualizes abundance and hierarchy concurrently. Krona uses a red-green color gradient revealing average e-values of Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) [159] hits inside each taxon. Red represents the highest observed e-value (least significant) while green depicts the lowest (most significant) one.

A bar chart that is also a useful tool to represent a data distribution, forms as rectangular colorful bars for each group of data. The height of these bars reflects the values of corresponding groups. A vast of tools provided include *AmphoraVizu* [160], package of *metricsgraphics* [162] and *gplots* in R [161]. *Phinch* [163] is also a helpful software to show taxonomic composition of microbial communities.

As [153] presented, an abundance table, where the rows representing the samples and columns corresponding to features, is considered as a standard method to represent the community structure inferred from metagenomic datasets. In this table, each cell contains the value of the relative abundance corresponding taxa in the sample. A heat map table is an extended version of abundance table. Each cell in this table is filled by a color. The different abundance between 2 cells is identified by distinct colors. The R package

d3heatmap [164] provides a variety of options to build a vast of kinds of heatmaps. In addition, *Anvi'o* is also able to figure a heat map of nucleotide positions. Heatmaps table is a key idea that we conduct for the Fill-up approach.

Find the global structure of microbial community using metagenomic data is really a substantial challenge. Besides charts and tables, due to very large dimensionality of data, researchers also have attempted recently dimension reduction algorithms such as Isomap, Principle component analysis (PCA), t-SNE in numerous metagenomic studies [167, 168, 169, 170]. Each sample is characterized by hundreds or thousands of features (relative abundance of individual species or genus), and a dimensionality reduction method can be applied. A new reduced data can be presented as a point (or dot, pixel) on the scatter plot of two (2D) or three (3D) principal components.

As stated in [153], recent discoveries in microbial data using metagenomic data have substantially increased our understanding on the structure and possible functions of bacterial in the human body. These discoveries are incredibly difficult to complete without a good visual tool to go deeply into the analysis. However, although the benefits of visualization on metagenenomic data was demonstrated by a vast of studies, applying these visualizations for prediction tasks using deep learning techniques are not taken into account completely. In this chapter, we explore and investigate different approaches for visualizing features of metagenomic data. Our objective is to propose efficient data representations which produce compact and informative images, which not only present data distributions visually but also can be used for classification.

The chapter is organized as follows. Related work on visualization approaches is presented in III.2. In Section III.3, we describe six species abundance datasets (group A) used for performing visualizations. The visualization methods are introduced in Section III.4 including the methods of visualizing feature abundance (the Fill-up and manifold learning approaches) as well as the comparison results of each method. A number of binning methods including binning based on abundance distribution, transformation and one-hot encoding along with a variety of colormaps are also taking into account in this chapter. Finally, conclusion is presented in the Section III.5.

# **III.2** Dimensionality reduction algorithms

In this study, we consider a number of dimensionality reduction approaches for feature visualization including both supervised and unsupervised learning algorithms. As stated in [81] and [88], manifold learning methods are a robust framework for reducing the dimension. The idea for these algorithms is to find a more compact space that is embedded in a higher dimensional space. Ingwer et al. presented Multidimensional scaling (MDS) that create a mapping from a high-dimensional space to a more compact space and try to preserve the distance between pairs of points while Locally Linear Embedding (LLE) and Isometric Mapping (Isomap) were considered as a new generation of dimensionality reduction algorithms and applied to synthetic and real data with great achievements. We recall some information on some of the prominent dimensionality reductions.

Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) [172, 171] is a supervised dimensionality reduction method that fits a Gaussian density to each class. This algorithm projects the input to the most discriminative directions to reduce the dimension. As described



Figure III.1 The acid drainage metagenome [156] was visualized by MG-RAST [157], MEGAN [158], and Krona [155]. The figure is provided from [155].

in [173], classical LDA puts the data into a lower-dimensional vector space with the maximum proportion between between-class distance and the within-class distance to ensure a maximum discrimination. Given a data  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$  with n is the number of sample (rows) and N is the number of features or dimensions (columns). Given l is the desired dimension (l < N), a transformation  $G \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times l}$  where  $G : a_i \in \mathbb{R}^N \to b_i = G^T a_i \in \mathbb{R}^l$  aims to map each column  $a_i$  of A  $(1 \le i \le n)$  with N-dimensional space to a vector  $b_i$  in l-lower-dimensional space. Suppose that samples in A is grouped into k categories:  $A = \{\Pi_1, \Pi_2, ..., \Pi_k\}$  where the *i*th class  $\Pi_i$  consists of  $n_i$  samples (with  $\sum_{n=1}^k n_i = n$ ). Two scatter matrices, namely within-class  $S_w = \sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{x \in \Pi_i(x-m_i)(x-m_i)}^T$  and between-class  $S_b = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i(x-m_i)(x-m_i)^T$ , where  $m_i = \frac{1}{n_i} \sum_{x \in \Pi_i} x$  depicts the mean of the *i*th category and  $m = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{x \in \Pi_i} x$  reveals the global mean, aim to evaluate the quality of the clusters. While trace( $S_w$ ) estimates the closeness of the vectors within the classes, trace( $S_b$ ) represents the separation between classes. The within-class and between-class matrices turn to  $S_b^L = G^T S_b G$  and  $S_w^L = G^T S_w G$  in the low-dimensional space with the linear transformation G, respectively. To optimal G, we need to maximize trace( $S_b^L$ ) and minimize trace( $S_w^L$ ) which leads to (Eq. III.1)

$$\max_{G} \{ trace((S_w^L)^{-}1S_b^L) \} \text{ and } \min_{G} \{ trace((S_b^L)^{-}1S_w^L) \}$$
(III.1)

[172]. Eq. III.1 is corresponding to the generalized eigenvalue problem:  $S_b x = \lambda S_w x$  with  $\lambda \neq 0$ . We employ an eigen-decomposition to  $S_w^{-1}S_b$ , if  $S_x$  is nonsingular, or  $S_b^{-1}S_w$ , if  $S_b$  is nonsingular, to solve this problem. The rank of the matrix  $S_b$  is limited from above by k-1, so there exists at most k-1 eigenvectors being equivalent to nonzero eigenvalues. As a result, the most reduced dimensionality is k-1. LDA has been used commonly in many applications regarding to metagenomics [175, 174].

**Random Projection** is an algorithm to reduce the dimensionality with the core idea was introduced in [120] and widely-used in applications [114, 115, 116, 117, 127, 128, 129]. As described in [114], Random Projection (Rn\_pro) utilizes a random matrix with unit Euclidean column norms to find a lower-dimensional subspace that approximately preserves the distances between the points. Given an original *d*-dimensional data  $X \in$  $R^{N\times d}$ , where N is the number of points. Rn\_pro transforms X to the *k*-lower dimensional space  $X_{k\times N}^{RP}$  (with  $k \ll d$ ) calculated by  $X_{k\times N}^{RP} = R_{k\times d}X_{d\times N}$  where  $R \in R^{d\times k}$  is a random matrix with unit Euclidean column norms that can be generated from a Gaussian distribution. As in [121] presented the first row is a random unit vector uniformly selected from  $S^{d-1}$  while the second is a random unit vector from the space orthogonal to the first one and the third vector is a random unit vector from the space orthogonal to the first two.

Non-negative matrix factorization (NMF) [178, 179] also has been carried out to investigate the complicated structure embedded metagenomic data [176, 181, 180, 182, 167, 177]. As detailed in [176, 182], NMF decomposition calculates a decomposition of samples A into two matrices of W and H with non-negative elements. The algorithm optimizes the distance d between X and the matrix product WH. Given  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$ , and the selected number k < min(m, n), we need to calculate  $W \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times k}_+$  and  $H \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times n}_+$  to solve  $min_{W \ge 0, H \ge 0} \Phi(A, WH)$  where  $\Phi(A, WH) : \mathbb{R}^{m \times n} \times \mathbb{R}^{m \times n} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$  is some appropriate (distance) metric such as the Frobenius norm with  $||A - WH||_F$ . The approach aims to calculate the minimum difference between A and WH to find W and H (Eq. III.2):

$$W_{min}Hf(W,H) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} (A_{ij} - (WH)_{ij})^2$$
(III.2)

**Principal Component Analysis** (PCA) [77] is one of the most commonly-used linear dimension reduction for numerous applications in exploratory data analysis for performing predictive models. A key idea of PCA aims to find the low-dimensional linear subspace where catches the maximum proportion of variation within data [81]. A disadvantage of PCA is that the embedded subspace should be linear. PCA is a technique to find the largest eigenvalues. Supposing that the data  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$ , PCA calculates the eigenvalues and corresponding eigenvectors of the (r×r) sample covariance matrix. In order to embed to k-lower-dimensional space, PCA preserves only those eigenvalueeigenvector combinations for which the k largest eigenvalues interpret a high proportion of the total variation in the data.

Multidimensional scaling (MDS) is a form of non-linear dimensionality reduction presented in [122, 123]. The technique aims to place each point in N-dimensional space where distances between points are preserved as well as possible. Classical MDS uses Euclidean distances. As in described classical MDS in [126, 80], the coordinate matrix can be derived using eigenvalue decomposition B = XX' computed by proximity matrix D by using double centering with steps as follows.

- Set up the squared proximity matrix  $D^{(2)} = [d_{ij}^2]$
- employ double centering:  $B = -\frac{1}{2}JD^{(2)}$ , where  $J = I_n \frac{1}{n}J_n$  and  $J_n = 1_n 1_n^t$  is matrix of ones.
- Indicate the m largest eigenvalues  $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_m$  and corresponding eigenvectors  $e_1, ..., e_m$  of B. m denotes the number of dimensions required for output.
- Compute  $X = E_m \bigwedge_{m}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , where  $E_m$  is the matrix of m eigenvectors and  $\bigwedge_m$  is the diagonal matrix of m eigenvalues of B.

**Isomap** was presented in [79, 91] as an extended version of MDS by changing the Euclidean distances with another type of distance (geodesic distances). This method aims to solve high dimensional data using the measured local metric information to learn the structure of data with numerous applications. As in [134], authors applied Isomap to predict key clinical variables. The author in [88] stated that there are two various types of manifold learning including local and global methods. Isomap is a global manifold learning approach with the embeddings based on geodesic distances between all pairs of points. There are three steps in Isomap as follows:

• Consider N points  $X_i, i = 1, 2, ..., N$ . For each point  $X_i$ , compute the distances  $d_{ij}^X = d^X(x_i, x_j) = ||x_i - x_j||_X$  between all pairs of points  $x_i, x_j \in X$ , then determine its neighbors that can be either using k-nearest neighbors of each point  $X_i$  or an  $\epsilon$ -neighborhood that consists all of the points that are no more than  $\epsilon$ -distance away from  $X_i$ .

#### III.3 Metagenomic data benchmarks

- Calculate a weighted graph of neighborhoods  $G = G(V, \epsilon)$ , where the vertices,  $V = x_1, ..., x_n$  are the input points and the edges,  $\epsilon = e^{ij}$  denote the relationships of the neighbor points. The edge  $e^{ij}$  which connects between the neighbor points of  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  owns a weight  $w_{ij}$  equivalent to the distance  $d_{ij}^X$  between considering two points. The corresponding weight is zero (0) if there is no edge between any two points. The true geodesic distances  $d_{ij}^M$  on the manifold are calculated by  $d_{ij}^G$ , the graph distances, that are the shortest edges between all pairs of points in the graph, G can be calculated efficiently via Dijkstra's algorithm [89] or Floyd's algorithm [90].
- A low dimensional projection is created using classical MDS.

Locally Linear Embedding (LLE) is a type of local manifold learning method introduced in [124]. As in [88] stated that LLE looks a manifold as a collection of potentially overlapping areas. In the case where the manifold is smooth and the number of points in a neighborhood is minor, the regions look like as locally linear. LLE and Isomap have the main difference that is the way LLE performs in the second step. LLE supposes that every manifold as locally linear. Therefore, each point can be approximated by linear function of its K nearest neighbors. The details of the algorithm can be found in [124, 88, 81].

Laplacian Eigenmaps- (or called as Spectral Embedding (SE)): applies spectral decomposition to the corresponding graph Laplacian. Similar to LLE, SE focus only o retaining local neighborhood relationships in the input space [125]. In some cases, SE is equivalent to LLE. Details of the algorithms are presented in [125, 88]

t-SNE [3, 190] is one of the best technique for dimensionality reduction used more and more recently [130, 133, 132, 131, 132]. t-SNE performs well and seems to like to an appropriate method for visualizing data in 2-3D compared to other manifold methods. Additionally, t-SNE not only illustrates the local structure of data but also preserves the global structures of the data like clusters.

# III.3 Metagenomic data benchmarks

We work with metagenomic abundance data, i.e. data indicating how present (or absent) is an OTU (Operational taxonomic unit) in human gut. In this chapter, we evaluated our method on 6 different datasets related to 5 various diseases (Table III.1).

Group A consists of datasets including bacterial species related to various diseases, namely: liver cirrhosis (CIR), colorectal cancer (COL), obesity (OBE), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and Type 2 Diabetes (T2D) [18, 19, 20, 36, 2, 10, 32, 141, 142], with CIR (n=232 samples with 118 patients), COL (n=48 patients and n=73 healthy individuals), OBE (n=89 non-obese and n=164 obese individuals), IBD (n=110 samples of which 25 were affected by the disease) and T2D (n=344 individuals of which n=170 are T2D patients). In addition, one dataset, namely WT2, that includes 96 European women with n=53 T2D patients and n=43 healthy individuals is also considered. The abundance datasets are transformed to obtain another representation based on feature presence when the abundance is greater than zero. These data were obtained using the default parameters of MetaPhlAn2 [30] as detailed in Pasolli et al. [18].

Group A	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2
#features	542	503	443	465	572	381
#samples	232	121	110	253	344	96
#patients	118	48	25	164	170	53
#controls	114	73	85	89	174	43
Ratio of patients	0.51	0.40	0.23	0.65	0.49	0.552
Ratio of controls	0.49	0.60	0.77	0.35	0.51	0.448
Autofit size for images	$24 \times 24$	$23 \times 23$	$22 \times 22$	$22 \times 22$	$24 \times 24$	$20 \times 20$

Table III.1 – Information on 6 datasets in group A.

For each sample, species abundance is a relative proportion and is represented as a real number which is the total abundance of all species summing to 1.

# III.4 Met2Img approach

In this section, we describe how to map the microbial taxonomic abundance profiles represented by the Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) into synthetic images. Our approach consists of the following steps. First, a set of colors is chosen and applied to different binning approaches (see III.4.1). The binning can be performed on a logarithmic scale or a transformation. Then, data are mapped into images by one of two different approaches, i.e. either by the *Fill-up* (using either phylogenetic-sorting or random ordering) or based on manifold learning methods such as t-Distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding (t-SNE [3] (see III.4.2). The t-SNE technique is useful to find faithful representations for high-dimensional points visualized in a more compact space, typically the 2D plane. For the Fill-up with phylogenetic-sorting, the features which are bacterial species are arranged based on their taxonomic annotation ordered alphabetically by concatenating the strings of their taxonomy (i.e. phylum, class, order, family, genus and species). This ordering of the variables embeds into the image external biological knowledge, which reflects the evolutionary relationship between these species. In all experiments in Section III.4, we use the Fill-up with phylogenetic-sorting. The performances were evaluated by 10-foldstratified-cross validation, repeated and averaged on 10 independent runs, compared to MetAML [18]. The results with p-values < 0.05 are significant improvements. Each visualization method is employed to either represent abundance or presence data. The presence/abundance representation serves as a control and is the 1D of the raw data (with the species also sorted phylogenetically). For the representation based on manifold learning approaches, we use only training sets to generate global maps, images of training and test set are created from these global maps.

## III.4.1 Abundance Bins for metagenomic synthetic images

In order to discretize abundances, choose a color for them, and construct synthetic images, we use different methods of binning (or discretization). On the artificial images, each bin is illustrated by a distinct color extracted from a color strip of heat map colormaps in Python library such as *jet*, *viridis*, etc. In [38], authors stated that *viridis* showed a good



Figure III.2 (A): Histogram of whole six datasets of group A (Left: original data, Right: Log-histogram (base 4)). (B): Log histogram of each dataset

performance in terms of time and error. The binning method we used in the project is unsupervised binning which does not use the target (class) information. In this part, we use **EQual Width binning** (EQW) with ranging [**Min, Max**]. We test with k = 10bins (for color distinct images, and gray images), width of intervals is w = 0.1, if Min=0 and Max = 1, for example.

#### III.4.1.1 Binning based on abundance distribution

On Figure III.2A, on the *left* we show the histogram of the original data. The original data follow the zero-inflated distribution what is typical for metagenomic data [186]. On the *right* we show the log-transformed distribution of the data where the logarithm (base 4) is taken, and we notice that the data are more normally-distributed. In the logarithmic scale, the width of each break is 1 being equivalent to a 4-fold increase from the previous bin. As observed from Figure III.2B, histograms of six datasets of group A with the logarithmic scale (base 4) share the same distributions. From our observations, we propose a hypothesis that the models will perform better with such breaks owning values of breaks from  $0, 10^{-7}, 4*10^{-7}, 1.6*10^{-6}, ..., 0.0065536, 1$ . The first break is from 0

Model	Bins	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
CNN	EQW	0.859	0.737	0.847	0.684	0.569	0.617	0.719
CNN	SPB	0.905	0.793	0.868	0.680	0.651	0.705	0.767
FC	EQW	0.582	0.622	0.775	0.648	0.494	0.608	0.622
FC	SPB	0.888	0.772	0.847	0.686	0.652	0.716	0.760

Table III.2 – Performance comparison (in ACC) between EQW and SPB using gray images. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3

to  $10^{-7}$  which is the minimum value of species abundance known in 6 datasets of group A, each multiplies four times preceding one. We called this binning "SPecies Bins" (**SPB**) in our experiments.

In order to evaluate the efficiency of SPB, we compare the performance between SPB and EQW in Table III.2. EQW bins are performed in a range of [Min,Max]. For each k fold, EQW indicates maximum and minimum values of original abundances in training set, then dividing k = 10 bins that have the equal width. The bins determined using training set, after that, we apply these bins to test set. We observed that the SPB outperforms the EQW in most of the datasets. Prominently, the EQW exhibits a great performance in CNN compared to FC model (see the models in IV.4.3). The EQW using CNN performs slightly better than the SPB on the OBE dataset.

## III.4.1.2 Binning based on Quantile Transformation (QTF)

We test another approach to bin the data, based on a scaling factor which is learned in the training set and then applied to the test set. With different distributions of data, standardization is a commonly-used technique for numerous ML algorithms. Quantile TransFormation (QTF), a Non-Linear transformation, is considered as a strong preprocessing technique because of reducing the outliers effect. Values in new/unseen data (for example, test/validation set) which are lower or higher the fitted range will be set to the bounds of the output distribution. In the experiments, we use this transformation to fit the features' signal to a uniform distribution.

We also illustrate another scaler, a linear scaler, MinMaxScaler (MMS), for a comparison between scaler algorithms. This algorithm scales each feature to a given range with the formulas (III.3) and (III.4):

$$X_{std} = \frac{X - X.min}{X.max - X.min}$$
(III.3)

$$X_{scaled} = X_{std} * (max - min) + min$$
(III.4)

QTF and MMS implementations are provided from the scikit-learn library [16] in Python.

As shown in Table III.3, QTF transformation defeats MMS in most of cases. Comparing to EQW (in Table III.2), we see that MMS and EQW share a pattern in the results, but MMS outperforms EQW for FC model.

Model	Scaler	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
CNN	MMS	0.862	0.733	0.839	0.669	0.617	0.599	0.720
CNN	QTF	0.906	0.768	0.821	0.672	0.660	0.659	0.748
FC	MMS	0.824	0.749	0.780	0.659	0.518	0.651	0.697
FC	QTF	0.897	0.771	0.843	0.680	0.666	0.687	0.757

Table III.3 – Performance comparison (in ACC) between MMS and QTF using gray images. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in Section IV.4.3

Model	#bins	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
CNN	255	0.907	0.767	0.823	0.671	0.655	0.668	0.748
CNN	10	0.906	0.768	0.821	0.672	0.660	0.659	0.748
FC	255	0.896	0.768	0.838	0.678	0.666	0.684	0.755
FC	10	0.897	0.771	0.843	0.680	0.666	0.687	0.757

Table III.4 – Performance comparison (in ACC) between the chosen number of bins. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3

Another evaluation on the effect of selecting the number of bins in QTF is carried out in Table III.4. There are only some insignificant differences between them that come from CNN models on T2D, and WT2; and IBD datasets for FC.

#### III.4.1.3 Binary Bins

Beside the previous two methods described above, we also use the binary bins to indicate PResence/absence (PR), respectively corresponding to black/white (BW) values in subsequent images. Note that this method is equivalent to one-hot encoding.

## III.4.2 Generation of artificial metagenomic images: Fill-up and Manifold learning algorithms

## III.4.2.1 Fill-up

Images are created by arranging abundance/presence values into a matrix in a right-toleft order by row top-to-bottom. The order to arrange species can be either phylogenetic or random. As an example for a dataset containing 542 features (i.e. bacterial species) in the cirrhosis dataset, we need a matrix of  $24 \times 24$  to fill up 542 values of species into this square. The first row of pixels is arranged from the first species to the 24th species, the second row includes from the 25th to the 48th and so on till the end. We use distinct colors in binning scale with SPB, QTF and PR to illustrate abundance values of species and black and white for presence/ absence, where white represents absent values (see examples at Figure III.3 and Figure III.4).



Figure III.3 Examples of Fill-up on a sample of CIR dataset (images of  $24 \times 24$ ), Top: Left-Right **SPB** with jet colormap, **SPB** with gray images, and **PR** with black/white images; Down: Left-Right: **QTF** (10 bins) with jet color images, **QTF** (10 bins) with gray images and **QTF** (255 bins) with gray images.



Figure III.4 Examples of Fill-up on a sample of CIR dataset using **SPB** with 10 different colormaps.



Figure III.5 Average abundance of species visualized by Fill-up using jet colormap and phylogenetic ordering; relative species abundance binned by SBP



Figure III.6 Examples of t-SNE representation, Left-Right (types of images): color images (using jet colormap), gray images, black/white images; Top-Down: Global t-SNE maps and images of samples created from the global t-SNE map

Phylum name	Color_index	#species	abundance			
			Sample 78	Sample 93		
Euryarchaeota	1	4	0.000000	0.000000		
Acidobacteria	2	1	0.000000	0.000000		
Actinobacteria	3	53	0.002369	0.001485		
Bacteroidetes	4	100	0.485673	0.526229		
Candidatus_Saccharibacteria	5	3	0.000000	0.000000		
Chlorobi	6	1	0.000000	0.000000		
Deinococcus_Thermus	7	1	0.000000	0.000000		
Firmicutes	8	247	0.451369	0.305555		
Fusobacteria	9	13	0.000890	0.013925		
Proteobacteria	10	105	0.035651	0.152767		
Spirochaetes	11	5	0.000000	0.000000		
Synergistetes	12	3	0.000000	0.000000		
Tenericutes	13	1	0.000000	0.000000		
Verrucomicrobia	14	1	0.024047	0.000039		
Ascomycota	15	4	0.000000	0.000000		
Total		542	1.000000	1.000000		

Table III.5 – Information on the number of species belonging to phyla in CIR dataset along with the index color and phylum abundance visualized in 2D or 3D in Figure III.7, III.8.

Figure III.5 shows 542-species abundance distribution using SBP. High abundance is dense at rows of -3, -4, -11, -12 (dark red areas) while rows of 0, -7 contain many colors of blue what corresponds to a low abundance. As seen from the Figure III.5, there are some differences on the average abundance between control and patient samples. Control samples contain more white cells where abundance is close to 0. Furthermore, the row -9 of patient samples reveals more high abundance than control samples.

On Figure III.7, we show species distribution corresponding to phylum, class and order. The phylum Firmicutes which is colored in green (index 8, see Table III.5) contains the most species (247), following by Proteobacteria (index 10, yellow), and Bacteroidetes (index 4, the blue which has coordinates from -5 to -1) with 105 and 100 species, respectively. In order to illustrate the abundance into these 2-D figures, we plot them into Figure III.9 and Figure III.8 taking 2 samples of 78 (control) and 93 (patient) as an example. We exhibit phylum abundance in Figure III.8 while Figure III.9 reveals species abundance (see detail in Table III.5). Although Bacteroidetes (blue) only consists of 100 species, it shows the highest abundance in both samples. Verrucomicrobia is a significant difference between 2 these samples. In Figure III.8, we observe Verrucomicrobia as a small red dot in the right of Figure III.8A. Going deeply into species abundance in Figure III.9, we notice a yellow bar in patient (the red bar) is one of highest abundance in sample 93 while in sample 78, this species reveals a low abundance as a tiny yellow dot in the 3D plot.

Table III.6 exposes results of Fill-up with random ordering and phylogenetic sorting. We can see that there is no significant difference between 2 types of arranging species



Figure III.7 Visualization based on Fill-up of average species abundance visualized by phylogenetic ordering (binned by SPB) and distributions of 16 Phylum OTUs, 27 Class OTUs, and 40 Order OTUs on CIR dataset (The names and indexes of color of phylum, class, order taxa are listed in Table III.5, B.1, B.2). Each OTU is presented by a distinct color

	Bins	Model	Color	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
Fill-up *	PR	CNN	BW	0.880	0.747	0.837	0.674	0.673	0.724	0.756
Fill-up	PR	CNN	BW	0.880	0.763	0.841	0.669	0.666	0.667	0.748
Fill-up *	SPB	CNN	grays	0.903	0.768	0.840	0.673	0.666	0.739	0.765
Fill-up	SPB	CNN	grays	0.905	0.793	0.868	0.680	0.651	0.705	0.767
Fill-up *	PR	$\mathrm{FC}$	BW	0.867	0.744	0.834	0.664	0.649	0.699	0.743
Fill-up	PR	$\mathrm{FC}$	BW	0.863	0.735	0.842	0.672	0.656	0.712	0.747
Fill-up *	SPB	$\mathrm{FC}$	grays	0.887	0.758	0.853	0.677	0.646	0.711	0.755
Fill-up	SPB	FC	grays	0.888	0.772	0.847	0.686	0.652	0.716	0.760

Table III.6 – Comparison between random sorting (Fill-up\*) and phylogenetically ordering. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3.

for CIR, OBE and T2D. We calculated paired t-tests for comparison, and found that IBD in phylogenetic order shows a significant improvement compared to sorting species randomly for SPB and gray images, while for other approaches, phylogenetic arrangement also shows a slight increase in performance. COL also reveals similar patterns to IBD, while WT2 works well on random sorting when using CNN.

#### III.4.2.2 Visualization based on dimensionality reduction algorithms

Besides the Fill-up, we also use dimensionality reduction algorithms to visualize features. Data visualization is a good way to see the structures of data so that with the visualized shape of data probably enhances the learning to get a better performance. High-dimensional datasets such as metagenomics are usually very difficult to explore and to interpret corresponding machine learning models. However, we can try to investigate data while plotting them in two or three dimensional space. A key idea of this approach



Figure III.8 Visualization in 3D of phylum distribution consisting of coordinates and phylum abundance from (A) a control sample (78th sample) and (B) a patient sample (93rd sample) of CIR dataset with 2 different viewing angles. Each phylum is presented by a color. Abundance and name of phylum are in detail in Table III.5



Figure III.9 Visualization in 3D of phylum distribution including positions and species abundance from (A) the control sample (78th) and (B) the patient sample (93rd) of CIR dataset with 2 different viewing angles. Each phylum is presented by a color. Abundance and name of phylum are in detail in Table III.5

is that we can find the structures of high-dimensional data shaped in 2D images where deep learning techniques for images can be applied to improve prediction results. Besides unsupervised dimensionality reduction as above, we also apply a supervised version with Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) [148, 146, 145, 147] algorithm which fits a Gaussian density to each class, and supposing that all classes reveal the same covariance matrix. Each group can be a higher relative level of a group of organisms in a taxonomic hierarchy such as genus, family, order and so on.

Figure III.10 visualizes average species abundance of 232 samples in CIR dataset with different methods such as MDS, PCA, Isomap, T-SNE, NMF and LDA with various labels using different levels of OTUs. We observe that the t-SNE performs well in both SPB (using original abundance) and QTF (transformed data). For original abundance, t-SNE reveals the best among considered algorithms. MDS seems to take the second place, while the others exhibit poor visualization with numerous overlapped points. For transformed abundance, t-SNE meets a problem with large values (red and yellow points in the maps) while MDS, Isomap and PCA show similar visualizations that formed as a ball. NMF apparently extends points to corners. While MDS, PCA, T-SNE, show the lowest-highest from left-right, isomap performs oppositely. LDA in QTF that uses family or genus as labels show better results compared to SPB. This proves that LDA is very sensitive to outliers. Observed abundance distribution with various levels of OTUs are shown on Figure III.11 and Figure III.12. The authors stated in [153] that "taxa relative abundance values are distributed in a non-normal way", we also see that abundance distribution seems to not follow taxa information at higher levels than species. When we provide the labels for the supervised dimensionality reduction algorithm LDA with various levels, only the result with labels with the lowest level, genus, obtains some relative clear clusters of genus to distinct a vast of species. We suppose that the newly created images illustrated on Figure III.10, can be of a help to improve the classification. We hope that arranging together species that have the similar magnitude of abundance is informative, and the produced synthetic images are a reasonable input for a deep learning algorithm.

In order to apply dimensionality reduction methods to visualize high-dimensional data, first, the features of all samples in training set from raw data are transformed by a dimensionality reduction algorithm such as PCA, NMF, Random Projection, t-SNE, MDS, Isomap, LLE, LDA, or Spectral Embedding (SE) into a global map. This map is then used to generate images for training and testing data. Each species is represented as a point on the map and only species that are present are shown either in abundance or presence using the same color schemes as above. All of nonlinear manifold learning approaches such as Isomap, LLE, and so on. depend on the size of neighborhoods around each point [88] with parameters of K and  $\epsilon$  and finding an optimal value for numerous situations have been still investigating. The global maps are built based on training sets with the number of neighbors to consider for each point of 5 (this equivalents to the parameter of perplexity for t-SNE), learning rate = 100, and the number of iterations set to 300 (see examples of t-SNE images in Figure III.6). The packages for manifold learning approaches are available in scikit-learn (Python library) [16].

As seen from our experiments with the dimensionality reduction on the CIR dataset with different manifold learning algorithms at Figure III.13 and III.14, for SPB on original data, t-SNE gives the best visualization with less overlapped points while there are numerous hidden points in the others. In order to reduce the effects of overlapping problem,



Figure III.10 Average abundance map of CIR dataset visualized by MDS, PCA, Isomap, t-SNE, NMF, and LDA with SPB (A) and QTF (B). For LDA (the second rows of each A and B), we use different level OTUs for label inputs (Left-Right: phylum, class, order, family, genus). Colors are presented in the maps showing the magnitude of average species abundance with the lowest abundance colored dark blue and the largest revealed red.



Figure III.11 Visualization Comparison among of MDS, PCA, Isomap, t-SNE, NMF, and LDA with different levels of taxa using original abundance. Rows of 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 correspond to phylum, class, order, family, genus, respectively.



Figure III.12 Visualization Comparison among oof MDS, PCA, Isomap, t-SNE, NMF, and LDA with different levels of taxa using transformed abundance using QTF. Rows of 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 correspond to phylum, class, order, family, genus, respectively.



Figure III.13 Examples of Global maps (1st and 3rd rows) and samples (2nd and 4th rows) created from manifold methods (Isomap, LLE, MDS, PCA, Random projection, Spectral Embedding, and t-SNE) with SPB and QTF bins using CIR dataset. Top: Global maps. Down: images of samples created from the global maps above.

we use the "transparency trick" that suffers from a large amount of overlapped points. The transparency parameter can be fixed in the interval between 0 and 1, and it indicates the transparency of the markers plotted. A value of 0 determines all points are opaque while 1 means that transparency is not applied. In our experiments, for visualizations by manifold learning methods, we set the transparent value to 0.5.

Similar to observations from visualizations, Tables III.7, III.9, and III.8 also reveal the same results. For data without transformation, using FC model, t-SNE obtain the best on all considered datasets while the others reveal the similar results together with all average performances on 6 datasets being under 0.7. In addition, t-SNE also achieves the best performance (5 out of 6 datasets) and MDS takes the second place while other methods show poor performances. NMF exhibits the worst among all considered algorithms. There is a slight difference when we change the learning rate of t-SNE.

For BW images (PR bins), we obtain the same pattern to SPB. Furthermore, t-SNE defeats the other on most of datasets.

However, for data transformed using QTF with a uniform distribution, Isomap pro-



Figure III.14 Examples of Global maps (1st and 3rd rows) and samples (2nd and 4th rows) created from manifold methods (NMF and LDA with level different labels of OTUs) with SPB and QTF bins using CIR dataset. Top: Global maps. Down: images of samples created from the global maps above. LDA1, LDA2, LDA3, LDA4, LDA5, LDA6 correspond to the labels of Kingdom, Phylum, Class, Order, Family and genus, respectively.

duces better results than t-SNE. Two of them are LLE and SE show the worst performance in both CNN and FC models. We also illustrate results of LDA with 6 levels of OTUs for labels. As seen from Table III.11, the levels of Order, Family, Genus that are near to species reveal better performances. In Table III.9 and III.7, we show the results with the level of Family which show the best result in III.11.

Interestingly, MDS with SPB seems like to be efficient for IBD with average ACC of 0.848 (p-value < 0.0005) while, using QTF, t-SNE, NMF and PCA perform the best on T2D and Isomap seems like to be an appropriate solution to OBE and WT2. Furthermore, it is worth noting that LDA obtains the best performance on CIR.

## III.4.3 Colormaps for images

We test a variety of colormaps, namely gist\_rainbow, jet, nipy\_spectral, paired, grays, rainbow, reds, viridis, and YlGnBu for images. These colormaps are classified into two types including single-hue such as Gray and Reds, and multi-hue colormaps consisting

Algorithms	Model	Bins	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
ISOMAP	CNN	SPB	0.818	0.695	0.806	0.656	0.583	0.590	0.691
LDA	CNN	SPB	0.832	0.679	0.804	0.652	0.585	0.588	0.690
LLE	CNN	SPB	0.798	0.749	0.807	0.651	0.631	0.636	0.712
MDS	CNN	SPB	0.850	0.724	0.848	0.656	0.607	0.677	0.727
NMF	CNN	SPB	0.758	0.660	0.777	0.649	0.541	0.621	0.668
PCA	CNN	SPB	0.778	0.651	0.790	0.651	0.561	0.609	0.673
RD_PRO	CNN	SPB	0.856	0.686	0.827	0.660	0.595	0.658	0.714
SE	CNN	SPB	0.799	0.754	0.796	0.659	0.621	0.679	0.718
TSNE	CNN	SPB	0.885	0.765	0.828	0.676	0.655	0.681	0.748
TSNE*	CNN	SPB	0.877	0.761	0.809	0.679	0.664	0.686	0.746
ISOMAP	FC	SPB	0.762	0.684	0.775	0.647	0.495	0.639	0.667
LDA	FC	SPB	0.678	0.651	0.775	0.648	0.495	0.608	0.643
LLE	FC	SPB	0.731	0.744	0.775	0.660	0.535	0.646	0.682
MDS	FC	SPB	0.800	0.690	0.776	0.651	0.533	0.660	0.685
NMF	FC	SPB	0.532	0.654	0.775	0.648	0.494	0.648	0.625
PCA	FC	SPB	0.616	0.649	0.775	0.648	0.495	0.626	0.635
RD_PRO	FC	SPB	0.782	0.696	0.775	0.652	0.518	0.651	0.679
SE	FC	SPB	0.743	0.742	0.776	0.652	0.504	0.667	0.681
TSNE	FC	SPB	0.873	0.773	0.791	0.678	0.632	0.708	0.743
TSNE*	FC	SPB	0.871	0.770	0.790	0.678	0.633	0.702	0.741

Table III.7 – Performance comparison (in ACC) of manifold methods using gray images and SPB. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. TSNE\* use a learning rate of 100 while this parameter of TSNE set to 200. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3

of other colormaps. We also propose another colormap based on jet combining to black, namely *custom*. In Table III.10 and III.12, we shows the results with colormaps supported in Python library, Matplotlib [82] and the proposed colormap. Visualizations of 10 various colormaps with 10 distinct colors (10 bins) for each colormap are illustrated in Figure III.15.

For SPB bins, we see that *jet*, *custom*, and *grays* perform encouraging results both FC and CNN model. Significantly, *jet* obtains 3 significant results and perform approximately to other datasets both FC and CNN model compared to MetAML while *grays* shares the same results. Notably, *grays*, *jet* and *rainbow* appear as good solutions for CNN where the performance of CNN is greater than FC. Besides, *YlGnBu* also is a promising colormap with high performances for both CNN and FC. On another hand, *viridis* shows lower performance in both FC and CNN. In addition, the colormaps of *nipy\_spectral* and *paired* reveal the worst performance among all considered colormaps.

For QTF bins, *viridis* obtains dominant results for CNN with the best performance among all considered colormaps, while the others expose a decrease in performance of CNN compared to FC models. The single-hue colormaps (such as *grays* and *reds*), and perceptually uniform colormap (*viridis*) yield better results compared to the others. Be-

Algorithms	Model	Bins	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
ISOMAP	CNN	PR	0.601	0.639	0.808	0.649	0.572	0.593	0.644
LLE	CNN	PR	0.729	0.709	0.799	0.647	0.628	0.646	0.693
MDS	CNN	PR	0.724	0.640	0.836	0.658	0.614	0.682	0.692
NMF	CNN	PR	0.540	0.634	0.785	0.647	0.530	0.613	0.625
PCA	CNN	PR	0.552	0.622	0.786	0.650	0.558	0.586	0.626
RD_PRO	CNN	PR	0.716	0.635	0.825	0.652	0.588	0.654	0.678
SE	CNN	PR	0.736	0.711	0.787	0.664	0.619	0.673	0.698
TSNE	CNN	PR	0.865	0.701	0.815	0.659	0.640	0.680	0.727
TSNE*	CNN	PR	0.862	0.712	0.815	0.664	0.660	0.672	0.731
ISOMAP	FC	PR	0.605	0.634	0.791	0.647	0.539	0.610	0.638
LLE	FC	PR	0.717	0.716	0.782	0.653	0.590	0.658	0.686
MDS	FC	PR	0.723	0.644	0.806	0.659	0.587	0.662	0.680
NMF	FC	PR	0.531	0.624	0.778	0.648	0.502	0.613	0.616
PCA	FC	PR	0.559	0.625	0.781	0.648	0.527	0.623	0.627
RD_PRO	FC	PR	0.708	0.652	0.804	0.654	0.571	0.655	0.674
SE	FC	PR	0.726	0.709	0.803	0.658	0.575	0.655	0.688
TSNE	FC	PR	0.859	0.713	0.818	0.662	0.633	0.681	0.728
TSNE*	FC	PR	0.857	0.710	0.813	0.662	0.640	0.688	0.728

Table III.8 – Performance comparison (in ACC) of manifold methods using gray images and PR. TSNE\* uses a learning rate of 200 while this parameter of TSNE set to 100. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3

sides, such single-hue colormaps share the same pattern in performance. Interestingly, our proposed colormap outperforms jet and takes the second place among all performance of CNN using QTF bins.

As observed from Figure III.15 and descriptions in [82], we can see clearly that *gist\_rainbow* and *paired* colormaps are not perceptually uniform; these palettes tend to appear several "kinks" where the apparent color changes quickly over a short range of values while viridis stands out for its large perceptual range. The characteristics of viridis enables us to leverage the available color space as much as possible while maintaining uniformity. The results suggest that multi-hue colormaps can provide improved discrimination and classification. We propose to use *jet*, and *grays* for SPB and *viridis* for QTF bins that shaped as a uniform distribution.

We also examined some colormaps on visualizations based on dimensionality reduction methods (see Table III.13). As observed from Table III.13, t-SNE reveals an better overall performance in SPB compared to QTF. Color images seems to improve slight results, but the performance of CNN is lower than FC, while, in contrast to gray images, CNN achieve better FC using SPB. It is worthy to note that t-SNE using QTF with jet colormap reach to significant results on T2D while Fill-up performs poorly on this dataset. Other results on LDA, NMF, MDS, PCA, and Isomap are presented in Table C.4, C.6, C.7, C.5, respectively, of Appendices.
Algorithms	Model	Bins	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
ISOMAP	CNN	QTF	0.889	0.743	0.815	0.691	0.657	0.712	0.751
LDA	CNN	QTF	0.900	0.746	0.809	0.671	0.661	0.675	0.744
LLE	CNN	QTF	0.846	0.719	0.806	0.661	0.615	0.648	0.716
MDS	CNN	QTF	0.881	0.741	0.816	0.685	0.667	0.670	0.743
NMF	CNN	QTF	0.883	0.742	0.826	0.665	0.683	0.635	0.739
PCA	CNN	QTF	0.890	0.744	0.815	0.661	0.678	0.686	0.745
RD_PRO	CNN	QTF	0.883	0.733	0.824	0.673	0.660	0.675	0.741
SE	CNN	QTF	0.866	0.697	0.791	0.665	0.592	0.673	0.714
TSNE	CNN	QTF	0.865	0.737	0.824	0.659	0.674	0.662	0.737
TSNE*	CNN	QTF	0.875	0.747	0.809	0.664	0.672	0.651	0.736
ISOMAP	FC	QTF	0.871	0.742	0.793	0.688	0.646	0.689	0.738
LDA	FC	QTF	0.873	0.736	0.792	0.679	0.631	0.687	0.733
LLE	FC	QTF	0.850	0.714	0.776	0.660	0.564	0.627	0.699
MDS	FC	QTF	0.889	0.767	0.782	0.668	0.637	0.685	0.738
NMF	FC	QTF	0.893	0.756	0.790	0.676	0.655	0.686	0.743
PCA	FC	QTF	0.893	0.749	0.796	0.669	0.654	0.684	0.741
RD_PRO	FC	QTF	0.876	0.751	0.785	0.678	0.624	0.694	0.734
SE	FC	QTF	0.851	0.702	0.776	0.651	0.512	0.675	0.695
TSNE	FC	QTF	0.867	0.771	0.791	0.663	0.646	0.701	0.740
TSNE*	FC	QTF	0.873	0.764	0.787	0.664	0.647	0.686	0.737

Table III.9 – Performance comparison (in ACC) of manifold methods using gray images and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. TSNE\* uses a learning rate of 200 while this parameter of TSNE set to 100. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3



Figure III.15 Visualization of 10 bins using a variety of colormaps to visualize features on CIR dataset  $(24 \times 24 \text{ images})$ .

Model	Color	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
CNN	custom	0.897	0.782	0.857	0.673	0.658	0.707	0.762
CNN	gist_rainbow	0.886	0.791	0.835	0.666	0.653	0.670	0.750
CNN	Grays	0.905	0.793	0.868	0.680	0.651	0.705	0.767
CNN	jet	0.903	0.798	0.863	0.681	0.649	0.713	0.768
CNN	nipy_spectral	0.872	0.757	0.811	0.652	0.647	0.657	0.733
CNN	Paired	0.838	0.728	0.798	0.655	0.637	0.622	0.713
CNN	rainbow	0.893	0.775	0.865	0.668	0.635	0.712	0.758
CNN	reds	0.890	0.773	0.851	0.664	0.660	0.704	0.757
CNN	viridis	0.880	0.765	0.823	0.662	0.645	0.651	0.738
CNN	YlGnBu	0.895	0.774	0.852	0.666	0.654	0.704	0.758
FC	custom	0.904	0.805	0.835	0.676	0.647	0.709	0.763
FC	gist_rainbow	0.894	0.791	0.834	0.679	0.638	0.695	0.755
FC	Grays	0.888	0.772	0.847	0.686	0.652	0.716	0.760
FC	jet	0.905	0.794	0.837	0.679	0.659	0.713	0.764
FC	nipy_spectral	0.880	0.753	0.822	0.665	0.627	0.732	0.747
FC	Paired	0.831	0.714	0.806	0.666	0.598	0.684	0.716
FC	rainbow	0.899	0.759	0.847	0.677	0.631	0.705	0.753
FC	reds	0.893	0.782	0.845	0.676	0.647	0.731	0.762
FC	viridis	0.895	0.764	0.841	0.683	0.636	0.704	0.754
FC	YlGnBu	0.895	0.776	0.847	0.676	0.650	0.723	0.761

Table III.10 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using Fill-up and SPB. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in IV.4.3

	Level of Label	Cir	Col	Ibd	Obe	T2D	Wt2	AVG
Lda	1	0.810	0.709	0.774	0.654	0.504	0.648	0.683
Lda	2	0.838	0.762	0.788	0.660	0.512	0.681	0.707
Lda	3	0.868	0.739	0.793	0.667	0.581	0.673	0.720
Lda	4	0.873	0.746	0.796	0.669	0.603	0.688	0.729
Lda	5	0.873	0.736	0.792	0.679	0.631	0.687	0.733
Lda	6	0.867	0.749	0.786	0.667	0.577	0.707	0.726

Table III.11 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of different levels of OTUs using LDA, QTF, and FC model. Levels of 1,2,3,4,5,6 correspond to the labels of Kingdom, Phylum, Class, Order, Family and genus, respectively. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

Model	Color	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
CNN	Custom	0.903	0.776	0.818	0.660	0.679	0.654	0.748
CNN	gist_rainbow	0.896	0.777	0.827	0.655	0.671	0.661	0.748
CNN	Grays	0.906	0.768	0.821	0.672	0.660	0.659	0.748
CNN	jet	0.909	0.769	0.825	0.648	0.665	0.650	0.744
CNN	nipy_spectral	0.878	0.718	0.807	0.647	0.602	0.623	0.713
CNN	Paired	0.854	0.720	0.796	0.668	0.652	0.679	0.728
CNN	rainbow	0.896	0.767	0.816	0.646	0.664	0.665	0.743
CNN	reds	0.901	0.762	0.818	0.659	0.676	0.669	0.747
CNN	viridis	0.897	0.781	0.837	0.659	0.664	0.690	0.755
CNN	YlGnBu	0.902	0.760	0.822	0.656	0.666	0.682	0.748
FC	Custom	0.896	0.789	0.831	0.665	0.673	0.683	0.756
FC	gist_rainbow	0.887	0.783	0.828	0.661	0.639	0.678	0.746
FC	Grays	0.897	0.771	0.843	0.680	0.666	0.687	0.757
FC	jet	0.903	0.779	0.845	0.661	0.673	0.640	0.750
FC	nipy_spectral	0.872	0.697	0.822	0.657	0.591	0.677	0.719
FC	Paired	0.836	0.728	0.829	0.663	0.613	0.726	0.733
FC	rainbow	0.906	0.782	0.845	0.660	0.667	0.657	0.753
FC	reds	0.898	0.788	0.841	0.664	0.656	0.694	0.757
FC	viridis	0.887	0.765	0.853	0.657	0.640	0.711	0.752
FC	YlGnBu	0.905	0.784	0.844	0.664	0.661	0.698	0.759

Table III.12 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using Fill-up and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

# III.5 Closing remarks

In this chapter, we introduced **Met2Img** framework with several dimensionality reduction and projection into 2D. We discussed the way to generate synthetic images from metagenomic abundance data. First, our numerical results show that the Fill-up method outperforms the approaches based on dimensionality reduction because all points using Fill-up are visible while other dimensionality reduction techniques suffer from the fact that some points are overlapping in 2D. Second, the Fill-up approach integrates prior knowledge on the phylogenetic classification of the features. In addition, the images based on manifolds learning are more complex than the Fill-up images. However, we got some encouraging results using the dimensionality reduction methods on T2D and OBE data sets, that are in fact better than the ones obtained with the Fill-up.

We also discussed five binning methods that are conducted from three approaches: abundance distribution, transformation and one-hot encoding. The bins and images generation approaches are constructed and produced using training data only, thus avoiding over-fitting issues. For methods based on abundance distribution, we compare two ways including using original abundance (EQW) and utilizing logarithm (SPB). Transformation algorithms are also studied with linear (MMS) and non-linear approaches (QTF). As

	Model	Bins	Colors	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
TSNE	CNN	SPB	custom	0.882	0.777	0.821	0.685	0.661	0.678	0.751
TSNE	CNN	SPB	jet	0.887	0.779	0.819	0.680	0.650	0.685	0.750
TSNE	CNN	SPB	viridis	0.881	0.746	0.814	0.664	0.650	0.667	0.737
TSNE	CNN	SPB	grays	0.885	0.765	0.828	0.676	0.655	0.681	0.748
TSNE	FC	SPB	custom	0.892	0.784	0.827	0.685	0.634	0.694	0.752
TSNE	FC	SPB	jet	0.893	0.783	0.826	0.687	0.621	0.711	0.753
TSNE	FC	SPB	viridis	0.894	0.751	0.814	0.676	0.610	0.692	0.740
TSNE	FC	SPB	grays	0.873	0.773	0.791	0.678	0.632	0.708	0.743
TSNE*	CNN	SPB	custom	0.885	0.760	0.804	0.686	0.671	0.669	0.746
TSNE*	CNN	SPB	jet	0.886	0.769	0.802	0.682	0.658	0.685	0.747
TSNE*	CNN	SPB	viridis	0.875	0.743	0.823	0.675	0.650	0.674	0.740
TSNE*	CNN	SPB	grays	0.877	0.761	0.809	0.679	0.664	0.686	0.746
TSNE*	FC	SPB	custom	0.885	0.772	0.825	0.682	0.632	0.691	0.748
TSNE*	FC	SPB	jet	0.890	0.778	0.820	0.689	0.615	0.705	0.749
TSNE*	FC	SPB	viridis	0.881	0.757	0.818	0.683	0.614	0.699	0.742
TSNE*	FC	SPB	grays	0.871	0.770	0.790	0.678	0.633	0.702	0.741
TSNE	CNN	QTF	viridis	0.869	0.753	0.821	0.646	0.673	0.670	0.739
TSNE	CNN	QTF	custom	0.854	0.745	0.827	0.656	0.661	0.664	0.735
TSNE	CNN	QTF	jet	0.870	0.748	0.820	0.654	0.690	0.660	0.741
TSNE	CNN	QTF	grays	0.865	0.737	0.824	0.659	0.674	0.662	0.737
TSNE	FC	QTF	viridis	0.881	0.739	0.821	0.661	0.610	0.687	0.733
TSNE	FC	QTF	custom	0.860	0.759	0.836	0.676	0.614	0.668	0.735
TSNE	FC	QTF	jet	0.883	0.768	0.825	0.670	0.648	0.661	0.742
TSNE	FC	QTF	grays	0.867	0.771	0.791	0.663	0.646	0.701	0.740
TSNE*	CNN	QTF	custom	0.869	0.747	0.816	0.643	0.646	0.655	0.729
TSNE*	CNN	QTF	jet	0.878	0.746	0.811	0.658	0.684	0.648	0.737
TSNE*	CNN	QTF	viridis	0.870	0.762	0.821	0.658	0.669	0.651	0.739
TSNE*	CNN	QTF	grays	0.875	0.747	0.809	0.664	0.672	0.651	0.736
TSNE*	FC	QTF	custom	0.872	0.761	0.844	0.667	0.607	0.661	0.735
TSNE*	FC	QTF	viridis	0.878	0.741	0.812	0.658	0.604	0.675	0.728
TSNE*	FC	QTF	jet	0.889	0.770	0.825	0.660	0.638	0.650	0.739
TSNE*	FC	QTF	grays	0.873	0.764	0.787	0.664	0.647	0.686	0.737

Table III.13 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using t-SNE. TSNE\* uses a learning rate of 200 while this parameter of TSNE set to 100. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

demonstrated in results, QTF and SPB are promising binning methods for metagenomic data.

A diverse range of colormaps are investigated. The *jet, rainbow, viridis* are good choices, but CNN often underperform FC for color images, while *grays* usually yields better performance in CNN.

# Chapter IV Deep Learning for Metagenomics

# Contents

IV.1 Introduction	<b>52</b>
IV.2 Related work	<b>53</b>
IV.2.1 Machine learning for Metagenomics	53
IV.2.2 Convolutional Neural Networks	56
IV.3 Metagenomic data benchmarks	65
IV.4 CNN architectures and models used in the experiments	67
IV.4.1 Convolutional Neural Networks	67
IV.4.2 One-dimensional case	69
IV.4.3 Two-dimensional case	70
IV.4.4 Experimental Setup	71
IV.5 Results	<b>74</b>
IV.5.1 Comparing to the-state-of-the-art (MetAML)	74
IV.5.2 Comparing to shallow learning algorithms	83
IV.5.3 Applying Met2Img on Sokol's lab data	83
IV.5.4 Applying Met2Img on selbal's datasets	86
IV.5.5 The results with gene-families abundance	86
IV.6 Closing remarks	92

Abstract: Deep learning (DL) techniques have shown unprecedented success when applied to images, waveforms, and text. Generally, when the sample size (N) is much bigger than the number of features (d), DL often outperforms other machine learning (ML) techniques, often through the use of Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN). However, in many bioinformatics fields (including metagenomics), we encounter the opposite situation where d is significantly greater than N. In these situations, applying DL techniques would lead to severe over-fitting. Here we aim to improve classification of various diseases with metagenomic data through the use of CNN. The proposed **Met2Img** approach relies on taxonomic and dimensionality reduction embeddings to transform abundance data into "synthetic images" presented in Chapter III. In this chapter, we investigate various architectures of CNN to perform classification tasks on the proposed visualizations.

We applied our approach to 25 benchmark data sets divided into 5 groups (A,B,C, D and E) including more than 5000 metagenomic samples. Our results show significant improvements over the state-of-the-art algorithms (Random Forest (RF), Support Vector Machine (SVM)). We observe that the integration of phylogenetic information alongside abundance data improves the classification. The proposed approach is not only important in classification setting but also allows to visualize complex metagenomic data. The Met2Img is implemented in Python.

# **IV.1** Introduction

High throughput data acquisition in the biomedical field has revolutionized research and applications in medicine and biotechnology. Also known as "omics" data, they reflect different aspects of systems biology (genomics, transcriptomics, metabolomics, proteomics, etc.) but also whole biological ecosystems acquired through metagenomics. There is an increasing number of datasets which are publicly available. Different statistical methods have been applied to classify patients from controls[57] and some have also performed meta-analyses on multiple datasets [18]. However, exploring omics data is challenging, since the number of features d is very large, and the number of observations N is small. Up to now, the most successful techniques applied to omics datasets have been mainly Random Forest (RF), and sparse regression.

In this chapter, we evaluated all proposed representations on six metagenomic datasets in group A, which reflect bacterial species abundance and presence in the gut of diseased patients and healthy controls. Then, we apply our method to additional datasets of colorectal cancer (group B), additional datasets with *genus* abundance (group C), and datasets on gene families abundance (group D). Since DL performs particularly well for image classification, we focused in this work in the use of CNN applied to images. For this purpose, we first searched for ways to represent metagenomic data as "synthetic" images (see Chapter III) and second applied CNN techniques to learn representations of the data that could be used next for classification purposes.

Here, we present the **Met2Img** framework based on *Fill-up* and manifold learning methods (such as t-SNE [3]) to visualize features into images. Our objectives were to propose efficient representations which produce compact and informative images, and to prove DL techniques as efficient tools for prediction tasks in the context of metagenomics. Our contribution is multi-fold:

- We propose a visualization approach for metagenomic data (see Chapter III) which shows significant results on 5 out of 6 datasets (except for colorectal cancer (COL)) compared to MetAML [18].
- Although, Met2Img shows not so good results for COL in group A compared to shallow learning algorithms such as RF, the framework reveals significant improvements compared to analysis in [37] (using SVM) and 4 out of 5 datasets for RF model when increasing the number of considered features.
- We illustrate that the proposed method not only performs competitively on species abundance data but also shows significant improvements compared to the state-of-

the-art, Ph-CNN, on genus-level taxonomy abundance with six various classification tasks on IBD dataset published in [11].

- The results on gene families abundance also expose a potential benefits in term of accuracy and execution time. The performance on the data reduced dimension gives a reasonable result compared to the original data although the dimension is reduced to more 2,000 times. Furthermore, gene families abundance in very compact images also demonstrates high efficiency with 3 significant results compared to RF.
- The experiments show that CNN outperform standard shallow learning algorithms such as RF and SVM. This proves that deep learning is a promising ML technique for metagenomics.

The chapter is organized as follows. Related work on machine learning for metagenomics and literature review on Convolutional Neural Networks are presented in IV.2. In Section IV.3, we describe five groups consisting of 25 considered datasets in details. The proposed methods are introduced in Section IV.4 including the proposed architectures for CNN are conducted from datasets in group A. We show our results in Section IV.5. In this section, we evaluate all representations on six datasets in group A including 1D and 2D data, and apply algorithms such as LIME [29], Saliency Maps [113, 34] and Gradient-weighted Class Activation Mapping (Grad-CAM [33]) to find explanations for the prediction tasks. Furthermore, an analysis on gene abundance (group D) is also taken in account using dimensionality reduction algorithms and very highly compressed images. Additionally, we illustrate the performance of our approach on five datasets in group B related to colorectal cancer disease with species-level abundance and another additional datasets consisting of six classification tasks on IBD with genus-level abundance (group C). We also compare Met2Img to selbal [194] on datasets with read counts (group E). Finally, conclusion is presented in the Section IV.6.

# **IV.2** Related work

# **IV.2.1** Machine learning for Metagenomics

The development of complexity and variability of metagenomics has been increasing in recent years. This leads to high requirements for computations. An increase of use of modern machine learning to solve the problems of metagenomics is more and more extended. There are five important metagenomics problems that were presented in [48] including Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU)-clustering [107, 95, 108], binning, taxonomic profiling and assignment [94], comparative metagenomics [103, 102, 100, 101] and gene prediction [104, 105, 106]. These problems are related to three types of machine learning tasks such as classification, clustering and dimensionality reduction. These three types are listed in Figure IV.1. A large number of studies have attempted to propose and develop computational methods based on machine learning applying to metagenomics. In fact, machine learning is considered as a good methodology to explorer patterns and build predictive models for classification in metagenomics. Nowadays, machine learning has been providing numerous promising tools for designing predictive models to perform prediction tasks on biological data.

	Representations	Learning	Applications example	Tools example
Classification/ Regression	Instances	k-NN	binning, OTU clustering	DOTUR
		Support Vector Machines	gene prediction, Comparative MG	MetaDistance
	Linear models	linear regression	binning	Tetra
		logistic regression	gene prediction, Comparative MG	MetaGene, MetaPhyl
		large scale linear model	taxonomic assignment	Vowpal Wabbit
	Decision trees	Random Forest	taxonomic assignment	16S Classifier
	Neural networks	neural networks	gene prediction	Orphelia
	Network	Hidden Markov Model	gene prediction	FragGeneScan
		Interpolated Markov Model	binning, gene prediction	Glimmer-MG, SCIMM
Dimension reduction	Linear combinations of features	РСА	binning	CONCOCT
		SVD	binning	LSA
Clustering	Means	k-means	binning	SCIMM, MetaCluster
	Medoids	k-medoids	binning	MultiBin
	Dendrogram	hierarchical clustering	OTU clustering	ESPRIT, MOTUR
	Mixtures / Soft partitions / Likelihoods	Gaussian mixture models	binning	CONCOCT
		Bayesian clustering / stochastic search clustering	OTU clustering, binning	CROP,BACDNAS, BEBaC, LikelyBin
		spectral clustering	binning	CompostBin
	NA	greedy heuristic clustering	binning, OTU clustering	DNAClust, USEARCH

Figure IV.1 Some examples of approaches based on machine learning to metagenomics. The figure is provided from [48].

The authors in [48] also provided general principles in machine learning fundamentals. A typical machine learning program includes experience (data), task (in the form of an output of the algorithm), and objective (formed as performance measurement of a given output. Flach in [44] pointed out some requirements to build a program to learn how to revolve a given problem. First of all, data for learning needs to be mapped to features formed representation as input. A *model* receives the input and maps to an output. Some example data (called as *training data*) is provided to a learning algorithm to attempt to indicate an optimal model from a hypothesis space. In [4, 78], a typical pipeline for classification tasks was suggested including preprocessing, then feature extraction, followed by classification or clustering. In feature extraction, raw data was transformed by mathematical transformation. A new shape of data helps predictors to perform prediction task easier. In some cases, if scientists have obtained knowledge from the domain, they are able to apply several ways such as heuristics and/or hand picking to select a subset from these features to be more informative to the models (feature selection). In the following step, one or more algorithms of classification (such as SVM, k-NN, neural networks) and/or clustering (k-means, spectral clustering) are applied to such features. Several other studies on metagenomics are introduced as below.



Figure IV.2 A typical pipeline suggested in [4].

The authors in [78] experimented using a deep belief network and recursive neural network and proved these as appropriate approach for metagenomics. In [18], Edoardo et al. proposed a computational framework for prediction tasks using quantitative microbiome profiles consisting of species-level relative abundances and presence of strain-specific markers. The potential benefits of microbiome analysis are promising tools for diagnostics. Additionally, indicating the relationships between the microbiome and specific diseases is crucial for next machine learning studies.

The computational framework (MetAML tool) [18] was designed based on machine learning classifiers such as support vector machines (SVMs), random forest (RFs), Lasso, and Elastic Net (ENet). Cross-validation and cross-study were to measure the prediction strength of metagenomic data and compare the generalization of the model between various studies. For cross-validation, accuracies were measured by 10-fold cross validation, repeated. A set of evaluations including Overall Accuracy (OA), precision, recall, F1, and area under the curve (AUC) and other tools such as receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve plots, confusion matrices, plots of the most relevant features in addition to average relative abundances, and heat map figures were to measure the performance. In cross-validation, samples were divided randomly into k subsets (k folds) with the same size. A subset aimed to test and the training used the remaining k-1 subsets. This is repeated k times until each fold all used for testing with only one time. The performance was measured by a average value of k results of testing.

A metagenomic dataset usually contains bacterial DNA sequences obtained from an ecosystem such as the intestinal microbiome for instance. These sequences are usually transformed using Bioinformatics pipelines into a vector representing the abundance of a set of features (species or other taxonomic groups). One approach of conversion from sequences to vectors removed short and low quality score reads from the whole collection of sequences. Then, the remainder is clustered with CD-HIT [6], for example into non redundant representative sequences - usually called a catalog. Reads are typically aligned to the catalog and counted. Annotation algorithms are applied to the catalog allowing to infer abundance on different taxonomic levels. NAST [9] was used to align these representative sequences, then they were collected into taxonomic classifications by algorithms such as Ribosomal Database Project's or Naïve Bayes [13]. Other groups have also tackled the use of DL in classifying metagenomic data. For instance, some authors introduced approaches to design a tree like structure for data sets of metagenomics learned by neural networks. A study in [37] identified a group of bacteria that is consistently related to Colorectal Cancer (COL) and revealed potential diagnosis of this disease across multiple populations and classified COL cases with a SVM model using the seven COL-enriched bacterial species. However, applying DL to metagenomics is a challenge as the authors in [78] stated: "deep learning approaches may not be suitable for metagenomics application" due to the lack of significant results. The authors in [11] introduced a novel DL approach, Ph-CNN, for classification of metagenomics using hierarchical structure of Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU). The performance of Ph-CNN is promising compared to SVM, RF and a fully connected neural network. Derek Reiman et al. [83] proposed PopPhy-CNN with 2D matrix generated by embeddings based on phylogenetic tree for predicting host phenotype from metagenomic samples. This framework show the superior performance compared to RF, SVM, Lasso, and 1 baseline CNN-1D on three metagenomic datasets using relative abundance of microbial taxa. For the DNA sequencing process, deep learning have also been playing a important role to speed up this process with a review presented in [92]. In [187], the authors introduced DeepVirFinder including a convolutional layer, a pooling layer, a fully connected layer along with some dropout layers to predict viral sequences. Yoshua B. stated [45] that the performance of prediction tasks depends on selecting representations, numerous studies have attempted to propose efficient representations. Montavon et al [144] presented invariant representations of molecules to perform prediction tasks on atomization energy. In our study, we use representations based on images to perform classification tasks.

# IV.2.2 Convolutional Neural Networks

Image classification based on ML has obtained great achievements and there are numerous studies attempting to propose architectures to improve the performance. In 1990, LeCun et al. in [84] established a modern framework of CNN. They also proposed LeNet-5 that used to classify handwritten digits [85]. However, because of lacking of large training data and limitations of computer processors, CNN were not able to show good performances on more complex problems [65] such as large-scale images and video recognitions. Since 2006, numerous studies have been proposing and developing a variety of techniques to overcome the challenges in training deep CNN. Alex et al. in [41] introduced a deep and big CNN (including 60 million parameters) which performed on a very large dataset with 1.2 million color images of 224x224 in ImageNet LSVRC-2010. The architectures consisted of 5 convolutional and 3 fully connected layers. The network achieved top-1 and top-5 error rates of 37.5% and 17%, respectively. The authors in [31] presented a novel technique (ZFNet) for visualizing feature maps through convolutional layers, and investigated how to improve the performance of Convolutional Neural Networks (convnet). A team at Google in 2014 proposed GoogLeNet [40], a very deep architecture of CNN with 22 layers that won the ImageNet Large-Scale Visual Recognition Challenge 2014 (ILSVRC14). In [60], the authors presented how depth affects the performance of CNN (VGGNet). The authors designed deep architectures of CNN with very small convolutions (3x3) and achieved top-1 validation error and top-5 validation error were 23.7% and 6.8%, respectively. The authors in [25] introduced a residual learning framework (ResNet) that was up to 152 layers but being less complex. ResNet won the 1st places on the ILSVRC 2015 and COCO 2015 competitions. In [97], authors introduced a set of information to design deep neural networks more efficient with an analysis of important metrics in practical applications including accuracy, memory footprint, parameters, operations count, inference time and power consumption. Among their most interesting results are the ideas to use batches for learning, and a hyperbolic relationship between accuracy and inference time where

a small increase in accuracy led to a significant growth in computational time. Hao Li et al. investigated the structure of neural loss functions. They found the effects of loss landscapes on generalization and introduced some visualizations for loss functions[98].

In the following sections, we describe several famous architectures in recent years such as AlexNet, ZFNet, GooLeNet, VGGNet and ResNet.

# IV.2.2.1 AlexNet, ImageNet Classification with Deep Convolutional Neural Networks

Alex et al. in [41] presented a deep and big CNN (including 60 million parameters) which performed on a huge dataset with 1.2 million color images of 224×224 in ImageNet LSVRC-2010. The architectures consisted of 5 convolutional layers and 3 fully connected layers. They used some novel and unusual features for their architecture:

- ReLU Nonlinearity: The authors stated that the non-saturating nonlinearity f(x) = max(0, x) (referred as Rectified Linear Units (ReLUs) [86]) makes the learning faster than the saturating nonlinearities such as Tanh f(x) = tanh(x) or Sigmoid  $f(x) = \frac{1}{(1+e^{-x})}$ . An experiment that was to compare the training time between ReLU and Tanh showed that the network with ReLUs was six times faster than the network with Tanh.
- Using multi-GPUs: Due to limitations of GPU's memory (only 3GB for a single GTX 580 GPU) and the large training examples (1.2 million images of 224×224), one GPU was not enough to fit dataset. Hence, authors distributed the network to both 2 GPUs (Each GPU was installed half of the kernels/neurons and communicated in some specific layers).
- Local Response Normalization: The authors observed the local normalization scheme that was able to improve generalization.
- Overlapping Pooling: The traditional pooling was  $z \times z$  with step = z that usually appears in commonly CNN. In the proposed architecture, the authors used the pooling of 3x3 with step=2 that reduced the error rates by 0.4%.

In overall architecture (Figure IV.3), the first convolutional layer contained 96 filters of  $3 \times 11 \times 11$  with a stride of 4 pixels. The second convolutional layer included 256 kernels of  $48 \times 5 \times 5$  (on each GPU). After performing max pooling, the output of feature maps was  $27 \times 27$ . The third, fourth, fifth convolutional layer both had the size of  $3 \times 3$  with the number of filter 384, 384, 256 respectively. There were 4096 neurons for each fully-connected layer. Softmax in the last layer was to classify 1000 class labels. To reduce overfitting for a huge convolutional neural network with a high number of parameters (60 million parameters), authors applied two primary approaches including Data Augmentation and Dropout [28, 55]. Two fully connected layers were applied dropout with probability 0.5. It took a double of iterations to converge when applying dropout.

Setting of learning: Stochastic gradient descent with a batch size of 128 examples, momentum of 0.9, and weight decay of 0.0005 were installed in the network. The weights were initialized in each layer with a zero-mean Gaussian distribution (standard deviation of 0.01), while the biases in the second, fourth, fifth convolutional layers and fully-connected



Figure IV.3 The architecture of ImageNet on 2 GPUs with input including images of  $3 \times 224 \times 224$ , and 1000 outputs of classes proposed in [41].

layers were set to 1. They started the learning rate at 0.01, then dividing by 10 when the validation error did not decrease.

Results: The ILSVRC classification challenge is a prediction task to predict 1000 categories with 1.2 million images for training, 50,000 for validation and 100,000 for testing. The descriptions and evaluation of ILSVRC were described in detail in [40]. The highest scoring classifier was used to evaluate the performance with 2 reported results: the top-1 accuracy rate that compared the ground truth with the first predicted category, while the top-5 error rate compared the ground truth with the first 5 predicted categories. In the top-5 error rate, an image was considered as a correct prediction if the ground truth is among the top-5. ILSVRC used this measurement (the top-5) to rank architectures. The network achieved top-1 and top-5 error rates of 37.5% and 17%, respectively.

### IV.2.2.2 ZFNet, Visualizing and Understanding Convolutional Networks

In this study [14], the authors presented a novel technique for Visualizing feature maps through convolutional layers, and investigated how to improve the performance of Convolutional Neural Networks (convnet). Deconvolutional Network (deconvnet) [7] was used to visualize the results from convolutions. Each convolutional layer attached a deconvnet to back to image pixels (Figure IV.4). The authors used unpool, rectify and filter to reconstruct the activity in the layer. These actions were looped until input pixel space is reached.

- Unpooling: In the convnet, the max pooling operation was non-invertible, so the authors recorded the locations where values was maximum within each pooling area to invert approximately. For the deconvnet, these switches put the reconstructions from the given layer to appropriate positions.
- Rectification: In the convnet, ReLU made values in feature maps to be always positive. In the deconvnet, the reconstructed signal was passed through a ReLU to get valid feature reconstructions.
- Filtering: In the convnet, feature maps were generated by convolutions of filters. In the deconvnet, transposed filters (were flipped vertically and horizontally) did not

apply to the output from the under layer, but applied to the rectified feature maps.

The architecture used to visualize in Figure IV.5 is similar to AlexNet [41]. The network took images of 224x224 as input with mini batch size of 128. The learning rate was initialized at 0.01 with momentum 0.9. Dropout rate of 0.5 was applied to fully connected layers. The results showed that with smaller stride and filter size enabled to produce distinctive features and fewer "dead" features. There was a relatively small difference when eliminating Layer 6, 7 (fully connected layers). Also, the network with removing two of the middle convolutional (Layer 3,4) gave a slight decrease in accuracy but removing both the layer 3,4 (middle layers) and Layer 6, 7 (fully connected layers) caused the network to perform a poor performance. Additionally, changing the number of units in fully connected layer or expanding the width of middle convolutional layer might improve the performance, but increasing both these leads to overfitting.

#### IV.2.2.3 Inception Architecture

The primary idea was finding the optimal local construction and repeating it spatially. Current incarnations of the Inception architecture used restrictedly kernels with sizes  $1 \times 1$ ,  $3\times3$  and  $5\times5$  keep away from patch-alignment problems. In addition, pooling operations were useful in previous studies, so adding an alternative parallel pooling path in each such stage might obtain additional positive points. Higher layers explored higher abstractions, the concentrated region was expected to decline. Therefore, the ratio of  $3\times3$  and  $5\times5$ convolutions were suggested to rise when shifting to higher layers. However, this was very expensive, even for a modest number of 5x5 convolutions. This issue is easy to find when pooling units are added to the architectures. Therefore, the authors suggested to apply dimension reduction and projections where the requirement for computation might rise. They installed  $1 \times 1$  convolutions to calculate reductions before convolutions of  $3 \times 3$ and  $5 \times 5$ , and added Rectified linear activation for dual-purpose. An Inception network included these components stacked upon each other with max-pooling operations used infrequently with stride 2 to reduce the dimension of the grid. In order to use memory efficiency, using Inception modules should be only at higher layers while the others should preserve traditional convolutions. This architecture helped to increase the number of units at each stage while the complicated computation would not jump uncontrollably. Another advantage of this architecture was that data should be processed at different scales. After that, information was accumulated so that the next stage was able to explore features from various scales simultaneously.

#### IV.2.2.4 GoogLeNet, Going Deeper with Convolutions

A team of Google in 2014 proposed GoogLeNet [40], a very deep architecture of CNN with 22 layers that won the ImageNet Large-Scale Visual Recognition Challenge 2014 (ILSVRC14). GooLeNet was a specific incarnation of Inception architecture that will be described as below.

GooLeNet was a specific incarnation of the Inception architecture that was used to submit to the ILSVRC14 competition. GooleNet was developed from Inception architecture as described in Figure IV.6. Rectified linear activation was installed in all the



Figure IV.4 Top: Attachment scheme between a deconvnet and a convnet. Bottom: An example of the unpooling operation. Max locations "switches" saved the location of local max when pooling operation performed in the convnet. The figure is provided from [14].



Figure IV.5 The eight-layer architecture of ZFNet including 96 kernels of 7x7 (a stride of 2) in the first layer took images of  $224 \times 224$  as input. After being convoluted by the first convolutional layer, the feature maps passed through by a rectified linear function, performed by max pooling of 3x3, then contrast normalized across feature maps (stride 2) to generate 96 feature maps of 55x55. Layers 2,3,4,5 looped the same operations as Layer 1. Layer 6, 7 were fully connected layers, and the final layer used softmax with C outputs (classes). The figure is provided from [14].

type	patch size/ stride	output size	depth	#1×1	#3×3 reduce	#3×3	#5×5 reduce	#5×5	pool proj	params	ops
convolution	$7 \times 7/2$	$112 \times 112 \times 64$	1							2.7K	34M
max pool	$3 \times 3/2$	$56 \times 56 \times 64$	0								
convolution	$3 \times 3/1$	$56 \times 56 \times 192$	2		64	192				112K	360M
max pool	$3 \times 3/2$	$28 \times 28 \times 192$	0								
inception (3a)		$28 \times 28 \times 256$	2	64	96	128	16	32	32	159K	128M
inception (3b)		$28 \times 28 \times 480$	2	128	128	192	32	96	64	380K	304M
max pool	$3 \times 3/2$	$14 \times 14 \times 480$	0	6	0	0				3	
inception (4a)		$14 \times 14 \times 512$	2	192	96	208	16	48	64	364K	73M
inception (4b)		$14 \times 14 \times 512$	2	160	112	224	24	64	64	437K	88M
inception (4c)		$14 \times 14 \times 512$	2	128	128	256	24	64	64	463K	100M
inception (4d)		$14 \times 14 \times 528$	2	112	144	288	32	64	64	580K	119M
inception (4e)		$14 \times 14 \times 832$	2	256	160	320	32	128	128	840K	170M
max pool	$3 \times 3/2$	7×7×832	0								
inception (5a)		$7 \times 7 \times 832$	2	256	160	320	32	128	128	1072K	54M
inception (5b)		$7 \times 7 \times 1024$	2	384	192	384	48	128	128	1388K	71M
avg pool	$7 \times 7/1$	$1 \times 1 \times 1024$	0								
dropout (40%)		$1 \times 1 \times 1024$	0		<b>`</b>						
linear		$1 \times 1 \times 1000$	1	<			<.			1000K	1M
softmax	1	1×1×1000	0	K			×				

Figure IV.6 GoogLeNet from Inception architecture introduced in [40].

convolutions. The input has the size of 224x224 with RGB color channels. In the FigureIV.6, "3x3 reduce" and "5x5 reduce" showed the number of 1x1 kernels (with 128 filters for dimension reduction) in the reduction layer deployed before the 3x3 and 5x5 convolutions. The network included totally 27 layers (22 of 27 layers contained parameters) with 5 pooling layers. Additionally, the authors installed an average Pooling with 5x5 filter size and stride 3 before the classifier instead of Fully connected layers. Although, these fully connected layers were eliminated, a dropout layer with 70% ratio of dropped outputs still remained to use. A fully connected layer with 1024 units and rectified linear activation put before the classifier that used softmax loss to predict 1000 classes (see Figure IV.7).

Setting of learning, and results: The network used asynchronous stochastic gradient descent with 0.9 momentum [96], while the learning rate declined by 4% after each 8 epochs. GooLeNet won the challenge with a top-5 error of 6.67% on both the validation and testing data.

# IV.2.2.5 VGGNet, very deep convolutional networks for large-scale image recognition

In this paper [60], the authors presented how depth affects the performance of CNN. The authors designed deep architectures of CNN with very small convolutions  $(3\times3)$ . They stated that the depth to 16-19 layers was able to achieve a considerable improvement.

**Configurations:** All configuration for layers used the same rules. The architecture included a stack of convolutional layers with filters of  $3 \times 3$  (stride 1). The authors also used padding to border at input layer to preserve image's resolution after convolution. There were 5 max pooling layers that followed several convolutional layers with the size of  $2 \times 2$  and stride 2. Three fully connected layers (the first two contained 4096 neurons and the last one performed the prediction task with 1000 classes), and the softmax layer followed the stack of convolutional layers. The networks used ReLU as activation functions for all layers.

The configurations were depicted in Figure IV.8. The size of kernels and the number of kernels in each layer were denoted as "conv< the size of filters > - < the number of filters>". For instance, conv3-64 depicted that the convolutional layer contained 64 filters of  $3 \times 3$ . Figure IV.8 showed 5 configurations named from A to E. The configurations varied only the depth with 11 weight layers at Configuration A, and 19 weight layers at Configuration E. The widths of layers increased from 64 to 512 according to the depth after each max-pooling. Although, the networks were rather deep, the number of parameters was not high when comparing to some shallow architectures with larger widths and receptive fields [21]. The study in [22] also deployed small kernels but used for small images. Another interesting information that the authors pointed out is why we should use a stack of three  $3 \times 3$  convolutional layers instead of a single  $7 \times 7$  convolution. Firstly, they combined three non-linear rectification layers instead of a single one, so that the decision function to discriminate efficiently. Additionally, this helped to reduce the number of parameters. For example, we installed K filters for each convolutional layers of  $3 \times 3$  (a stack of 3 convolutional layers of  $3 \times 3$ ), this required  $3(3^2K^2) = 27K^2$ ) parameters while a single  $7 \times 7$  convolution needs  $7^2 K^2 = 49K^2$ .

Setting of learning, and results: The training procedure was similar to [41] using mini-batch with size of 256, gradient descent with momentum of 0.9, and was regularized



Figure IV.7 The architecture of GoogLeNet with components presented in [40].

		ConvNet C	onfiguration						
A	A-LRN	В	С	D	E				
11 weight	11 weight	13 weight	16 weight	16 weight	19 weight				
layers	layers	layers	layers	layers	layers				
	i	nput ( $224 \times 2$	24 RGB image	e)					
conv3-64	conv3-64	conv3-64	conv3-64	conv3-64	conv3-64				
	LRN	conv3-64	conv3-64	conv3-64	conv3-64				
	maxpool								
conv3-128	conv3-128	conv3-128	conv3-128	conv3-128	conv3-128				
		conv3-128	conv3-128	conv3-128	conv3-128				
		max	pool						
conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256				
conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256	conv3-256				
			conv1-256	conv3-256	conv3-256				
					conv3-256				
		max	pool						
conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512				
conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512				
			conv1-512	conv3-512	conv3-512				
					conv3-512				
		max	pool		×				
conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512				
conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512	conv3-512				
			conv1-512	conv3-512	conv3-512				
					conv3-512				
	maxpool								
		FC-	4096						
		FC-	4096						
		FC-	1000						
		soft	-max						

Figure IV.8 The configurations of VGGNet. The figure is provided from [60].

by weight decay [23] of  $5.10^{-4}$ . Dropout was applied to the first two fully connected layers (with ratio of 0.5). The learning rate was initialized at 0.01, and declining by a factor of 10 after the accuracy of validation set did not increase. Comparing to [41], the network required less epoch to converge (74 epochs). The networks were implemented in C++ Caffe [24]. VGGNet achieved top-1 validation error and top-5 validation error were 23.7% and 6.8%, respectively.

# IV.2.2.6 ResNet, Deep Residual Learning for Image Recognition

The authors in [25] introduced a residual learning framework (ResNet) that was up to 152 layers but being less complex. ResNet won the 1st places on the ILSVRC 2015 and COCO 2015 competitions.

It seemed that it was not simple to improve the learning by stacking more layers because of vanishing/exploding gradients [27]. However, the use of normalized initialization and intermediate normalization layers with batch normalization [26] helped the networks (using stochastic gradient descent with back-propagation [84]) to converge with the number of layers up to 10 layers. Additionally, the authors mentioned a degradation problem where the network with increased depth leading to saturation in accuracy, but then accuracy declined quickly. Overfitting was not the reason for degradation, a deep model get a higher error in training by adding more layers. The authors introduced ResNet to address the degradation problem.

The architecture included mostly kernels of  $3\times 3$  with 2 design principles: (1) the layers consisted of the same of filters for the same output feature size, (2) if the size of feature maps reduced to a half, the number of kernels increased to twice to preserve the time complexity per layer. The last layers of the architecture included a global average pooling layer and softmax with 1000 outputs (Figure IV.9). The network was implemented with batch size 256, the learning rate was initialized at 0.1 and reduced to 10 times if the error plateaued, and used to  $60 * 10^4$  iterations. A weight decay of 0.0001 and a momentum of 0.9 was set in the learning. Remarkably, dropout was not implemented, but followed Batch Normalization [26]. ResNet with 152 layers reached 3.57% top-5 error on the test set.

# IV.3 Metagenomic data benchmarks

We evaluated our method on 25 different datasets (see Table IV.1) divided into **five** groups (A, B, C, D and E). The 6 datasets in group A are described in III.3, in this part, we introduce additional datasets in the groups of B, C, D, and E.

Group B contains 526 metagenomic samples of colorectal cancer (COL) disease from Chinese, Austrian, American, German and French cohorts namely C1, C2, C3, C4, respectively. These cohorts were analyzed in [37]. Additional dataset (C5) was created by merging C1, C2, C3 and C4. These datasets includes shotgun metagenomic sequencing sequences (using Illumina Hiseq 2000/2500271 sequencing platform with similar sequencing depths (read length 100 bp, and target sequencing depth 5GB)) with 271 controls and 255 COL cases. Low quality sequences were eliminated using Trimmomatic v\_0.36 [37, 192].



Figure IV.9 Architecture comparison between VGG19, ResNet plain and ResNet residual [25]. Left: the architecture of VGG-19 [60]. Middle: a plain network as a baseline. Right: a residual network (with the same number of parameter layers (34) to the plain network). The figure is provided from [25].

Group C includes Sokol's lab data [8] consisting of microbiome information of 38 healthy subjects (HS) and 222 IBD patients. The abundance includes 306 OTUs with genus level abundance. Patients in this data are classified into two categories according to the disease phenotype Ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). Each category is divided into two conditions (flare (f), if patients got worse or reappeared the symptoms and remission (r), if patients' symptoms were decreased or disappear). The dataset was partitioned into subset with ileal Crohn's disease (iCD) and colon Crohn's disease (cCD). The detail description of the data was presented in [11].

Group D has the same samples of CIR [10], COL [32], IBD [141], OBE [19], T2D [142], WT2D [2] as Group A, but the data includes abundance of gene families generated by HMP Unified Metabolic Analysis Network (HUMAnN2) [140] with very high dimension being up to more than one million features. The data are downloaded from the package *curatedMetagenomicData* [193] in R.

For each sample, species/genus/gene abundance is a relative proportion and is represented as a real number, and the total abundance of all species/genus/gene sums to 1.

We also investigate our approach on two datasets (group E) in selbal analysis (Crohn and HIV) [194] with the number of counts for microbial taxa at genus level. HIV contains 155 samples while Crohn includes 662 patients of Crohn's disease and 313 controls. HIV dataset includes 62 features with the last feature indicating an HIV risk factor, MSM: "Men who has Sex with Men". We use one-hot-encoding with 1 if MSM is true, and 0 if MSM is false.

# IV.4 CNN architectures and models used in the experiments

# **IV.4.1** Convolutional Neural Networks

In [17], the authors described convolutional neural networks (CNN) as a specialized type of neural networks aiming to process shaped in a known grid-like topology such as timeseries data that can be formed as 1-D grid and images that can be formatted in a 2-D grid of pixels. The name of the network implies the network performs mathematical operation called as **convolution**, a specialized type of linear operation.

Although there are a variety of variants of CNN architectures as described in the literature (Section IV.2.2), their basic components are really similar. As presented in [65] and [17], a CNN includes three types of layers, i.e. convolutional layer, pooling layer and fully-connected layer.

The goal of convolutional layer is to learn feature representations from the inputs. A convolutional layer consists of one or more kernels (or called as *filters*) which generate different feature maps. The value of the feature at location (i, j) in the k-th feature map of l-th layer,  $z_{i,j,k}^l$  is computed by the formula:

$$z_{i,j,k}^{l} = w_{k}^{l} x_{i,j}^{l} + b_{k}^{l}$$
(IV.1)

where  $w_k^l$  and  $b_k^l$  are the weight vector and bias term of the k-th kernel of the l-th layer respectively while  $x_{i,j}^l$  denotes the input patch centered at position (i, j). Besides, the

Group A	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2
#features	542	503	443	465	572	381
#samples	232	121	110	253	344	96
Ratio of patients	0.51	0.40	0.23	0.65	0.49	0.552
Ratio of controls	0.49	0.60	0.77	0.35	0.51	0.448
Minimum size	$24 \times 24$	$23 \times 23$	22×22	22×22	$24 \times 24$	20×20
Group B	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	
#features	1976	1981	1932	1980	1985	
#samples	100	109	165	152	526	
Ratio of patients	0.48	0.42	0.44	0.58	0.49	
Ratio of controls	0.52	0.58	0.56	0.42	0.52	
Minimum size	$45 \times 45$	$45 \times 45$	44×44	$45 \times 45$	$45 \times 45$	
Group C	CDf	CDr	iCDf	iCDr	UCf	UCr
#features	259	237	247	257	250	237
#samples	98	114	82	97	79	82
Ratio of patients	0.61	0.67	0.54	0.61	0.52	0.537
Ratio of controls	0.39	0.33	0.46	0.39	0.48	0.463
Minimum size	$17 \times 17$	$16 \times 16$	$16 \times 16$	17×17	$16 \times 16$	$16 \times 16$
Group D	Cirgene	Colgene	Ibdgene	Obegene	T2Dgene	WT2gene
#features	1,747,534	1,796,274	1,730,384	1,519,375	1,690,774	1,415,610
#samples	232	121	110	253	344	96
Ratio of patients	0.51	0.40	0.23	0.65	0.49	0.552
Ratio of controls	0.49	0.60	0.77	0.35	0.51	0.448
Minimum size	$1322 \times 1322$	$1341 \times 1341$	$1316 \times 1316$	$1233 \times 1233$	$1301 \times 1301$	$1190 \times 1190$
Group E	Crohn	HIV				
#features	48	61				
#samples	975	155				
Ratio of patients	0.68	0.83				
Ratio of controls	0.32	0.17				
Minimum size	7×7	8×8				

Table IV.1 – Information on 5 groups of datasets.  $Minimum\ size$  is the minimum resolution (shaped as a square) for images to fit the number of features.

filter  $w_k^l$  that creates the feature map  $z_{:,:,k}^l$  is shared. These sharing weights allow the network to reduce the complexity and train easier.

Beside layers above, CNN also use nonlinear activation functions after each convolution. Let a(.) is the activation function. The value  $a_{i,j,k}^l$  after each convolution of  $z_{:,:,k}^l$  of is calculated by

$$a_{i,j,k}^{l} = a(z_{i,j,k}^{l}) \tag{IV.2}$$

Activation function commonly-used are Sigmoid, Tanh [87], and ReLU [86].

The pooling layer helps to reduce the resolution of feature maps and usually follows a stack of one or more convolutional layers. Each feature maps generated from a pooling layer is connected to its corresponding feature maps from the preceding layer of convolution. Let denote the pooling layer as pool(.), for each feature map  $a_{:,:,k}^l$ , the value after pooling layer is computed by

$$y_{i,j,k}^{l} = pool(a_{m,n,k}^{l}) \forall (m,n) \in R_{ij}$$
(IV.3)

where  $R_{ij}$  is a local neighborhood around position (i, j). Pooling operations commonlyused are max pooling and average pooling.

After a stack of convolutional and pooling layers, CNN usually contain one or more fully-connected layers to perform high-level reasoning [14, 60, 28]. As in [65], the fully-connected layer can be replaced by a convolution of  $1 \times 1$ .

The final layer is an output layer that can be softmax or sigmoid operator depending on the number of outputs. There are two approaches for binary classification including using either two output neurons (two-node technique) using softmax function or one output neuron (one-node technique) with sigmoid operator.

Denoting  $\theta$  as all parameters of a CNN (weights, bias, etc.). In order to optimize  $\theta$  for a specific learning task, we need to minimize loss function defined on that task. Assuming that we have N of samples with input-output relations  $(x^{(n)}, y^{(n)}); n \in [1, ..., N]$ , where  $x^{(n)}$  denotes the n-th input data while  $y^{(n)}$  is its corresponding label, and  $o^{(n)}$  is predicted score from CNN. The loss of the network can be computed by the formula (IV.4)

$$L = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} l(\theta; y^{(n)}, o^{(n)})$$
(IV.4)

In order to find the best fitting set of parameters, we have to minimize the loss function. Stochastic Gradient Decent [137, 138, 139], Adagrad [135], and Adam [136] are widely used algorithms for optimizing CNN networks.

# IV.4.2 One-dimensional case

In order to predict disease using 1D data, we use a Fully Connected neural network (FC) and one 1D convolutional neural network (CNN1D). FC model includes one fullyconnected layer and gives one output. This is a very simple model but the performance is relatively high. The structure of this network contains a fully connected layer with sigmoid function. CNN1D includes one 1D convolutional layer with 64 filters and one max pooling of 2. We fit data into classical learning algorithms such RF [118] (with 50 trees) and SVM [119] (kernels of Sigmoid, Radial, Linear) for 1D data.



Figure IV.10 Comparison of operations and weights of various architectures of CNN and FC models visualized using keras\_sequential\_ascii [109].

#### IV.4.3 Two-dimensional case

Images constructed with the Fill-up vary in size from  $16 \times 16$  to  $24 \times 24$  (for datasets in group A) depending on the number of features while, in t-SNE and other dimensionality reduction algorithms, we use 24x24 images for all datasets.

The architecture is conducted from the results investigated on a variety of architectures of CNN applied to representations based on Fill-up, using SPB, gray images (Table IV.2 and Figure IV.12). We also compare to VGG-like convolutional networks (convnet) proposed in Keras (a high-level neural networks API, written in Python [109]) document https://keras.io/getting-started/sequential-model-guide/ with a little modification as a baseline (see the architecture in Figure IV.11). The results show the performance is rising according to the width of the CNN. However, the performance decreases when we add more layer due to overfitting (see the number of weights of networks in IV.10). As seen the graph (Figure IV.12), CNN with one convolutional layer and a large number of filters outperform FC for CIR, COL, IBD while WT2, OBE seems like meets overfitting with CNN. In most of cases, the architectures of CNN with one convolutional layer obtain greater performance than two-convolutional-layer and VGG architectures. However, for WT2, the architectures with two layers seems to give a slight improvement (see Figure IV.12). For shallow CNN, dropout in FC seems like not improve



Figure IV.11 The architecture of Vgg-like convnet.

the performance but it works on deep networks such as VGG. VGG with dropout rate of 0.2 reveals the best performance among variations of VGG in our experiments. For some cases, combination between dropout in Convolutional layers and FC layers improve the performance compared to apply to only the FC layers (in CNN-11f32, CNN-12f16). For CIR, CNN with one convolutional layer outperform FC. CIR and IBD reach to the peak at CNN-11f64 while OBE and T2D perform the best at CNN11f16 and CNN11f20. In other hand, WT2 faces overfitting problem with no better results in CNN compared to FC. The use of dropout is apparently not efficient.

Based on these results, we propose a CNN architecture including a stack of one convolutional layers with 64 kernels of  $3\times3$  (stride 1), followed by a max pooling  $2\times2$  (stride 2). ReLU is used after each convolution. Wide convolution is implemented to preserve the dimension of input after passing through the convolutional layer. We employ a sigmoid activation function at the final layer (see the CNN architecture for images of  $24\times24$  in Figure IV.13).

# **IV.4.4 Experimental Setup**

All networks use the same optimization function (Adam [39]), learning rate = 0.001, loss function: binary cross entropy, epoch = 500 (using Early Stopping to avoid over-fitting with the number of epoch patience of 5). The best results obtained in [93] carry out the batch size ranging 2 to 32, so our framework implements a batch size of 16. The prediction performance are assessed by 10-fold-stratified-cross validation, repeated and averaged on 10 independent runs (except for the analysis in IV.5.3, we use the same setting with [11] using 5-fold-cross validation repeated 10 times). Met2Img is implemented in Keras 2.1.3 [109], Tensorflow 1.5 [111, 110], libraries for visualizations in Matplotlib [82] using Python/Scikit-Learn[112, 16], and can run either in CPU or GPU architectures. Source code is publicly available at https://git.integromics.fr/Deepomics/deepMG\_tf

**Early Stopping** [17] is used to avoid overfitting with epoch patience = 5. The epoch patience is defined as a number of epochs to wait before early stop if there is no progress on a validation set. Although

Keras.Callback.callbacks.EarlyStopping is useful and really improves the performance, sometimes EarlyStopping of keras has the problem when the performance fluctuates during first epochs. I modified EarlyStopping of keras slightly to improve this situation.

The modification solves the following problem. For instance, the val\_loss of 1 training running 14 epochs (without EarlyStopping, EarlyStopping (Keras), EarlyStopping (mod-

Model	drcnn	drfc	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
CNN-l1f08	0.0	0.0	0.897	0.766	0.844	0.680	0.647	0.667	0.750
CNN-l1f08	0.0	0.2	0.894	0.766	0.853	0.667	0.642	0.679	0.750
CNN-l1f08	0.1	0.2	0.895	0.762	0.851	0.666	0.637	0.676	0.748
CNN-l1f16	0.0	0.0	0.897	0.775	0.850	0.684	0.660	0.690	0.759
CNN-l1f16	0.0	0.2	0.896	0.763	0.848	0.673	0.653	0.675	0.752
CNN-l1f16	0.1	0.2	0.897	0.764	0.852	0.669	0.657	0.681	0.754
CNN-l1f20	0.0	0.0	0.899	0.782	0.849	0.690	0.649	0.699	0.761
CNN-l1f20	0.0	0.2	0.895	0.782	0.850	0.668	0.654	0.686	0.756
CNN-l1f20	0.1	0.2	0.896	0.789	0.850	0.663	0.652	0.684	0.756
CNN-l1f32	0.0	0.0	0.901	0.790	0.853	0.683	0.656	0.693	0.763
CNN-l1f32	0.0	0.2	0.903	0.801	0.850	0.674	0.652	0.673	0.759
CNN-l1f32	0.1	0.2	0.902	0.799	0.851	0.671	0.655	0.687	0.761
CNN-l1f48	0.0	0.0	0.896	0.786	0.855	0.685	0.650	0.698	0.762
CNN-l1f48	0.0	0.2	0.897	0.774	0.858	0.681	0.652	0.698	0.760
CNN-l1f64	0.0	0.0	0.905	0.793	0.868	0.680	0.651	0.705	0.767
CNN-l1f64	0.0	0.2	0.900	0.787	0.860	0.676	0.646	0.696	0.761
CNN-l1f64	0.1	0.2	0.901	0.783	0.860	0.675	0.644	0.693	0.759
CNN-l2f08	0.0	0.0	0.889	0.758	0.836	0.677	0.646	0.679	0.748
CNN-l2f08	0.0	0.2	0.885	0.741	0.828	0.664	0.645	0.672	0.739
CNN-l2f08	0.1	0.2	0.881	0.741	0.831	0.662	0.643	0.667	0.738
CNN-l2f16	0.0	0.0	0.892	0.749	0.842	0.677	0.646	0.699	0.751
CNN-l2f16	0.0	0.2	0.880	0.752	0.828	0.650	0.642	0.658	0.735
CNN-l2f16	0.1	0.2	0.883	0.759	0.842	0.672	0.642	0.678	0.746
CNN-l2f20	0.0	0.0	0.899	0.761	0.845	0.670	0.640	0.705	0.753
CNN-l2f20	0.0	0.2	0.886	0.754	0.836	0.660	0.647	0.685	0.745
CNN-l2f20	0.1	0.2	0.888	0.744	0.830	0.669	0.648	0.670	0.742
CNN-l2f32	0.0	0.0	0.894	0.772	0.846	0.666	0.645	0.713	0.756
CNN-l2f32	0.0	0.2	0.884	0.757	0.827	0.661	0.639	0.686	0.742
CNN-l2f32	0.1	0.2	0.881	0.748	0.832	0.658	0.633	0.693	0.741
CNN-l2f64	0.0	0.2	0.880	0.762	0.838	0.658	0.626	0.710	0.746
CNN-l2f64	0.1	0.2	0.887	0.735	0.841	0.656	0.622	0.695	0.739
VGG	0.0	0.0	0.838	0.769	0.820	0.614	0.539	0.674	0.709
VGG	0.0	0.1	0.843	0.755	0.827	0.619	0.526	0.681	0.709
VGG	0.0	0.2	0.850	0.775	0.827	0.618	0.522	0.676	0.711
VGG	0.0	0.3	0.841	0.768	0.813	0.609	0.538	0.668	0.706
VGG	0.0	0.4	0.849	0.751	0.817	0.614	0.534	0.666	0.705
VGG	0.0	0.5	0.845	0.746	0.812	0.622	0.534	0.671	0.705
FC	0.0	0.0	0.888	0.772	0.847	0.686	0.652	0.716	0.760

Table IV.2 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of different architectures of CNN. CNNlxfy denotes to the CNN contains x convolutional layer(s), y filters for each convolutional layer and a max pooling after all convolutional layers (see an example of CNN-l1f64 in Figure IV.13) while *drfc*, *drcnn* reveal dropout rate in FC layers, Convolutional layers, respectively. The significant results are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)



Figure IV.12 Performance comparison (in ACC) of a variety of CNN (without dropout) and FC models. Error bars are standard deviations



Figure IV.13 The CNN architecture includes a stack of one convolutional layer with 64 filters of 3x3 and a max pooling of 2x2, followed by one fully connected layer. The input includes either images of one channel for gray (or black/white) images or three channels for color images

without Early Stopping Ea	arlyStopping (Keras)	EarlyStopping (modification)
epoch 1: Val_loss 0.250  epoch    epoch 2: Val_loss 0.100  epoch    epoch 3: Val_loss 0.200  epoch    epoch 4: Val_loss 0.192  0.2    epoch 5: Val_loss 0.182  epoch    epoch 6: Val_loss 0.182  epoch    epoch 7: Val_loss 0.120 >    epoch 8: Val_loss 0.080  val    epoch 9: Val_loss 0.050  epoch 10: Val_loss 0.055    epoch 11: Val_loss 0.055  epoch 12: Val_loss 0.058    epoch 13: Val_loss 0.060  epoch 14: Val_loss 0.068	poch 1: Val_loss 0.250 poch 2: Val_loss 0.100 poch 3: Val_loss 0.200 (0.100 < .200 patience 1) poch 4: Val_loss 0.192 (0.100 < .192 patience 2) >Stopped at epoch 4 with al_loss=0.192	epoch 1: Val_loss 0.250 epoch 2: Val_loss 0.100 epoch 3: Val_loss 0.200 (0.100 < 0.200 patience 1) epoch 4: Val_loss 0.192 epoch 5: Val_loss 0.182 epoch 6: Val_loss 0.188 (0.182 < 0.188 patience 1) epoch 7: Val_loss 0.120 epoch 8: Val_loss 0.050 epoch 9: Val_loss 0.055 (0.055 < 0.050 patience 1) epoch 11: Val_loss 0.055 (0.055 = 0.055 patience 2) >Stopped at epoch 11 with val_loss=0.055

Figure IV.14 Examples on effects of 2 types of Early Stopping and without using Early Stopping (patience = 2)

ification)) shown in Figure IV.14. Assume that patience = 2 is number of epochs with no improvement after which training will be stopped. In the modification version, patience is consecutive number of times of 2 epochs of previous-next with no improvement after which training will be stopped), with Keras.Callback.callbacks.EarlyStopping the training stops at epoch 4 but with EarlyStopping with modification the training will continue until epoch 11. As illustrated in Tab . IV.3, EarlyStopping with modification improves slightly performance of the overall performance while it also shows significant improvement on T2D dataset increasing by 0.04 for T2D on FC. We see that EarlyStopping with modification to the performance improved. Sometimes, there is some situation where the network meets slight overfitting (FC for IBD) but this has no significant difference in the performance.

# **IV.5** Results

In order to compare results between methods, the *p*-values are computed based on function tsum.test (**PASWR**- package for Probability and Statistics with R) to compare results from the state-of-the-arts. The results which have p-values < 0.05 are significant improvements.

# IV.5.1 Comparing to the-state-of-the-art (MetAML)

To compare to the MetAML [18], we use accuracy (ACC) to measure model performances. Classification accuracies were assessed by 10-fold cross validation, repeated and averaged on 10 independent runs using stratified cross validation approach.

model	Туре	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
Accuracy								
FC	Keras	0.888	0.771	0.849	0.686	0.612	0.707	0.752
FC	Modification	0.888	0.772	0.847	0.686	0.652	0.716	0.760
CNN	Keras	0.903	0.793	0.865	0.680	0.644	0.703	0.765
CNN	Modification	0.905	0.793	0.868	0.680	0.651	0.705	0.767
Epochs stopped								
FC	Keras	383.25	217.31	374.77	107.28	161.44	281.30	254.225
FC	Modification	383.25	218.02	402.78	112.07	234.82	295.83	274.462
CNN	Keras	131.16	83.32	136.53	21.98	41.45	72.01	81.075
CNN	Modification	162.87	84.07	144.39	24.53	68.29	73.41	92.927

Table IV.3 – Accuracy and the average number of epochs during training. A comparison between Early Stopping (patience = 5) of Keras and Early Stopping with modifications. The significant results are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)

# IV.5.1.1 Execution time

Met2Img is implemented using Python library running on a cluster system using CentOS Linux operating (we set up to use the job scheduler aiming to measure execution time with 4 cpu cores per a job or running on a NVIDIA-SMI 387.26 GPU with a memory of 12GB) with a RAM memory of 512 GB and a local macbook (OS X 10.11.6) with 4 CPU cores and 16GB of RAM.

The comparison between CPU and GPU running a CNN including one stack of one convolutional (64 filters) and one max pooling layers, and FC models, is revealed in Figure IV.15. The resolutions of images range from  $20 \times 20$  to  $24 \times 24$ . For simple model such as FC, there is no significant difference on inference time between GPU and CPU. However, GPU speeds up notably on CNN models. The improved time is up to four to five, even more, compared to CPU. Extraordinarily, CNN using GPU run faster than simple FC model.

Another comparison on various bins and visualizations used images and models as above (for t-SNE, we use  $24 \times 24$  images for all datasets) shown in Figure IV.16, we see clearly that SPB is the fastest while t-SNE consumes a large mount of time. SPB only creates the set of images for training and testing once at the beginning, while t-SNE and QTF generate a new set of training and test images for each fold. Beside the time for generating images at each fold, t-SNE takes time to build global t-SNE maps that contains coordinates of data points while QTF also run for transforming the data. As observed, T2D is the largest dataset in terms of the number of features and samples, so the execution time is the highest. The small datasets such as COL, WT2 share the same pattern with execution time being around 30 minutes.

# IV.5.1.2 The results on 1D data

As shown in the Table IV.4, the Random Forest both in MetAML and our framework outperforms other models, and share the same pattern in results. In 1D data, CNN1D



Execution time (in hours) between using GPU and CPU with FC and CNN model

Figure IV.15 Execution time comparison between using GPU and CPU for different models (Fill-up)

gives better FC while results for the SVM models are the worst. In SVM models, Linear kernel shows the best performance. From these results, standard and shallow learning algorithms (such as RF) are more robust than deep learning for 1D data. Remarkably, CNN1D obtains two significant results on IBD, and OBE, and show an approximate performance on T2D. Furthermore, RF in our framework also provides a slight increase in ACC compared to RF in MetAML.

#### IV.5.1.3 The results on 2D data

Table IV.5 shows the performance in ACC (see the standard deviation in Table C.1 in Appendices) of Met2Img framework including visualizations (Fill-up and manifold learning approaches) using a FC model and a CNN with the architecture described in Figure IV.13 and Figure IV.10. The table also reveals the results of a variety of types of color and different bins. The performances of MetAML [18] shown are results of RF model, the best model in MetAML. As seen from the table, the performances with QTF bins share the same pattern with "Species bins" (SPB), but the performance of QTF is slightly lower than **SPB**, while PR reveals poor performance in most of cases both Fill-up and t-SNE. Noticeably, although PR is the worst among all considered bins, it shows an increase compared to SPB for T2D. As shown for Fill-up using random ordering and phylogenetic



Figure IV.16 Execution time comparison of types of embedding (in hours)

Framework	Model	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
MetAML	RF	0.877	0.805	0.809	0.644	0.664	0.703	0.750
	SVM	0.834	0.743	0.809	0.636	0.613	0.596	0.705
Met2Img	RF	0.877	0.812	0.808	0.645	0.672	0.703	0.753
	SVM- Sigmoid	0.509	0.603	0.775	0.648	0.515	0.553	0.600
	SVM- Radial	0.529	0.603	0.775	0.648	0.593	0.553	0.617
	SVM- Linear	0.766	0.666	0.792	0.612	0.634	0.676	0.691
	FC	0.776	0.685	0.775	0.656	0.665	0.607	0.694
	CNN1D	0.775	0.722	0.842	0.663	0.668	0.618	0.715

Table IV.4 – Performance (in ACC) comparison on 1D data. The significant results are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG).

sorting, T2D with PR achieves better performance SPB with corresponding OTUs sorting. The most predictable disease seems to be **liver cirrhosis** with the best ACC **over 0.9**. As proven from the results, CNN is a promising model for predicting liver cirrhosis with a majority of high ACCs coming from CNN. Especially, Fill-up using color images is appropriate to CIR dataset with both FC and CNN models obtaining significant results. Another point here is that Fill-up reveals as a promising tool for predicting IBD. The performance of **IBD** follows CIR with the best result of **0.868**. All of results using Fill-up achieve significant improvement compared to MetAML for IBD.

The proposed framework is a good solution for the OBE data with all results shown in Table IV.5 being significant results, while the COL data seem to be a challenge with only SPB using color images or SPB with CNN using gray images giving equivalent results compared to classical shallow algorithms (RF). There is a trivial difference between using color and gray images for CNN while color images helps to improve performance considerably for FC model.

The performance of Fill-up is better compared to visualizations based on manifold learning approaches. An explanation is that the representations based on manifold learning methods perform worse due to many overlapped points, while in contrast every features in Fill-up is visible. It is noteworthy that t-SNE using QTF gives significant results for **T2D** with the best ACC of **0.690** while Fill-up shows poor performance on this dataset. Additionally, Isomap also exhibits the best performance on **OBE** with a ACC of **0.691**.

Another important point is that integration of phylogenetic information helps to improve the performance on IBD and COL datasets. Only a significant results of random ordering compared to phylogenetic sorting is on WT2 dataset (ACC=0.739).

Additionally, we carry out a comparison chart between a CNN and a robust classical learning algorithm (RF) in Figure IV.18. The CNN model achieves either significant results with CIR, IBD, OBE, WT2 (p-value < 0.0005) or comparative performance to the others including COL, T2D compared to the best model (RF) in MetAML. This proves that CNN is a promising approach for metagenomic data.

We repeat the experiments 10 times using 10-fold cross-validation, the same folds are used for all classifiers, so we can compare the difference in performance of any two classifiers within each test fold. On Figure IV.17, six charts show results in detail of the performance between RF (of Met2Img) and CNN model (with SPB, gray images). It is noteworthy that RF in our framework gives a slight increase in performance compared to MetAML for COL, T2D while performance in other datasets remains nearly the same. As seen from Figure IV.17, the performance we see in most of cases that CNN outperforms RF for CIR (p-value=0.001794), IBD (p-value= $2.506 \times 10^{-08}$ ), OBE (p-value= $6.186 \times 10^{-6}$ ). Numerous folds in IBD reach to the accuracy of 100% while CIR almost range in 0.9 to over 0.95 and several folds achieve the 100%. CNN applied to OBE obtains over 15%of all folds that surpasses the peak of RF (0.75). There are a few outliers results for T2D where the performance is either very high (3 folds) or extreme low (1 fold). Most of results of CNN are in bottom of the chart as proven that RF (ACC=0.672) outperforms CNN (ACC=0.651) with p-value=0.04636. For other 2 datasets, CNN is approximate to RF. The maximum performance of CNN is over 0.9 while for RF is near to 0.9. For WT2, there are numerous folds that obtain the same results. RF achieves many performances of 100% while CNN reaches the peak at about 0.9.

Figure IV.19 reveals the number of epochs the learning stopped during training phrase.

	Bins	Model	Color	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
	MetAM	IL - RF		0.877	0.805	0.809	0.644	0.664	0.703	0.750
Fill-up	PR	CNN	BW	0.880	0.763	0.841	0.669	0.666	0.667	0.748
Fill-up	QTF	CNN	viridis	0.897	0.781	0.837	0.659	0.664	0.690	0.755
Fill-up	SPB	CNN	custom	0.899	0.782	0.857	0.678	0.656	0.710	0.764
Fill-up	SPB	CNN	gray	0.905	0.793	0.868	0.680	0.651	0.705	0.767
Fill-up	SPB	CNN	jet	0.903	0.798	0.863	0.681	0.649	0.713	0.768
Fill-up	PR	FC	BW	0.863	0.735	0.842	0.672	0.656	0.712	0.747
Fill-up	QTF	FC	viridis	0.887	0.765	0.853	0.657	0.640	0.711	0.752
Fill-up	SPB	FC	grays	0.888	0.772	0.847	0.686	0.652	0.716	0.760
Fill-up	SPB	FC	jet	0.905	0.794	0.837	0.679	0.659	0.713	0.764
Fill-up	SPB	FC	custom	0.904	0.805	0.835	0.676	0.645	0.709	0.762
Fill-up *	PR	CNN	BW	0.880	0.747	0.837	0.674	0.673	0.724	0.756
Fill-up *	SPB	CNN	grays	0.903	0.768	0.840	0.673	0.666	0.739	0.765
Fill-up *	PR	FC	BW	0.867	0.744	0.834	0.664	0.649	0.699	0.743
Fill-up *	SPB	FC	grays	0.887	0.758	0.853	0.677	0.646	0.711	0.755
isomap	QTF	CNN	grays	0.890	0.740	0.817	0.689	0.657	0.714	0.751
isomap	QTF	CNN	grays	0.889	0.743	0.815	0.691	0.657	0.712	0.751
isomap	QTF	FC	grays	0.871	0.742	0.791	0.688	0.646	0.693	0.738
isomap	QTF	FC	grays	0.871	0.742	0.793	0.688	0.646	0.689	0.738
TSNE	PR	CNN	BW	0.862	0.712	0.815	0.664	0.660	0.672	0.731
TSNE	PR	FC	BW	0.857	0.710	0.813	0.662	0.640	0.688	0.728
TSNE	QTF	CNN	viridis	0.869	0.753	0.821	0.646	0.673	0.670	0.739
TSNE	QTF	CNN	jet	0.870	0.748	0.820	0.654	0.690	0.660	0.741
TSNE	QTF	CNN	grays	0.865	0.737	0.824	0.659	0.674	0.662	0.737
TSNE	QTF	FC	viridis	0.881	0.739	0.821	0.661	0.610	0.687	0.733
TSNE	QTF	FC	jet	0.883	0.768	0.825	0.670	0.648	0.661	0.742
TSNE	QTF	FC	grays	0.867	0.771	0.791	0.663	0.646	0.701	0.740
TSNE	SPB	CNN	jet	0.887	0.779	0.819	0.680	0.650	0.685	0.750
TSNE	SPB	CNN	viridis	0.881	0.746	0.814	0.664	0.650	0.667	0.737
TSNE	SPB	CNN	grays	0.885	0.765	0.828	0.676	0.655	0.681	0.748
TSNE	SPB	FC	jet	0.893	0.783	0.826	0.687	0.621	0.711	0.753
TSNE	SPB	FC	viridis	0.894	0.751	0.814	0.676	0.610	0.692	0.740
TSNE	SPB	FC	grays	0.873	0.773	0.791	0.678	0.632	0.708	0.743

Table IV.5 – Performance (in ACC) comparison on 2D data (Results of Fill-up with random ordering are marked "\*"). The significant results are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Standard deviation is presented in Table C.1



Figure IV.17 Performance comparison in detail (ACC) between CNN (illustrated by red triangles) model and RF (shown in blue circles).

Comparing between FC and CNN, we see that CNN stopped earlier than FC due to overfitting. For models with one-channel input, the learning needs more epochs to converge while models for color (jet) images face the overfitting sooner. OBE meets overfitting only after few epochs leading to low performances (ACC<0.7), while high ACCs appear to CIR, IBD when the training consumes numerous epochs for learning samples.

#### IV.5.1.4 The explanations from LIME and Grad-CAM

In this part, we apply Local Interpretable Model-Agnostic Explanations (LIME [29]), Saliency Maps [113, 34] and Gradient-weighted Class Activation Mapping (Grad-CAM [33]) implemented in *keras-vis* [35] to extract the explanations from the output of predictions. The figures in this part come from:

- The dataset: CIR dataset with 24x24 images.
- The model: CNN (see the architecture in Figure IV.13).
- Paired-images: Original Output of explanation from LIME/Saliency Maps/Grad-CAM.

88\_11 denotes the sample of 88 labeled 1 while  $88_p[0.45]$  indicates the sample of 88 is predicted with a probability of 0.45 infected disease. We can see the top super pixels that are most positive towards the class (infected cirrhosis disease).

In order to be easier than in comparisons, we perform a visualization using Fill-up on important features extracted using lasso for feature selection in MetAML on CIR dataset (Figure IV.20). The left image (A) in IV.20 is the ranking (0-541) of the important features where the highest value (541, dark red) reveals the most important features.



Figure IV.18 Performance comparison in ACC between CNN model (using Fillup (Phylogenetic order (PLG) and random sorting (RND)) with SPB and gray images) and shallow learning algorithm (RF) of MetAML and our framework. The standard deviations are shown in error bars.

The other plot (B) shows the magnitude of the importance of the features. We also compute p-values to show significant differences between in species abundance of control and patient samples with the magnitudes visualized in (C) and p-values that are less than 0.05 (significant differences) illustrated by "red" in (D).

As visualized in Figure IV.21, the regions of the image where are covered by red, are negative score for cirrhosis disease while green areas in images where are the explanation that the patient infected the disease. Additionally, we can find the explanations for two prediction results the algorithm got wrong (sample 79 gave p=0.69 while the label is 0, and sample 88 where the classification yielded a score of 0.47 whereas its label is 1).

Also, we exploit Saliency Maps that aim to find the pixels of an image which contribute most towards to the disease class. As exhibited in Figure IV.22, Saliency maps indicates pixels that are the most importance (red regions) for images being classified as a cirrhosis patient. Similar results are found in Figure IV.20B.

Besides LIME and Saliency Maps, Grad-CAM [33] also is leveraged to make the explanations for the output. Grad-CAM visualizes more clear than LIME in illustrating important locations for the prediction and contains more details than Saliency Maps since Grad-CAM benefits from Convolution and Pooling features that contain more spatial detail which is lost in Dense layers. Figure IV.23 gives explanations for several control


Figure IV.19 The average epochs stopped in Early Stopping technique of models applied to datasets using Fill-up with SPB and phylogenetic ordering. 3c-CNN and 3c-FC denote the CNN and FC models, respectively, for color images with 3 channels while 1c-CNN, 1c-FC reveal the CNN and FC with one-channel input for gray images.

and patient samples. The decision of the classification seems to conduct from red areas in images (such as top-left area) while blue regions correspond to a decrease in score for the disease class. These (red) regions are suitable to area where important features are dense (Figure IV.20A) and some of them are fitted to significant difference areas in (Figure IV.20D).

#### IV.5.2 Comparing to shallow learning algorithms

We also evaluate **Met2Img** on five datasets including samples of C1, C2, C3, C4, and C5 in [37]. Met2Img shows poor performance for COL dataset in group A, but the results are improved when increasing the number of features. As in [37], we use AUC as a measurement performance for the experiments in this part. Dai et al. in [37] (the code is available at https://github.com/DAIZHENWEI/meta-analysis-microbiome) achieved average AUC of 0.75 on the testing fold using the seven CRC-enriched bacterial species to classify 255 CRC cases from controls. Without feature selection as in [37], we obtains significant results on the dataset with full OTUs provided in [37] compared to the results in [37] reproduced.

In addition, we fit OTUs of each dataset in group C into a RF and SVM model for comparisons. As revealed in Table IV.6, SVM performed better on the seven bacterial species. For high dimension data, SVM shows poor performance while, another classical learning, RF, outperforms SVM in all situations.

Although, there is no significant improvement to colorectal cancer for COL dataset in group A, our framework with gray images using QTF illustrates substantial results for CNN compared to shallow learning algorithms. Remarkably, Fill-up using QTF with *viridis* shows significant improvements of 4 out of 5 datasets compared to RF. SPB seems to be appropriate to the cohort from America (C3), while QTF can be a good approach for cohorts coming from Chinese (C1), German and French (C4).

Another comparison between classifiers shown in Figure IV.24, Our framework shows improvements to RF for C1, C3, C4 while the framework performs nearly the same to RF for other datasets. In addition, except for C1,C5, CNN surpass the other, the networks face overfitting problems. For the larger number of features compared to datasets in group A, the architectures need to be more sophisticated to improve the performance.

#### IV.5.3 Applying Met2Img on Sokol's lab data

In this section, we evaluate the performance of Met2Img on Sokol's lab data [8], which used to evaluate Ph-CNN in [11]. The authors performed the six classification tasks on this data to classify HS versus the six partitions CDf, CDr, iCDf, iCDr, UCf, UCr. They proposed Ph-CNN considered as a novel DL architecture using phylogenetic structure of metagenomics for classification tasks. The structure of the model includes a stack of two 1D convolutional layers of 4x16 and a max pooling of 2x1, followed by a fully connected layer with 64 neurons and a dropout of 0.25. In order to compare to Ph-CNN, we use the same experimental procedure with 5-fold stratified cross validation repeated 10 times (internal validation) and compute Matthews Correlation Coefficient (MCC) as a performance measurement in [11], then applying the best model to the external validation datasets. In [99], MCC was considered as a good performance evaluation score for



Figure IV.20 Important features extracted from RF model of MetAML visualized by Fill-up including ranking (A) and average scores (B). The p-values reveal the differences in species abundance between control and patient samples in (C) and p-values that is less than 0.05 (significant differences) colored "red" in (D).



Figure IV.21 Explanation Visualizations for the samples of controls (A) and patients (B) using LIME. Pros in green areas where are evidence for the disease class while Cons in red is against the class.

imbalanced datasets and helps to evaluate whether the model is going well or not. The internal and external validation sets evaluated in our experiments are the same as in [11].

The performance in Table IV.7 using Fill-up with color images shows significant results compared to Ph-CNN. Especially, Fill-up using QTF outperforms most of datasets in the internal validation and get better performance in 5/6 external validation set. SPB is conducted from species abundance distribution also shows promising results with four significant results (using rainbow) on the internal validation sets. Interestingly, for QTF, although CNN model shows worse performance compared to FC, this model (with *viridis*) reveals encouraging results with better performance on 5/6 external validation sets. Additionally, viridis performs the best with CNN with an average performance of 0.817 on the external validation. This result is similar to the performance shown for datasets in group A.

As it is shown on Figure IV.25, we compare the best results of SPB (rainbow) and QTF (with *viridis*) compared to Ph-CNN. In most situations, our approaches outperform Ph-CNN. FC shows better MCC in numerous cases. For the external validation, Ph-CNN shows the worst performance on 4 out of 6 datasets including CDf, iCDf, UCf and UCr while FC and CNN-SBP-rainbow exhibit the best on 3 datasets.



Figure IV.22 Explanation Visualizations for the samples of controls (A) and patients (B) using Saliency Maps

#### IV.5.4 Applying Met2Img on selbal's datasets

We also compare our approach to selbal method [194] in Figure IV.26. There are sinificant results compared to selbal from the CNN with Fill-up using QTF and gray images both datasets and one significant improvement on Crohn training with FC. HIV and Crohn datasets use counts of reads including the values being greater than 1 with different scopes. For Crohn dataset, we meet the situation where n (the number of samples) is greater than d (dimension of data) while other dataset is characterized with the problem of extreme class Imbalance with 83% samples belonging to Class 1. The results exhibit that our approach not only performs well on range [0,1] such as abundance data, but also obtains substantial achievements on different bounds of data.

#### IV.5.5 The results with gene-families abundance

#### IV.5.5.1 Applying dimensionality reduction algorithms

An important problem for nonlinear manifold learning is the way to solve new unseen data. These algorithms usually require to rerun the whole algorithm on the data including new data and old data. Therefore, some of them cannot be generalizable [88], although several studies have explored to solve this issue but the implementation is not commonly-used. In



Figure IV.23 Explanation Visualizations for the samples of controls (A) and patients (B) using Grad-CAM

our study, we employ Random Projection [12, 117, 114, 116, 115] and PCA [77] algorithms to reduce dimension for gene abundance with their capabilities of generalization on unseen new data, other manifold learning approaches have still been investigating.

For gene families abundance, the number of features can be reached to more one million, so dimensionality reduction is very necessary. Here, we apply two well-known dimensionality reduction algorithms including Random Projection [12, 117, 114, 116, 115] and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) [77]. These are simple, and computationally efficient methods to reduce the data dimension in a unsupervised manner. For the type of data like gene abundance, the number of features may be up to over one million, these techniques seem to be useful methods. Random Projection helps to reduce the number of features as well as the size of the model while PCA captures well the variance of the original features and gives good combinations of features.

The results with dimensionality reduction: FC model using reduction algorithms of Random Projection (revealed as "RD\_PRO" in Table IV.8) and PCA (the number of features is reduced from over one million to 576 which is equivalent to an image of  $24 \times 24$ ), then applying Fill up approach with QTF with 10 and 255 bins for gray scale images  $(24 \times 24)$ . As we can see from Table IV.8, after reducing dimension, the performance is poor on new data. However, the performance is able to be improved to near to the performance of the original data. In addition, PCA shows a slight better performance

Bins	Color	#Bins	Model	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	AVG
SPB	jet	10	CNN	0.688	0.754	0.716	0.774	0.749	0.736
SPB	viridis	10	CNN	0.653	0.722	0.786	0.782	0.730	0.734
SPB	gray	10	CNN	0.657	0.739	0.794	0.799	0.758	0.749
QTF	jet	10	CNN	0.763	0.730	0.718	0.791	0.762	0.753
QTF	viridis	10	CNN	0.735	0.741	0.731	0.805	0.763	0.755
QTF	jet	255	CNN	0.772	0.727	0.718	0.789	*0.766	0.754
QTF	viridis	255	CNN	0.724	0.743	0.729	0.794	0.756	0.749
QTF	gray	10	CNN	0.741	0.739	0.765	0.809	*0.769	0.765
QTF	gray	255	CNN	0.746	0.737	0.765	0.814	*0.776	0.768
PR	gray	2	CNN	0.637	0.652	0.754	0.737	0.694	0.695
SPB	jet	10	FC	0.652	0.773	0.768	0.797	0.755	0.749
SPB	viridis	10	FC	0.705	0.756	0.804	0.805	0.747	0.763
SPB	gray	10	FC	0.693	0.767	0.782	0.823	0.757	0.764
QTF	jet	10	FC	0.743	0.710	0.749	0.804	0.732	0.748
QTF	viridis	10	FC	0.708	0.733	0.761	0.824	*0.769	0.759
QTF	jet	255	FC	0.755	0.700	0.753	0.804	0.731	0.749
QTF	viridis	255	FC	0.709	0.735	0.762	0.818	*0.785	0.762
QTF	gray	10	FC	0.689	0.763	0.791	0.815	0.758	0.763
QTF	gray	255	FC	0.689	0.763	0.794	0.818	0.762	0.765
PR	gray	2	FC	0.682	0.702	0.746	0.766	0.719	0.723
			RF	0.663	0.762	0.719	0.791	0.759	0.739
			SVM	0.526	0.643	0.545	0.750	0.649	0.623
SVM ·	- the seve	en CRC-e	enriched	bacterial	species	in [37]		0.750	

Table IV.6 – AUC performance for datasets in group C. The significant results (compared to RF) are reported in **bold**. The results marked \* are significant to [37] for C5. The average performance of five datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)

comparing to Random Projection.

The average performance on raw data without any dimensionality reduction gives an accuracy of 0.681, while our approach using fill-up after reducing dimension with PCA improves the performance over 2% comparing to raw data. Moreover, PCA outperforms RD\_PRO for fill-up and improves slightly for raw data. These results also reveal the ability of our framework with fill-up which increases the accuracy from 0.605 (raw- PCA) to 0.696/0.697 (fill up - PCA 10 bins / 255 bins). RD\_PRO shows a worse performance, but it also shares the same pattern with PCA with the improvement in Fill-up. Also, we gain the benefits on execution time from dimensionality reduction (Table IV.9). The execution times are reduced even up to 20 times (T2D, raw data with 67.76 hours and after using RD\_PRO: 3.37 hours!) Using more bins, this might help to reduce the time for learning. As we can see that images with 255 bins, the total execution time reduced from 36.35 hours to 29.58 hours for PCA while for RD\_PRO, this decrease is trivial.

Internal	Validatio	n							
Color	Model	Bins	CDf	CDr	iCDf	iCDr	UCf	UCr	AVG
P	h-CNN		0.630	0.241	0.704	0.556	0.668	0.464	0.544
jet	CNN	QTF	0.678	0.414	0.758	0.550	0.779	0.489	0.611
rainbow	CNN	QTF	0.693	0.344	0.766	0.556	0.767	0.495	0.603
viridis	CNN	QTF	0.694	0.357	0.746	0.618	0.811	0.467	0.616
jet	CNN	SPB	0.755	0.341	0.800	0.433	0.730	0.519	0.596
rainbow	CNN	SPB	0.808	0.369	0.862	0.508	0.790	0.610	0.658
viridis	CNN	SPB	0.590	0.377	0.722	0.565	0.697	0.407	0.560
jet	FC	QTF	0.697	0.409	0.792	0.616	0.791	0.529	0.639
rainbow	FC	QTF	0.731	0.389	0.757	0.631	0.837	0.544	0.648
viridis	FC	QTF	0.743	0.362	0.815	0.642	0.796	0.519	0.646
jet	FC	SPB	0.771	0.360	0.854	0.508	0.753	0.580	0.638
rainbow	FC	SPB	0.791	0.292	0.829	0.531	0.795	0.632	0.645
viridis	FC	SPB	0.768	0.374	0.822	0.592	0.709	0.503	0.628
External	Validatio	on							
P	h-CNN		0.858	0.853	0.842	0.628	0.741	0.583	0.751
jet	CNN	QTF	0.930	0.805	0.920	0.669	0.565	0.329	0.703
rainbow	CNN	QTF	0.930	0.795	0.920	0.591	0.477	0.438	0.692
viridis	CNN	QTF	0.930	0.868	0.919	0.580	0.826	0.777	0.817
jet	CNN	SPB	1.000	0.425	0.920	0.497	0.742	0.329	0.652
rainbow	CNN	SPB	1.000	0.270	1.000	0.664	0.840	0.580	0.726
viridis	CNN	SPB	0.705	0.361	1.000	0.330	0.826	0.329	0.592
jet	FC	QTF	0.854	0.802	1.000	0.919	0.837	0.410	0.804
rainbow	FC	QTF	0.930	0.868	0.919	0.698	0.837	0.580	0.805
viridis	FC	QTF	1.000	0.868	0.842	0.514	0.916	0.713	0.809
jet	FC	SPB	0.854	0.654	1.000	0.628	0.826	0.580	0.757
rainbow	FC	SPB	0.854	0.654	1.000	0.669	0.916	0.585	0.780
viridis	FC	SPB	0.779	0.669	1.000	0.749	0.826	0.329	0.725

Table IV.7 – Classification performance (in MCC) compared to Ph-CNN on six classification tasks on IBD. The better results on the external validation sets are formatted **bold-Italic**. The significant results are reported in **bold**. The average performances are revealed in the last column (AVG).



Figure IV.24 Performance comparison of shallow learning algorithms and deep learning approaches on Colorectal cancer datasets (in AUC) using gray images of Fill-up. Error bars are standard deviations. Approaches: Model-Type of Bins-Number of bins (CNN-QTF-nb10 means using the model of CNN with 10 bins of QTF).

#### IV.5.5.2 Comparing to standard machine learning methods

In order to evaluate the efficiency of our approach on gene families abundance compared to standard learning algorithms such as RF and SVM, we generate images from gene families abundance without dimensionality reduction algorithms to apply CNN. Due to some limitations of computational resource, we build small images with a resolution of  $48 \times 48$  (See Figure IV.28 to see a comparison between a minimum size of images fitting all features and the compressed images with  $48 \times 48$ ).

Table IV.10 and Figure IV.27 demonstrate the comparison results between classical learning methods (RF and SVM) and Fill-up approach. It is worthy to note that we only use images of 48×48 for gene families abundance while this data requires a minimum resolution of images being to up to more than 1000 pixels for each dimension (see Table IV.1). This means we compress data more than 20 times (see Figure IV.28). Interestingly, although we employ very small images compared to the minimum requirement, Fill-up obtains 3 significant results compared to RF. Another substantial point is that PR in gene families abundance reveals a similar result in comparison with species abundance. In addition, RF performs very well on OBE that it shows a poor performance on species abundance, while SVM exposes the worst among the considered approaches. Another noteworthy result is that PR outperforms SPB. A reason for this is SPB suffers a large problem of a enormous number of overlapped points with different colors in a very compact



Figure IV.25 Performance comparison (in MCC) of approaches on the internal and external validations. Error bars are standard deviations.



Figure IV.26 Performance comparison (in AUC) of our approach and selbal. Error bars are standard deviations.

space, while PR only needs to mark a black if the abundance is greater than 0, so it does not care how many points are overlapped.

From these results, our approach is really a promising technique for very high dimensional data both species and gene abundance.

#### **IV.6 Closing remarks**

In this chapter, we explored a the architecture of CNN to learn and classify complex metagenomic data using visual representations constructed with Fill-up and dimensionality reduction methods including t-SNE, Isomap, MDS, etc. Our results show that a simple architecture such as one-convolutional-layer achieves a better performance than a more complex one, and deeper architectures such as VGG-like.

We have observed that the Fill-up approach outperforms other dimensionality reduction methods tested to construct synthetic images. This may be due to several factors.

92

Model	#bins	Rep		CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
FC	10	Fill-up	PCA	0.757	0.709	0.832	0.663	0.626	0.593	0.697
FC	10	Fill-up	RD_PRO	0.701	0.709	0.785	0.658	0.581	0.526	0.660
FC	255	Fill-up	PCA	0.755	0.707	0.829	0.662	0.627	0.593	0.696
FC	255	Fill-up	RD_PRO	0.695	0.706	0.784	0.660	0.592	0.543	0.663
FC		Raw	PCA	0.547	0.604	0.775	0.648	0.514	0.540	0.605
FC		Raw	RD_PRO	0.555	0.605	0.775	0.648	0.496	0.530	0.602
FC		Raw		0.761	0.628	0.775	0.648	0.655	0.620	0.681

Table IV.8 – Results of gene families (Unit: Accuracy) Comparison between raw data and reduced dimensionality data using Random Projection (RD\_PRO) and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) with the same model FC. The significant results compared to original abundance are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)

#bins	Rep		CIR	$\mathbf{COL}$	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	SUM	AVG
10	Fill-up	PCA	6.87	5.22	4.92	5.86	9.68	3.80	36.35	6.06
10	Fill-up	RD_PRO	4.44	3.54	3.29	4.19	5.22	3.28	23.96	3.99
255	Fill-up	PCA	5.86	4.24	3.90	5.03	8.05	2.50	29.58	4.93
255	Fill-up	RD_PRO	3.29	4.04	4.13	2.66	3.75	3.87	21.74	3.62
	Raw	PCA	6.19	3.56	3.05	5.44	8.44	1.78	28.46	4.74
	Raw	RD_PRO	3.06	2.83	2.57	2.86	3.37	2.38	17.07	2.85
	Raw		37.63	19.41	18.85	20.99	67.76	13.67	178.31	29.72
		sum	67.34	42.85	40.71	47.03	106.26	31.27		
		avg	9.62	6.12	5.82	6.72	15.18	4.47		

Table IV.9 – Results of gene families (Unit: hours). Comparison time inference between raw data and reduced dimensionality data using RD\_PRO (Random Projection) and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) with the same model FC. The average execution time of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)

First, the features in the Fill-up are all visible while features in the other methods are often overlapping. Second, the Fill-up approach integrates prior knowledge on the phylogenetic classification of the features. In addition, the images based on manifolds learning are more complex than the Fill-up images. It is noteworthy that with the Fill-up we show significant improvements on four data sets, while the t-SNE reveals significant improvement on one data set, namely on the T2D. The FC model outperforms the CNN model in color images while CNN model achieves a better performance than the FC for gray and black/white images. Besides, the representations based on 2D images yield better results compared to 1D data. In general, the proposed Met2Img method outperforms the state-of-the-art both on species and genus abundance data.

Our approach is also evaluated on a number of different benchmarks including species abundance, genus abundance, and gene families abundance. These datasets are characterized by various dimensions ranging from thousand to millions features. The results show that increasing the number of considered attributes is also potential to enhance the



Figure IV.27 The ACC performances of classical learning and our approach. Standard deviations are shown in error bars.

	Model	Bins	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
Fill-up	CNN	PR	0.887	0.764	0.830	0.671	0.653	0.682	0.748
Fill-up	CNN	SPB	0.885	0.739	0.826	0.674	0.652	0.643	0.737
Fill-up	FC	PR	0.871	0.735	0.813	0.668	0.590	0.654	0.722
Fill-up	FC	SPB	0.836	0.732	0.810	0.637	0.589	0.619	0.704
1D	FC		0.761	0.628	0.775	0.648	0.655	0.620	0.681
1D	RF		0.848	0.766	0.800	0.690	0.670	0.642	0.736
1D	SVM		0.509	0.604	0.775	0.648	0.506	0.553	0.599

Table IV.10 – Performance comparison between classical learning algorithms and our approach. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). The results in bold is significant improvement compared to RF.



Figure IV.28 An illustration of Fill-up from a sample of cirrhosis gene families abundance dataset with images of  $1322 \times 1322$  and  $48 \times 48$ .  $48 \times 48$  Black/white and  $1322 \times 1322$  Black/white are generated with PR while  $48 \times 48$  gray is applied by SPB.

performance compared to classical machine learning methods.

Computational time of GPU for CNN is improved greatly compared to CPU, but there is no considerable difference for FC models. This indicates that GPU seems to only run efficiently with complex models.

Currently we are investigating various deep learning architectures, and also explore integration of other heterogeneous "omics" data.

# Chapter V Conclusion and Perspectives

#### V.1 Conclusion

The main contribution of this thesis is a framework called **Met2Img** that provides a novel approach for visualization of metagenomic data (Chapter III), and the corresponding architecture of the CNN applied to the visualizations (Chapter IV) to perform a classification. We also presented a feature selection framework to integrate heterogeneous high-dimensional sources based on the powerful visualization capabilities of the Self-Organising Maps (SOM) and predictive accuracy of Support Vector Machines (SVM) in Chapter II.

In Chapter II, we proposed a framework to reduce dimensionality by a deep approach based on SOM and a SVM. The deep structure aims to visualize clusters in 2D based on the robust capability of SOM. The method achieves reasonable results compared to the-state-of-the-art performance. The framework is expected to help to better stratify patients, and to develop approaches for personalized medicine.

In Chapters III and IV we presented a framework Met2Img that constructs synthetic images from metagenomic data, and it enables the powerful capabilities of deep learning in image classification. We explored a variety of visualization methods including the fill-up and manifold learning based approaches using various kinds of bins to reduce the effects of minor observation errors, and to get rid of noise in the data.

The experimental results are promising. On the public benchmark including 6 species abundance datasets (group A) related to five diseases with the number of features ranging from 381 to 572, Fill-up achieves significant improvements on 4 out of 6 datasets such as CIR, IBD, OBE, WT2 while visualization based on dimensionality reduction learning methods such as t-SNE, and NMF outperform on T2D dataset compared to the-stateof-the-art [18]. Although we cannot obtain any significant results on COL dataset in group A compared to RF, the performances on colorectal cancer datasets in group B are improved with 4 out of 5 datasets achieving significant results compared to RF as increasing the number of considered features (the number of considered OTUs is up to nearly 2000). Noteworthy, our approach shows significant improvements both FC and CNN models compared to the-state-of-the-art that used only seven enriched species found in [37]. Comparing to another state-of-the-art, Ph-CNN [11], on genus-level abundance (group C) with smaller number of features ranging from 237 to 257 features, our framework also obtains encouraging results with most of cases of classification being significant results. Moreover, the framework performs well on the external validation sets. Comparing the results from gene families abundance (group D) with the number of features being up to more than one million, we also achieve some greater performances compared to RF, even though only very small images are carried out in this analysis. The results on gene families abundance using dimensionality reduction algorithms also exhibit considerably improvements for FC model in terms of execution time and accuracy. The results on read counts (group E) reveal that the proposed framework is efficient not only for abundance data, but also read counts.

The models of Fill-up integrated phylogenetic ordering information outperform random sorting on COL, IBD datasets. This exposes that the phylogenetic information integrated in the images can improve the performance. Furthermore, sorting species that has a relation on phylogenetic ordering side by side can be useful information for prediction.

We proposed and tested three efficient binning algorithms, namely **SPB** (Species Bin), **QTF** (quantile transformation) and **PR** (Presence/absence). The SPB is more efficient than the others for species abundance in most of situations, but QTF helps to improve remarkably the performance for Isomap and exhibits a substantial results for genus abundance. For the QTF bins, for each fold, data is transformed to a uniform distribution then creating images based on transformed data. Therefore, the QTF tends to consume more time in execution compared to SPB where the set of images is created once at the beginning. Although in general the PR seems to be less efficient than the SPB and the QTF, its performance also reaches the-art-of-the-art. Remarkably, the PR outperforms the SPB when we consider very highly compressed images for gene families abundance.

We explored about ten quantitative colormaps for the synthetic images. For data shaped as a uniform distribution, *viridis* performs well in the term of accuracy while *jet*, *rainbow* seem to be appropriate for distributions shaped as a bell-shaped. Furthermore, a gray scale is an appropriate choice, it is noteworthy that gray images present substantial results for both the FC (fully connected) and the CNN. *Grays* also often yields a better performance in CNN compared to FC. However, *grays* needs more epochs to converge compared to the color images. We found that perceptual multi-hue colormap such as *viridis* and single-hue colormaps such as grays perform well on big data. Our results suggest that *viridis* and *grays* can provide a sufficient discrimination for classification on large scale data.

The Fill-up which is a simple approach, outperforms manifold learning approaches in most of cases. The first reason for it, is that images generated by manifold learning methods contain overlapped points while all features in the Fill-up are visible. Second, images visualized by manifold learning are rather complex what also requires more complex architectures to achieve a good performance. As shown in the thesis, the CNN perform better than the fully connected in the majority of our experiments for gray images based on manifold learning approaches. Although the Fill-up usually exposes poor performance on T2D, the t-SNE obtains a significant improvement on this dataset. Additionally, the t-SNE performs well on original data while the Isomap shows the best efficiency on transformed data formed a uniform distribution.

The analysis of various CNN structures reveals that the performance can degrade as the number of convolutional layer increases. In this case, instead of increasing the depth of the network, it is better to expand the width of the network by increasing the number of filters to attempt to improve the performance. Moreover, we modified the EarlyStopping criterion in Keras.callback that leads to a substantial improvement on the T2D, and also on all other tested datasets.

The Random Forest performs implicit feature selection and usually produces a model with the most accurate performance, but it is still a black box. For high-dimensional data, it is a challenge to explain and interpret the data and the estimated models. Our framework does not only provide visualization methods for features mapped into 2-dimensional images which can be investigated by human experts, but also, the framework produces an outstanding performance compared to original data. Additionally, we also explored recent methods to interpret complex machine learning models such as LIME, Grad-Cam, and Saliency to find explanations for the output of the CNN. We were able to discover patterns in images that can be evidences and biomedical signatures in prediction tasks. Comparing the extracted patterns to important features obtained by the RF of MetAML visualized using Fill-up, we have noticed an important overlap between them. These biological markers are expected to discriminate patients, and to help to develop approaches of personalized medicine.

We analyzed the execution time, and compared between CPU and GPU. We noticed that the GPU works very efficient for the CNN while on simple models such as FC, the GPU does not show improvements in the speed of processing. We could propose to utilize GPU for CNN and CPU for modest learning algorithm such as FC.

We also introduce a publicly available module, namely Met2Img, at https://git. integromics.fr/published/deepMG\_tf. It is implemented in Python, and it provides not only a framework to visualize the OTUs as synthetic images (in order to further apply deep learning techniques), but it also facilitates follow-up studies and evaluation of new methods for disease classification. The module also supports a variety of different measures such as ACC (predictive empirical accuracy), AUC, MCC (Matthews Correlation Coefficient), loss value that are available for all folds, and other scores such as F1-score, precision, and confusion matrix. This information enables to evaluate the efficiency of new methods. We introduced a number of options that can be used within the module. These parameters help the users to use Met2Img. The users are welcome to test variations of deep learning techniques such CNN1D, CNN2D, VGG, FC, Long Short Term Memory networks (LSTM), as well classical learning algorithms, for instance, SVM and RF. There are a number of possibilities to generate synthetic images that are supplied such as different resolution, and a diversity of visualization methods based on manifold learning. In this thesis, we report that the Met2Img is a useful and promising tool to assess and to comparing various human diseases based on microbiome features.

#### V.2 Future Research Directions

Our preliminary studies on visualization of microbiome data could lead to several directions for future work. The proposed framework explores potential use on metagenomic data. However, although the Met2Img is only studied for metagenomics, the method can be applied directly to any other "omics" data, in order to perform a more advanced function-based analysis. The increasing amount of data from multiple sources leads to more requirements for heterogeneous data integration. The prediction of various diseases can be more accurate if the classifiers combine these heterogeneous data more efficiently. A combination of metagenomic data and any other data such as dietary, environmental factors, and etc. enables a better diagnostic accuracy. Moreover, the deep learning in general, and the convolutional neural networks in particular, is an active domain of research where exciting performance results are reported regularly. More and more architectures of CNN are proposed to improve the performance and perform better than humans in numerous applications [183]. If the performance of the deep learning methods applied to image processing will improve further, the ideas to present data as images for efficient analysis have a good soil to come true. Additionally, the studies on interpretability such as Grad-CAM, LIME that have been currently developed and investigated enable us to get understanding on the decision of the models and extract signatures from explanations. Combining such tools with the trained models in real-time application might help biologists to stratify patients and find signals of diseases better.

Nowadays, the speed of metagenomic data processing (gene families abundance) is rather slow, and recent advances in distributed algorithms and parallel computations are badly needed to reduce the execution time. Currently, generating synthetic images consumes a considerable time and memory for high-dimensional data such as gene abundance matrices, especially for the QTF. In [37], the authors computed the significance of available bacterial abundance changes in colorectal cancer datasets to extract seven bacterial markers for diagnosis of early-stage colorectal cancer. This feature extraction method [37] that identified seven bacterial species revealing differential abundance in CRC compared to controls across all the four cohorts, is a great potential to reduce the dimensionality of gene families abundance data leading to smaller resolution images, and the training procedure will be much less complex. Such results encourage us to go deeper in visualization of significant features in settings where the number of features is extremely high. However, these methods can demand much more time for calculation of statistical significance of the OTUs. Therefore, there is a need to find a trade off between inference time and accuracy.

The CNN with quite deep architectures still face overfitting while increasing the width of the architecture can improve the performance. In this thesis, we only considered small images ranging from  $16 \times 16$  to  $48 \times 48$  so requirements on CNN are not quite complex. However, larger data such as gene abundance with the number of features up to millions, deeper architectures should be investigated precisely. Hyper-parameters tuning for CNN also is a limitation and consumes so much time. Our study has not evaluated the efficiency of applying the pre-trained network in natural images such as VGG16, VGG19, ResNet50, etc. A reason is that most of analysis in this thesis focuses on small images while input for those networks usually require very large images such as  $224 \times 224$ . Furthermore, there are some limitations of computational resources, so such heavy networks have not been examined completely yet. Therefore, this problem should explored more advanced strategies to further improve the classification performance.

The t-SNE is a widely used approach for visualization. However, it suffers from not being generalizable, i.e how to handle new data. When we performed the t-SNE on training set, we also have to rerun the entire algorithm on the dataset if new data were added. Another problem related to the t-SNE is that the standard t-SNE procedure needs a huge amount of memory [190], and the execution time is also very high. The program might crash when we build the t-SNE maps on big data. As in [190], applicability of standard t-SNE is limited to a few thousand samples. The use of Barnes-Hut [191] in t-SNE enables to embed datasets with more than a million data points [190]. However, Barnes-Hut-SNE is only able to embed data into two or three dimensions because the size of tree in Barnes-Hut algorithm develops exponentially as increasing the dimensionality of data [190]. The next step would be to improve Met2Img in terms of memory consumption, and inference time using Model-Parallel, distributed and scalable Frameworks such as Apache Spark [188], PySpark [189].

## Appendices

103

Version Tuesday 9<sup>th</sup> October, 2018, 15:27

# Appendix A The contributions of the thesis

The contributions of this thesis include three publications:

- N. Sokolovska, H. T. Nguyen, K. Clément, J.-D. Zucker. *Deep Self-Organizing Maps for Efficient Heterogeneous Biomedical Signatures Extraction*. International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN), 2016, pages 5079-5086, IEEE, Vancouver, Canada.
- T. H. Nguyen, Y. Chevaleyre, E. Prifti, N. Sokolovska, J.-D. Zucker. *Deep Learning for Metagenomic Data: using 2D Embeddings and Convolutional Neural Networks.* NIPS 2017 Workshop on Machine Learning for Healthcare. In Proceedings of the NIPS ML4H 2017 Workshop in Long Beach, CA, USA.
- T. H. Nguyen, E. Prifti, Y. Chevaleyre, N. Sokolovska, J.-D. Zucker. *Disease Classification in Metagenomics with 2D Embeddings and Deep Learning*. In Proceedings of Conférence d'Apprentissage (CAP) 2018, Rouen, France.

A manuscript presenting the results of chapters III and IV is planed to submit to the *Scientific Reports*.

### **Appendix B**

## Taxonomies used in the example illustrated by Figure III.7

107

Class name	Color_index	#species
Methanobacteria	1	3
Methanococci	2	1
Acidobacteriia	3	1
Actinobacteria	4	53
Bacteroidetes_noname	5	2
Bacteroidia	6	93
Flavobacteriia	7	3
Sphingobacteriia	8	2
Candidatus_Saccharibacteria_noname	9	3
Chlorobia	10	1
Deinococci	11	1
Bacilli	12	85
Clostridia	13	109
Erysipelotrichia	14	23
Negativicutes	15	30
Fusobacteriia	16	13
Alphaproteobacteria	17	3
Betaproteobacteria	18	24
Deltaproteobacteria	19	5
Epsilonproteobacteria	20	8
Gammaproteobacteria	21	65
Spirochaetia	22	5
Synergistia	23	3
Mollicutes	24	1
Verrucomicrobiae	25	1
Eurotiomycetes	26	1
Saccharomycetes	27	3
		542

Table B.1 – Information on the number of species of classes in CIR dataset along with the index color and abundances shown in Figure III.9

Order name	Color_index	#species
Methanobacteriales	1	3
Methanococcales	2	1
Acidobacteriales	3	1
Actinomycetales	4	21
Bifidobacteriales	5	14
Coriobacteriales	6	18
Bacteroidetes_noname	7	2
Bacteroidales	8	93
Flavobacteriales	9	3
Sphingobacteriales	10	2
Candidatus_Saccharibacteria_noname	11	3
Chlorobiales	12	1
Deinococcales	13	1
Bacillales	14	13
Lactobacillales	15	72
Clostridiales	16	109
Erysipelotrichales	17	23
Selenomonadales	18	30
Fusobacteriales	19	13
Rhizobiales	20	2
Rhodospirillales	21	1
Burkholderiales	22	12
Gallionellales	23	1
Neisseriales	24	11
Desulfovibrionales	25	5
Campylobacterales	26	8
Aeromonadales	27	4
Alteromonadales	28	1
Cardiobacteriales	29	3
Enterobacteriales	30	38
Oceanospirillales	31	1
Pasteurellales	32	13
Pseudomonadales	33	4
Xanthomonadales	34	1
Spirochaetales	35	5
Synergistales	36	3
Mycoplasmatales	37	1
Verrucomicrobiales	38	1
Eurotiales	39	1
Saccharomycetales	40	3
		542

Table B.2 – Information on the number of species of classes in CIR dataset along with the index color shown in Figure III.8  $\,$ 

110Appendix B. Taxonomies used in the example illustrated by Figure III.7

## Appendix C

# Some other results on datasets in group A

	Bins	MODEL	Color	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2
	MetAl	ML - RF		0.060	0.095	0.070	0.039	0.073	0.147
Fill-up	PR	CNN	BW	0.077	0.122	0.081	0.053	0.083	0.136
Fill-up	QTF	CNN	viridis	0.069	0.117	0.084	0.058	0.083	0.150
Fill-up	SPB	CNN	custom	0.072	0.119	0.086	0.058	0.092	0.140
Fill-up	SPB	CNN	gray	0.071	0.120	0.081	0.066	0.094	0.132
Fill-up	SPB	CNN	jet	0.068	0.104	0.082	0.063	0.087	0.146
Fill-up	$\mathbf{PR}$	$\mathbf{FC}$	BW	0.077	0.117	0.083	0.061	0.090	0.143
Fill-up	QTF	$\mathbf{FC}$	viridis	0.067	0.125	0.087	0.062	0.087	0.142
Fill-up	SPB	$\mathbf{FC}$	grays	0.060	0.120	0.092	0.060	0.077	0.145
Fill-up	SPB	$\mathbf{FC}$	jet	0.059	0.128	0.089	0.065	0.077	0.127
Fill-up	SPB	FC	custom	0.058	0.119	0.089	0.064	0.077	0.129
Fill-up *	$\mathbf{PR}$	CNN	BW	0.069	0.108	0.082	0.059	0.080	0.132
Fill-up *	SPB	CNN	grays	0.065	0.104	0.085	0.064	0.076	0.134
Fill-up *	PR	$\mathbf{FC}$	BW	0.077	0.122	0.084	0.062	0.086	0.153
Fill-up *	SPB	FC	grays	0.064	0.123	0.089	0.056	0.078	0.154
isomap	QTF	CNN	grays	0.067	0.111	0.085	0.067	0.081	0.150
isomap	QTF	CNN	grays	0.064	0.103	0.087	0.063	0.074	0.156
isomap	QTF	FC	grays	0.073	0.119	0.057	0.056	0.078	0.132
isomap	QTF	$\mathbf{FC}$	grays	0.073	0.119	0.056	0.057	0.077	0.133
TSNE	PR	CNN	BW	0.074	0.107	0.077	0.055	0.079	0.128
TSNE	PR	FC	BW	0.077	0.116	0.078	0.054	0.083	0.147
TSNE	QTF	CNN	viridis	0.080	0.123	0.076	0.057	0.085	0.136
TSNE	QTF	CNN	jet	0.074	0.127	0.082	0.061	0.083	0.144
TSNE	QTF	CNN	grays	0.075	0.129	0.081	0.062	0.080	0.138
TSNE	QTF	FC	viridis	0.074	0.117	0.072	0.042	0.079	0.155
TSNE	QTF	FC	jet	0.073	0.120	0.076	0.056	0.097	0.157
TSNE	QTF	FC	grays	0.074	0.117	0.049	0.050	0.083	0.144
TSNE	SPB	CNN	jet	0.065	0.102	0.087	0.061	0.076	0.129
TSNE	SPB	CNN	viridis	0.062	0.108	0.074	0.062	0.087	0.152
TSNE	SPB	CNN	grays	0.070	0.107	0.086	0.062	0.077	0.142
TSNE	SPB	FC	jet	0.061	0.117	0.080	0.064	0.075	0.167
TSNE	SPB	FC	viridis	0.063	0.117	0.071	0.058	0.072	0.139
TSNE	SPB	FC	grays	0.064	0.115	0.055	0.056	0.074	0.157

Table C.1 – Standard deviation (of ACC) results of Fill-up and manifold learning methods presented in Table IV.5  $\,$ 

Model	Color	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2
CNN	custom	1.1E-02	0.952	1.3E-06	4.3E-06	0.727	0.413
CNN	gist_rainbow	0.144	0.875	3.4E-03	5.0E-04	0.844	0.965
CNN	Grays	4.8E-04	0.805	1.9E-09	7.3E-07	0.891	0.450
CNN	jet	7.6E-04	0.726	4.5E-08	2.2E-07	0.933	0.295
CNN	nipy_spectral	0.735	1.000	0.418	0.100	0.965	0.994
CNN	Paired	1.000	1.000	0.911	0.092	0.995	1.000
CNN	rainbow	2.1E-02	0.987	6.7E-09	1.1E-04	0.998	0.294
CNN	reds	0.077	0.989	1.7E-05	1.4E-03	0.663	0.483
CNN	viridis	0.372	0.997	0.066	2.4E-03	0.965	0.998
CNN	YlGnBu	1.9E-02	0.986	2.6E-05	6.5E-04	0.841	0.474
FC	custom	1.6E-04	0.497	5.1E-03	4.6E-06	0.969	0.364
FC	gist_rainbow	6.9E-03	0.848	6.9E-03	1.6E-06	0.996	0.664
FC	Grays	0.075	0.991	1.9E-04	1.6E-09	0.892	0.233
FC	jet	6.9E-05	0.785	3.2E-03	1.4E-06	0.718	0.272
FC	nipy_spectral	0.338	1.000	0.082	4.1E-04	1.000	0.067
FC	Paired	1.000	1.000	0.651	3.0E-04	1.000	0.836
FC	rainbow	4.9E-04	0.999	4.3E-05	6.1E-07	0.999	0.447
FC	reds	2.8E-02	0.940	2.9E-04	1.2E-06	0.975	0.053
FC	viridis	8.8E-03	0.999	2.7E-04	7.3E-09	0.999	0.483
FC	YlGnBu	1.1E-02	0.981	1.2E-04	7.2E-06	0.942	0.117

Table C.2 – P-values of Fill-up SPB using different color maps compared t-test to MetAML's results (in ACC).

		CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2
cnn	Custom	9.2E-04	0.981	0.187	9.5E-03	0.075	0.997
cnn	gist_rainbow	6.8E-03	0.975	3.9E-02	0.053	0.238	0.988
cnn	Grays	2.7 E-04	0.996	0.099	1.9E-05	0.638	0.992
cnn	jet	4.0E-05	0.996	0.056	0.287	0.459	0.999
$\operatorname{cnn}$	nipy_spectral	0.435	1.000	0.571	0.244	1.000	1.000
$\operatorname{cnn}$	Paired	0.998	1.000	0.916	1.7E-04	0.886	0.921
$\operatorname{cnn}$	rainbow	1.5E-02	0.997	0.218	0.359	0.506	0.983
cnn	reds	1.7E-03	0.999	0.203	6.6E-03	0.116	0.967
cnn	viridis	6.9E-03	0.961	2.2E-03	1.0E-02	0.510	0.757
cnn	YlGnBu	1.1E-03	0.998	0.102	3.6E-02	0.404	0.885
fc	Custom	6.3E-03	0.885	1.2E-02	3.1E-03	0.173	0.874
fc	gist_rainbow	0.089	0.941	2.6E-02	1.2E-02	0.995	0.922
fc	Grays	5.4E-03	0.987	5.2E-04	2.2E-07	0.415	0.823
fc	jet	<b>3.2E-0</b> 4	0.968	3.7E-04	5.2E-03	0.174	1.000
fc	nipy_spectral	0.756	1.000	0.100	9.7E-03	1.000	0.913
fc	Paired	1.000	1.000	2.1E-02	1.4E-03	1.000	0.087
fc	rainbow	1.2E-04	0.929	1.0E-04	1.1E-02	0.395	0.995
fc	reds	3.1E-03	0.880	1.0E-03	3.6E-03	0.811	0.692
fc	viridis	0.111	0.997	9.7E-06	3.0E-02	0.991	0.333
fc	YlGnBu	1.9E-04	0.913	3.6E-04	2.5E-03	0.639	0.616

Table C.3 – P-values of Fill-up QTF using different color maps compared t-test to MetAML's results (in ACC).

Algorithm	Model	Colors	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
LDA	CNN	custom	0.899	0.771	0.803	0.674	0.656	0.664	0.744
LDA	CNN	grays	0.900	0.746	0.809	0.671	0.661	0.675	0.744
LDA	CNN	jet	0.896	0.743	0.794	0.665	0.661	0.652	0.735
LDA	CNN	viridis	0.883	0.764	0.818	0.660	0.654	0.689	0.745
LDA	FC	custom	0.875	0.779	0.819	0.689	0.604	0.682	0.741
LDA	FC	grays	0.873	0.736	0.792	0.679	0.631	0.687	0.733
LDA	FC	jet	0.875	0.761	0.818	0.669	0.637	0.649	0.735
LDA	FC	viridis	0.858	0.740	0.829	0.666	0.603	0.716	0.735

Table C.4 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using LDA (with labels from a (family) taxonomic group and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

Algorithm	Model	Colors	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
PCA	CNN	custom	0.886	0.746	0.824	0.645	0.663	0.677	0.740
PCA	CNN	grays	0.890	0.744	0.815	0.661	0.678	0.686	0.745
PCA	CNN	jet	0.890	0.750	0.822	0.659	0.678	0.674	0.746
PCA	CNN	viridis	0.883	0.745	0.838	0.653	0.670	0.687	0.746
PCA	FC	custom	0.889	0.776	0.837	0.673	0.642	0.684	0.750
PCA	FC	grays	0.893	0.749	0.796	0.669	0.654	0.684	0.741
PCA	FC	jet	0.899	0.763	0.838	0.672	0.656	0.670	0.750
PCA	FC	viridis	0.880	0.760	0.842	0.663	0.621	0.688	0.742

Table C.5 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using PCA and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

Algorithm	Model	Colors	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
NMF	CNN	custom	0.883	0.756	0.832	0.646	0.675	0.639	0.739
NMF	CNN	grays	0.883	0.742	0.826	0.665	0.683	0.635	0.739
NMF	CNN	jet	0.890	0.747	0.831	0.654	0.670	0.626	0.736
NMF	CNN	viridis	0.881	0.750	0.826	0.653	0.668	0.649	0.738
NMF	FC	custom	0.890	0.780	0.837	0.674	0.644	0.659	0.747
NMF	FC	grays	0.893	0.756	0.790	0.676	0.655	0.686	0.743
NMF	FC	jet	0.898	0.757	0.826	0.670	0.648	0.662	0.744
NMF	FC	viridis	0.886	0.761	0.842	0.666	0.619	0.702	0.746

Table C.6 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using NMF and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

Algorithm	Model	Colors	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
MDS	CNN	custom	0.878	0.753	0.833	0.670	0.669	0.659	0.744
MDS	CNN	grays	0.881	0.741	0.816	0.685	0.667	0.670	0.743
MDS	CNN	jet	0.879	0.749	0.811	0.670	0.663	0.660	0.739
MDS	CNN	viridis	0.876	0.763	0.818	0.672	0.653	0.660	0.740
MDS	FC	custom	0.882	0.776	0.843	0.683	0.634	0.687	0.751
MDS	FC	grays	0.889	0.767	0.782	0.668	0.637	0.685	0.738
MDS	FC	jet	0.897	0.763	0.824	0.678	0.636	0.661	0.743
MDS	FC	viridis	0.883	0.738	0.832	0.664	0.597	0.683	0.733

Table C.7 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using MDS and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

Algorithm	Model	Colors	CIR	COL	IBD	OBE	T2D	WT2	AVG
ISOMAP	CNN	grays	0.889	0.743	0.815	0.691	0.657	0.712	0.751
ISOMAP	CNN	jet	0.887	0.746	0.824	0.683	0.658	0.687	0.747
ISOMAP	CNN	viridis	0.881	0.744	0.837	0.661	0.651	0.713	0.748
ISOMAP	CNN	custom	0.883	0.757	0.830	0.675	0.638	0.706	0.748
ISOMAP	FC	grays	0.871	0.742	0.793	0.688	0.646	0.689	0.738
ISOMAP	FC	jet	0.887	0.752	0.815	0.671	0.629	0.662	0.736
ISOMAP	FC	viridis	0.862	0.745	0.829	0.662	0.605	0.705	0.735
ISOMAP	FC	custom	0.880	0.761	0.838	0.694	0.624	0.709	0.751

Table C.8 – Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using Isomap and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3

## **List of Figures**

II.1	The hierarchy of SOM. For three lower levels, from left to right: MGS, environmental variables, host, and adipose tissue microarray data. Three upper layers perform data integration from four data sources	14
II.2	Quantization error. Above: the error associated with three highest levels of the SOM deep architecture; below: the quantization error for each data source, associated with the lower three levels of the SOM hierarchy on Figure II.1	15
II.3	Separation of patients with the selected features. $1-$ high gene count patients, $2-$ low gene count patients. $\ldots$	15
II.4	(A): Signature of the high gene count group which is associated with a better health. (B): Signature of the low gene count group which is associated with higher inflammation. (C): A signature which discriminates high gene count and low gene count groups.	16
II.5	(A): Bayesian network of the selected features associated with the HGC (A) and LGC (B) group	17
II.6	The 10-folds cross validation error rate on the MicroObese data as a func- tion of the number of active features. On the left: the lasso (A) and the elastic net (B); on the right: the lasso (A) and the elastic net (B) after the unsupervised feature selection.	18
III.1	The acid drainage metagenome [156] was visualized by MG-RAST [157], MEGAN [158], and Krona [155]. The figure is provided from [155].	24
III.2	(A): Histogram of whole six datasets of group A (Left: original data, Right: Log-histogram (base 4)). (B): Log histogram of each dataset	29
III.3	Examples of Fill-up on a sample of CIR dataset (images of $24 \times 24$ ), Top: Left-Right <b>SPB</b> with jet colormap, <b>SPB</b> with gray images, and <b>PR</b> with black/white images; Down: Left-Right: <b>QTF</b> (10 bins) with jet color im- ages, <b>QTF</b> (10 bins) with gray images and <b>QTF</b> (255 bins) with gray	
	images	32
III.4	Examples of Fill-up on a sample of CIR dataset using <b>SPB</b> with 10 different colormaps.	32
III.5	Average abundance of species visualized by Fill-up using jet colormap and phylogenetic ordering; relative species abundance binned by SBP	33
III.6 Examples of t-SNE representation, Left-Right (types of images): color images (using jet colormap), gray images, black/white images; Top-Down: Global t-SNE maps and images of samples created from the global t-SNE	22	
---	----	
<ul> <li>III.7 Visualization based on Fill-up of average species abundance visualized by phylogenetic ordering (binned by SPB) and distributions of 16 Phylum</li> </ul>	33	
OTUS, 27 Class OTUS, and 40 Order OTUS on CIR dataset (The names and indexes of color of phylum, class, order taxa are listed in Table III.5, B.1, B.2). Each OTU is presented by a distinct color	35	
<ul><li>III.8 Visualization in 3D of phylum distribution consisting of coordinates and phylum abundance from (A) a control sample (78th sample) and (B) a patient sample (93rd sample) of CIR dataset with 2 different viewing angles. Each phylum is presented by a color. Abundance and name of phylum are in detail in Table III 5</li></ul>	36	
<ul><li>III.9 Visualization in 3D of phylum distribution including positions and species abundance from (A) the control sample (78th) and (B) the patient sample (93rd) of CIR dataset with 2 different viewing angles. Each phylum is presented by a color. Abundance and name of phylum are in detail in</li></ul>		
Table III.5	37	
III.10Average abundance map of CIR dataset visualized by MDS, PCA, Isomap, t-SNE, NMF, and LDA with SPB (A) and QTF (B). For LDA (the second rows of each A and B), we use different level OTUs for label inputs (Left- Right: phylum, class, order, family, genus). Colors are presented in the maps showing the magnitude of average species abundance with the lowest abundance colored dark blue and the largest revealed red.	20	
III.11Visualization Comparison among of MDS, PCA, Isomap, t-SNE, NMF, and LDA with different levels of taxa using original abundance. Rows of 1,	39	
<ul> <li>2, 3, 4, and 5 correspond to phylum, class, order, family, genus, respectively.</li> <li>III.12Visualization Comparison among oof MDS, PCA, Isomap, t-SNE, NMF, and LDA with different levels of taxa using transformed abundance using OTE Bows of 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 correspond to phylum, class, order, family.</li> </ul>	40	
genus, respectively.	41	
III.13Examples of Global maps (1st and 3rd rows) and samples (2nd and 4th rows) created from manifold methods (Isomap, LLE, MDS, PCA, Random projection, Spectral Embedding, and t-SNE) with SPB and QTF bins using CIR dataset. Top: Global maps. Down: images of samples created from		
the global maps above	42	
III.14Examples of Global maps (1st and 3rd rows) and samples (2nd and 4th rows) created from manifold methods (NMF and LDA with level different labels of OTUs) with SPB and QTF bins using CIR dataset. Top: Global maps. Down: images of samples created from the global maps above. LDA1, LDA2, LDA3, LDA4, LDA5, LDA6 correspond to the labels of		
Kingdom, Phylum, Class, Order, Family and genus, respectively.	43	
III.15Visualization of 10 bins using a variety of colormaps to visualize features on CIR dataset $(24 \times 24 \text{ images})$ .	46	

IV.1	Some examples of approaches based on machine learning to metagenomics. The figure is provided from [48].
IV.2	A typical pipeline suggested in [4].
IV.3	The architecture of ImageNet on 2 GPUs with input including images of $3 \times 224 \times 224$ , and 1000 outputs of classes proposed in [41].
IV.4	Top: Attachment scheme between a deconvnet and a convnet. Bottom: An example of the unpooling operation. Max locations "switches" saved the location of local max when pooling operation performed in the convnet. The figure is provided from [14].
IV.5	The eight-layer architecture of ZFNet including 96 kernels of 7x7 (a stride of 2) in the first layer took images of $224 \times 224$ as input. After being convoluted by the first convolutional layer, the feature maps passed through by a rectified linear function, performed by max pooling of 3x3, then contrast normalized across feature maps (stride 2) to generate 96 feature maps of 55x55. Layers 2,3,4,5 looped the same operations as Layer 1. Layer 6, 7 were fully connected layers, and the final layer used softmax with $C$ outputs (classes). The figure is provided from [14]
IV.6	GoogLeNet from Inception architecture introduced in [40]
IV.7	The architecture of GoogLeNet with components presented in [40]
IV.8	The configurations of VGGNet. The figure is provided from [60]
IV.9	Architecture comparison between VGG19, ResNet plain and ResNet resid- ual [25]. Left: the architecture of VGG-19 [60]. Middle: a plain network as a baseline. Right: a residual network (with the same number of parameter layers (34) to the plain network). The figure is provided from [25]
IV.10	Comparison of operations and weights of various architectures of CNN and FC models visualized using <i>keras_sequential_ascii</i> [109].
IV.1	The architecture of Vgg-like convnet
IV.12	Performance comparison (in ACC) of a variety of CNN (without dropout) and FC models. Error bars are standard deviations
IV.13	The CNN architecture includes a stack of one convolutional layer with 64 fil- ters of $3x3$ and a max pooling of $2x2$ , followed by one fully connected layer. The input includes either images of one channel for gray (or black/white) images or three channels for color images
IV 14	Examples on effects of 2 types of Early Stopping and without using Early
1,, <u>1</u> ,	Stopping (patience = 2) $\dots \dots \dots$
IV.1	Execution time comparison between using GPU and CPU for different models (Fill-up)
IV.16	Execution time comparison of types of embedding (in hours)
IV.17	Performance comparison in detail (ACC) between CNN (illustrated by red triangles) model and RF (shown in blue circles).
IV.18	Berformance comparison in ACC between CNN model (using Fill-up (Phy- logenetic order (PLG) and random sorting (RND)) with SPB and gray images) and shallow learning algorithm (RF) of MetAML and our frame-
	work. The standard deviations are shown in error bars.

<ul><li>IV.19The average epochs stopped in Early Stopping technique of models applied to datasets using Fill-up with SPB and phylogenetic ordering. 3c-CNN and 3c-FC denote the CNN and FC models, respectively, for color images with 3 channels while 1c-CNN, 1c-FC reveal the CNN and FC with one-channel</li></ul>
input for gray images.
IV.20Important features extracted from RF model of MetAML visualized by Fill-up including ranking (A) and average scores (B). The p-values reveal the differences in species abundance between control and patient samples in (C) and p-values that is less than 0.05 (significant differences) colored
"red" in (D)
IV.21Explanation Visualizations for the samples of controls (A) and patients (B) using LIME. Pros in green areas where are evidence for the disease class
while Cons in red is against the class.
IV.22Explanation Visualizations for the samples of controls (A) and patients (B)
using Saliency Maps
IV.23Explanation Visualizations for the samples of controls (A) and patients (B) using Grad-CAM
IV.24Performance comparison of shallow learning algorithms and deep learning approaches on Colorectal cancer datasets (in AUC) using gray images of Fill-up. Error bars are standard deviations. Approaches: Model-Type of Bins-Number of bins (CNN-QTF-nb10 means using the model of CNN with 10 bins of OTE)
IV.25Performance comparison (in MCC) of approaches on the internal and ex-
ternal validations. Error bars are standard deviations
IV.26Performance comparison (in AUC) of our approach and selbal. Error bars
IV.27The ACC performances of classical learning and our approach. Standard
deviations are shown in error bars
IV.28An illustration of Fill-up from a sample of cirrhosis gene families abundance dataset with images of 1322×1322 and 48×48. 48×48 Black/white and 1322×1322 Black/white are generated with PR while 48×48 gray is applied
by SPB

## List of Tables

III.1	Information on 6 datasets in group A	28
III.2	Performance comparison (in ACC) between EQW and SPB using gray	
	images. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in	
	<b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in	
	the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3	30
III.3	Performance comparison (in ACC) between MMS and QTF using gray	
	images. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in	
	<b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in	
	the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in Section IV.4.3	31
III.4	Performance comparison (in ACC) between the chosen number of bins.	
	The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b> . The	
	average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last	
	column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3	31
III.5	Information on the number of species belonging to phyla in CIR dataset	
	along with the index color and phylum abundance visualized in 2D or 3D	
	in Figure III.7, III.8.	34
III.6	Comparison between random sorting (Fill-up*) and phylogenetically order-	
	ing. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b> .	
	The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last	
	column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3.	35
III.7	Performance comparison (in ACC) of manifold methods using gray images	
	and SPB. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in	
	<b>bold</b> . TSNE* use a learning rate of 100 while this parameter of TSNE set	
	to 200. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in	
	the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3	44
III.8	Performance comparison (in ACC) of manifold methods using gray images	
	and PR. TSNE* uses a learning rate of 200 while this parameter of TSNE	
	set to 100. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in	
	<b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in	
	the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3 $\ldots$ .	45
III.9	Performance comparison (in ACC) of manifold methods using gray images	
	and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in	
	<b>bold</b> . TSNE* uses a learning rate of 200 while this parameter of TSNE set	
	to 100. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in	
	the last column (AVG). Models are described in Section IV.4.3	46

<ul><li>III.10Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using Fill-up and SPB. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b>. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are described in IV.4.3</li></ul>	47
III.11Performance (in ACC) comparison of different levels of OTUs using LDA, QTF, and FC model. Levels of 1,2,3,4,5,6 correspond to the labels of Kingdom, Phylum, Class, Order, Family and genus, respectively. The sig- nificant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3	47
<ul><li>III.12Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using Fill-up and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b>. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3</li></ul>	48
<ul> <li>III.13Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using t-SNE.</li> <li>TSNE* uses a learning rate of 200 while this parameter of TSNE set to 100. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b>.</li> <li>The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3</li></ul>	49
IV.1 Information on 5 groups of datasets. <i>Minimum size</i> is the minimum resolution (shaped as a square) for images to fit the number of features	68
IV.2 Performance (in ACC) comparison of different architectures of CNN. CNN- l $xfy$ denotes to the CNN contains $x$ convolutional layer(s), $y$ filters for each convolutional layer and a max pooling after all convolutional layers (see an example of CNN-l1f64 in Figure IV.13) while $drfc$ , $drcnn$ reveal dropout rate in FC layers, Convolutional layers, respectively. The significant results are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)	72
IV.3 Accuracy and the average number of epochs during training. A comparison between Early Stopping (patience = 5) of Keras and Early Stopping with modifications. The significant results are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of ris detects is compared and always in the last scheme (AVC).	75
<ul><li>IV.4 Performance (in ACC) comparison on 1D data. The significant results are reported in <b>bold</b>. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG).</li></ul>	75
IV.5 Performance (in ACC) comparison on 2D data (Results of Fill-up with random ordering are marked "*"). The significant results are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Standard deviation is presented in Table C.1	79
IV.6 AUC performance for datasets in group C. The significant results (compared to RF) are reported in <b>bold</b> . The results marked * are significant to [37] for C5. The average performance of five datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)	88

IV.7	Classification performance (in MCC) compared to Ph-CNN on six classifi- cation tasks on IBD. The better results on the external validation sets are formatted <b>bold-Italic</b> . The significant results are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performances are revealed in the last column (AVG)	89
IV.8	Results of gene families (Unit: Accuracy) Comparison between raw data and reduced dimensionality data using Random Projection (RD_PRO) and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) with the same model FC. The significant results compared to original abundance are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)	93
IV.9	Results of gene families (Unit: hours). Comparison time inference between raw data and reduced dimensionality data using RD_PRO (Random Pro- jection) and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) with the same model FC. The average execution time of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG)	93
IV.10	0Performance comparison between classical learning algorithms and our approach. The average performance of six datasets is computed and shown in the last column (AVG). The results in bold is significant improvement compared to RF	94
B.1	Information on the number of species of classes in CIR dataset along with the index color and abundances shown in Figure III.9 10	08
B.2	Information on the number of species of classes in CIR dataset along with the index color shown in Figure III.8	)9
C.1	Standard deviation (of ACC) results of Fill-up and manifold learning meth- ods presented in Table IV.5	12
C.2	P-values of Fill-up SPB using different colormaps compared t-test to MetAML's results (in ACC).	13
C.3	P-values of Fill-up QTF using different colormaps compared t-test to MetAML's results (in ACC).	3 14
C.4	Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using LDA (with labels from a (family) taxonomic group and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3	14
C.5	Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using PCA and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3	15
C.6	Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using NMF and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in <b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3	15

C.7	Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using MDS	
	and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in	
	<b>bold</b> . The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown	
	in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3	115

C.8 Performance (in ACC) comparison of a variety of colormaps using Isomap and QTF. The significant results (compared to MetAML) are reported in **bold**. The average performance of six datasets are computed and shown in the last column (AVG). Models are detailed in IV.4.3 . . . . . . . . . 116

## Bibliography

- R. COLLOBERT, K. KAVUKCUOGLU & C. FARABET; «Torch7: A Matlab-like Environment for Machine Learning»; dans «BigLearn, NIPS Workshop», (2011). Cited on page 5
- [2] F. H. KARLSSON, V. TREMAROLI, I. NOOKAEW, G. BERGSTRÖM, C. J. BEHRE, B. FAGERBERG, J. NIELSEN & F. BÄCKHED; «Gut metagenome in European women with normal, impaired and diabetic glucose control»; Nature 498, p. 99–103 (2013). Cited on pages xviii, 27, and 67
- [3] L. v. d. MAATEN & G. HINTON; «Visualizing Data using t-SNE»; J. Mach. Learn. Res. 9, p. 2579–2605 (2008).
   Cited on pages xiv, 27, 28, and 52
- [4] G. DITZLER, G. ROSEN & R. POLIKAR; «Forensic identification with environmental samples»; dans «2012 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)», p. 1861–1864. Cited on pages 54, 55, and 119
- [5] L. DENG & D. YU; «Deep Learning: Methods and Applications»; 7, p. 197– 387 (2014). ISSN 1932-8346, 1932-8354. https://nowpublishers.com/article/ Details/SIG-039.
- [6] W. LI & A. GODZIK; «Cd-hit: a fast program for clustering and comparing large sets of protein or nucleotide sequences»; 22, p. 1658-1659. ISSN 1367-4803. https://academic.oup.com/bioinformatics/article/22/13/1658/194225/ Cd-hit-a-fast-program-for-clustering-and-comparing. Cited on page 55
- M. D. ZEILER, G. W. TAYLOR & R. FERGUS; «Adaptive Deconvolutional Networks for Mid and High Level Feature Learning»; dans «Proceedings of the 2011 International Conference on Computer Vision», ICCV '11; p. 2018–2025 (IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC, USA) (2011); ISBN 978-1-4577-1101-5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICCV.2011.6126474. Cited on page 58
- [8] H. SOKOL, V. LEDUCQ, H. ASCHARD, H.-P. PHAM, S. JEGOU, C. LANDMAN, D. CO-HEN, G. LIGUORI, A. BOURRIER, I. NION-LARMURIER, J. COSNES, P. SEKSIK, P. LANGELLA, D. SKURNIK, M. L. RICHARD & L. BEAUGERIE; «Fungal microbiota dysbiosis in IBD»; Gut 66, p. 1039–1048 (2016). Cited on pages xviii, 65, and 83
- [9] T. Z. DESANTIS, Jr, P. HUGENHOLTZ, K. KELLER, E. L. BRODIE, N. LARSEN, Y. M. PICENO, R. PHAN & G. L. ANDERSEN; «NAST: a multiple sequence alignment

server for comparative analysis of 16S rRNA genes»; Nucleic Acids Res. **34**, p. W394–9 (2006). Cited on page 55

- [10] N. QIN, F. YANG, A. LI, E. PRIFTI, Y. CHEN, L. SHAO, J. GUO, E. LE CHATELIER, J. YAO, L. WU, J. ZHOU, S. NI, L. LIU, N. PONS, J. M. BATTO, S. P. KENNEDY, P. LEONARD, C. YUAN, W. DING, Y. CHEN, X. HU, B. ZHENG, G. QIAN, W. XU, S. D. EHRLICH, S. ZHENG & L. LI; «Alterations of the human gut microbiome in liver cirrhosis»; Nature 513, p. 59–64 (2014). Cited on pages xviii, 27, and 67
- D. FIORAVANTI, Y. GIARRATANO, V. MAGGIO, C. AGOSTINELLI, M. CHIERICI, G. JURMAN & C. FURLANELLO; «Phylogenetic convolutional neural networks in metagenomics»; 19, p. 49 (2018). ISSN 1471-2105. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12859-018-2033-5.
- [12] S. S. VEMPALA; The Random Projection Method (American Mathematical Soc.) (2005). Cited on page 87
- [13] J. R. COLE, Q. WANG, E. CARDENAS, J. FISH, B. CHAI, R. J. FARRIS, A. S. KULAM-SYED-MOHIDEEN, D. M. MCGARRELL, T. MARSH, G. M. GARRITY & J. M. TIEDJE; «The Ribosomal Database Project: improved alignments and new tools for rRNA analysis»; Nucleic Acids Res. 37, p. D141–5 (2009). Cited on page 55
- M. D. ZEILER & R. FERGUS; «Visualizing and Understanding Convolutional Networks»; CoRR abs/1311.2901 (2013)http://arxiv.org/abs/1311.2901; 1311.
   2901. Cited on pages 58, 60, 61, 69, and 119
- [15] H. W. VIRGIN & J. A. TODD; «Metagenomics and personalized medicine»; Cell 147, p. 44–56 (2011).
- [16] R. GARRETA & G. MONCECCHI; Learning scikit-learn: Machine Learning in Python (Packt Publishing Ltd) (2013).
   Cited on pages 30, 38, and 71
- [17] I. GOODFELLOW, Y. BENGIO & A. COURVILLE; *Deep Learning* (MIT Press) (2016). Cited on pages x, 3, 67, and 71
- [18] E. PASOLLI, D. T. TRUONG, F. MALIK, L. WALDRON & N. SEGATA; «Machine Learning Meta-analysis of Large Metagenomic Datasets: Tools and Biological Insights»; PLoS Comput. Biol. **12**, p. e1004977 (2016). Cited on pages ix, x, xvii, xviii, xxi, 3, 5, 27, 28, 52, 55, 74, 76, and 97
- [19] E. LE CHATELIER, T. NIELSEN, J. QIN, E. PRIFTI, F. HILDEBRAND, G. FALONY, M. ALMEIDA, M. ARUMUGAM, J.-M. BATTO, S. KENNEDY, P. LEONARD, J. LI, K. BURGDORF, N. GRARUP, T. JØRGENSEN, I. BRANDSLUND, H. B. NIELSEN, A. S. JUNCKER, M. BERTALAN, F. LEVENEZ, N. PONS, S. RASMUSSEN, S. SUNA-GAWA, J. TAP, S. TIMS, E. G. ZOETENDAL, S. BRUNAK, K. CLÉMENT, J. DORÉ, M. KLEEREBEZEM, K. KRISTIANSEN, P. RENAULT, T. SICHERITZ-PONTEN, W. M. DE VOS, J.-D. ZUCKER, J. RAES, T. HANSEN, METAHIT CONSORTIUM, P. BORK, J. WANG, S. D. EHRLICH & O. PEDERSEN; «Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers»; Nature 500, p. 541–546 (2013). Cited on pages xviii, 12, 27, and 67

- [20] J. QIN, R. LI, J. RAES, M. ARUMUGAM, K. S. BURGDORF, C. MANICHANH, T. NIELSEN, N. PONS, F. LEVENEZ, T. YAMADA, D. R. MENDE, J. LI, J. XU, S. LI, D. LI, J. CAO, B. WANG, H. LIANG, H. ZHENG, Y. XIE, J. TAP, P. LEP-AGE, M. BERTALAN, J.-M. BATTO, T. HANSEN, D. LE PASLIER, A. LINNEBERG, H. B. NIELSEN, E. PELLETIER, P. RENAULT, T. SICHERITZ-PONTEN, K. TURNER, H. ZHU, C. YU, S. LI, M. JIAN, Y. ZHOU, Y. LI, X. ZHANG, S. LI, N. QIN, H. YANG, J. WANG, S. BRUNAK, J. DORÉ, F. GUARNER, K. KRISTIANSEN, O. PEDERSEN, J. PARKHILL, J. WEISSENBACH, METAHIT CONSORTIUM, P. BORK, S. D. EHRLICH & J. WANG; «A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing»; Nature 464, p. 59–65 (2010). Cited on pages xviii and 27
- [21] P. SERMANET, D. EIGEN, X. ZHANG, M. MATHIEU, R. FERGUS & Y. LECUN;
   «OverFeat: Integrated Recognition, Localization and Detection using Convolutional Networks»; CoRR abs/1312.6229 (2013)http://arxiv.org/abs/1312.6229.
- [22] D. C. CIREŞAN, U. MEIER, J. MASCI, L. M. GAMBARDELLA & J. SCHMIDHU-BER; «Flexible, High Performance Convolutional Neural Networks for Image Classification»; dans «Proceedings of the Twenty-Second International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence - Volume Volume Two», IJCAI'11; p. 1237–1242 (AAAI Press) (2011); ISBN 978-1-57735-514-4. http://dx.doi.org/10.5591/ 978-1-57735-516-8/IJCAI11-210. Cited on page 62
- [23] A Simple Weight Decay Can Improve Generalization (Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 4) (1992). Cited on page 65
- [24] Y. JIA, E. SHELHAMER, J. DONAHUE, S. KARAYEV, J. LONG, R. GIRSHICK, S. GUADARRAMA & T. DARRELL; «Caffe: Convolutional Architecture for Fast Feature Embedding»; arXiv preprint arXiv:1408.5093 (2014). Cited on page 65
- [25] K. HE, X. ZHANG, S. REN & J. SUN; "Deep Residual Learning for Image Recognition", CoRR abs/1512.03385 (2015). Cited on pages 56, 65, 66, and 119
- [26] S. IOFFE & C. SZEGEDY; «Batch Normalization: Accelerating Deep Network Training by Reducing Internal Covariate Shift»; CoRR abs/1502.03167 (2015)http: //arxiv.org/abs/1502.03167. Cited on page 65
- [27] X. GLOROT & Y. BENGIO; «Understanding the difficulty of training deep feedforward neural networks»; dans Y. W. TEH & D. M. TITTERINGTON (rédacteurs), «Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics (AISTATS-10)», tome 9p. 249–256 (2010). http://www.jmlr.org/ proceedings/papers/v9/glorot10a/glorot10a.pdf. Cited on page 65
- [28] Improving neural networks by preventing co-adaptation of feature detectors (arXiv preprint arXiv:1207.0580) (2012). Cited on pages 57 and 69
- [29] M. RIBEIRO, S. SINGH & C. GUESTRIN; «"Why Should I Trust You?": Explaining the Predictions of Any Classifier»; dans «Proceedings of the 2016 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Demonstrations», (2016). Cited on pages 53 and 80

- [30] D. T. TRUONG, E. A. FRANZOSA, T. L. TICKLE, M. SCHOLZ, G. WEINGART, E. PASOLLI, A. TETT, C. HUTTENHOWER & N. SEGATA; «MetaPhlAn2 for enhanced metagenomic taxonomic profiling»; Nat. Methods 12, p. 902–903 (2015). Cited on pages xviii and 27
- [31] M. D. ZEILER & R. FERGUS; «Visualizing and Understanding Convolutional Networks»; dans «Lecture Notes in Computer Science», p. 818–833 (2014). Cited on page 56
- [32] G. ZELLER, J. TAP, A. Y. VOIGT, S. SUNAGAWA, J. R. KULTIMA, P. I. COSTEA, A. AMIOT, J. BÖHM, F. BRUNETTI, N. HABERMANN, R. HERCOG, M. KOCH, A. LU-CIANI, D. R. MENDE, M. A. SCHNEIDER, P. SCHROTZ-KING, C. TOURNIGAND, J. TRAN VAN NHIEU, T. YAMADA, J. ZIMMERMANN, V. BENES, M. KLOOR, C. M. ULRICH, M. VON KNEBEL DOEBERITZ, I. SOBHANI & P. BORK; «Potential of fecal microbiota for early-stage detection of colorectal cancer»; Mol. Syst. Biol. 10, p. 766 (2014).
- [33] R. R. SELVARAJU, M. COGSWELL, A. DAS, R. VEDANTAM, D. PARIKH & D. BATRA; «Grad-CAM: Visual Explanations from Deep Networks via Gradient-Based Localization»; dans «2017 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV)», (2017). Cited on pages 53, 80, and 81
- [34] A. MAHENDRAN & A. VEDALDI; «Salient Deconvolutional Networks»; dans B. LEIBE, J. MATAS, N. SEBE & M. WELLING (rédacteurs), «Computer Vision - ECCV 2016», , tome 9910p. 120-135 (Springer International Publishing); ISBN 978-3-319-46465-7 978-3-319-46466-4. http://link.springer.com/10. 1007/978-3-319-46466-4\_8. Cited on pages 53 and 80
- [35] R. KOTIKALAPUDI & CONTRIBUTORS; «keras-vis»; https://github.com/ raghakot/keras-vis (2017). Cited on page 80
- [36] J. QIN, Y. LI, Z. CAI, S. LI, J. ZHU, F. ZHANG, S. LIANG, W. ZHANG, Y. GUAN, D. SHEN, Y. PENG, D. ZHANG, Z. JIE, W. WU, Y. QIN, W. XUE, J. LI, L. HAN, D. LU, P. WU, Y. DAI, X. SUN, Z. LI, A. TANG, S. ZHONG, X. LI, W. CHEN, R. XU, M. WANG, Q. FENG, M. GONG, J. YU, Y. ZHANG, M. ZHANG, T. HANSEN, G. SANCHEZ, J. RAES, G. FALONY, S. OKUDA, M. ALMEIDA, E. LECHATELIER, P. RENAULT, N. PONS, J.-M. BATTO, Z. ZHANG, H. CHEN, R. YANG, W. ZHENG, S. LI, H. YANG, J. WANG, S. D. EHRLICH, R. NIELSEN, O. PEDERSEN, K. KRIS-TIANSEN & J. WANG; «A metagenome-wide association study of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes»; Nature **490**, p. 55–60 (2012). Cited on pages xviii and 27
- [37] Z. DAI, O. O. COKER, G. NAKATSU, W. K. K. WU, L. ZHAO, Z. CHEN, F. K. L. CHAN, K. KRISTIANSEN, J. J. Y. SUNG, S. H. WONG & J. YU; «Multi-cohort analysis of colorectal cancer metagenome identified altered bacteria across populations and universal bacterial markers»; 6, p. 70 (2018). ISSN 2049-2618. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0451-2. Cited on pages xviii, xxi, xxii, 5, 52, 55, 65, 83, 88, 97, 100, and 122

- [38] Y. LIU & J. HEER; «Somewhere Over the Rainbow: An Empirical Assessment of Quantitative Colormaps»; dans «Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems», CHI '18; p. 598:1–598:12 (ACM) (2018); ISBN 978-1-4503-5620-6. http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/3173574. 3174172. Cited on pages xv and 28
- [39] D. P. KINGMA & J. BA; «Adam: A Method for Stochastic Optimization»; CoRR abs/1412.6980 (2014)http://arxiv.org/abs/1412.6980; 1412.6980. Cited on page 71
- [40] C. SZEGEDY, W. LIU, Y. J. ANDVGGNET PIERRE SERMANET, S. E. REED, D. ANGUELOV, D. ERHAN, V. VANHOUCKE & A. RABINOVICH; «Going Deeper with Convolutions»; CoRR abs/1409.4842 (2014)http://arxiv.org/abs/1409.4842. Cited on pages 56, 58, 59, 61, 63, and 119
- [41] ImageNet Classification with Deep Convolutional Neural Networks (The Neural Information Processing Systems Conference 2012) (2012). Cited on pages 56, 57, 58, 59, 62, 65, and 119
- [42] A. L. DALLORA, S. EIVAZZADEH, E. MENDES, J. BERGLUND & P. ANDERBERG; «Machine learning and microsimulation techniques on the prognosis of dementia: A systematic literature review»; PLoS One 12, p. e0179804 (2017). Cited on page 3
- [43] T. ZHANG; «Adaptive Forward-Backward Greedy Algorithm for Sparse Learning with Linear Models»; dans D. KOLLER, D. SCHUURMANS, Y. BENGIO & L. BOTTOU (rédacteurs), «Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 21», p. 1921– 1928 (Curran Associates, Inc.) (2009). Cited on pages xiii and 11
- [44] P. FLACH; Machine Learning: The Art and Science of Algorithms that Make Sense of Data (Cambridge University Press) (2012). Cited on page 54
- [45] Y. BENGIO, A. COURVILLE & P. VINCENT; «Representation learning: a review and new perspectives»; IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 35, p. 1798–1828 (2013).
   Cited on page 56
- [46] A. COTILLARD, S. P. KENNEDY, L. C. KONG, E. PRIFTI, N. PONS, E. LE CHATE-LIER, M. ALMEIDA, B. QUINQUIS, F. LEVENEZ, N. GALLERON, S. GOUGIS, S. RIZKALLA, J.-M. BATTO, P. RENAULT, ANR MICROOBES CONSORTIUM, J. DORÉ, J.-D. ZUCKER, K. CLÉMENT & S. D. EHRLICH; «Dietary intervention impact on gut microbial gene richness»; Nature **500**, p. 585–588 (2013). Cited on pages 8 and 12
- [47] A. COATES, A. NG & H. LEE; «An analysis of single-layer networks in unsupervised feature learning»; of the fourteenth international conference on ... (2011). Cited on page 8
- [48] H. SOUEIDAN & M. NIKOLSKI; «Machine learning for metagenomics: methods and tools»; Metagenomics 1 (2017). Cited on pages 53, 54, and 119

- [49] N. SOKOLOVSKA, S. RIZKALLA, K. CLÉMENT & J.-D. ZUCKER; «Continuous and Discrete Deep Classifiers for Data Integration»; dans «Lecture Notes in Computer Science», p. 264–274 (2015).
- [50] H. LEE, R. GROSSE, R. RANGANATH & A. Y. NG; «Convolutional deep belief networks for scalable unsupervised learning of hierarchical representations»; dans «Proceedings of the 26th Annual International Conference on Machine Learning -ICML '09», (2009). Cited on page 8
- [51] L. KAUFMAN & P. ROUSSEEUW; Clustering by Means of Medoids (1987). Cited on page 9
- [52] S. SRIVASTAVA, S. SOMAN, A. RAI & P. K. SRIVASTAVA; «Deep learning for health informatics: Recent trends and future directions»; dans «2017 International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI)», (2017). Cited on pages x and 3
- [53] G. E. HINTON; «Reducing the Dimensionality of Data with Neural Networks»; Science **313**, p. 504–507 (2006). Cited on page 8
- [54] E. PAMPALK; Islands of music: Analysis, organization, and visualization of music archives (na) (2001). Cited on page 12
- [55] N. SRIVASTAVA, G. HINTON, A. KRIZHEVSKY, I. SUTSKEVER & R. SALAKHUT-DINOV; «Dropout: A Simple Way to Prevent Neural Networks from Overfitting»; Journal of Machine Learning Research 15 p. 1929–1958 (2014). Cited on page 57
- [56] Y. TANG; «Deep Learning using Linear Support Vector Machines»; (2013)1306.
   0239. Cited on pages 8 and 10
- [57] G. S. GINSBURG & H. F. WILLARD; «Genomic and personalized medicine: foundations and applications»; Transl. Res. **154**, p. 277–287 (2009). Cited on pages xvii and 52
- [58] S. RIFAI, Y. N. DAUPHIN, P. VINCENT, Y. BENGIO & X. MULLER; «The Manifold Tangent Classifier»; dans J. SHAWE-TAYLOR, R. S. ZEMEL, P. L. BARTLETT, F. PEREIRA & K. Q. WEINBERGER (rédacteurs), «Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 24», p. 2294–2302 (Curran Associates, Inc.) (2011). Cited on page 8
- [59] Q. SONG, J. NI & G. WANG; «A Fast Clustering-Based Feature Subset Selection Algorithm for High-Dimensional Data»; IEEE Trans. Knowl. Data Eng. 25, p. 1–14 (2013). Cited on page 9
- [60] Very Deep Convolutional Networks for Large-Scale Image Recognition (3rd International Conference on Learning Representations (ICLR2015)) (2015). Cited on pages 56, 62, 64, 66, 69, and 119
- [61] Y. CHO; Kernel Methods for Deep Learning (2012).

Cited on page 9

- [62] E. PAMPALK, W. GOEBL & G. WIDMER; «Visualizing changes in the structure of data for exploratory feature selection»; dans «Proceedings of the ninth ACM SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining», p. 157–166 (ACM) (2003). Cited on page 12
- [63] Y. ZHAO, B. C. HEALY, D. ROTSTEIN, C. R. G. GUTTMANN, R. BAKSHI, H. L. WEINER, C. E. BRODLEY & T. CHITNIS; «Exploration of machine learning techniques in predicting multiple sclerosis disease course»; PLoS One 12, p. e0174866 (2017). Cited on page 3
- [64] E. K. COSTELLO, C. L. LAUBER, M. HAMADY, N. FIERER, J. I. GORDON & R. KNIGHT; «Bacterial community variation in human body habitats across space and time»; Science **326**, p. 1694–1697 (2009). Cited on page 3
- [65] J. GU, Z. WANG, J. KUEN, L. MA, A. SHAHROUDY, B. SHUAI, T. LIU, X. WANG & G. WANG; «Recent Advances in Convolutional Neural Networks»; CoRR abs/1512.07108 (2015).
   Cited on pages x, 3, 5, 56, 67, and 69
- [66] FU JIE HUANG, F. J. HUANG & Y. LECUN; «Large-scale Learning with SVM and Convolutional for Generic Object Categorization»; dans «2006 IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition - Volume 1 (CVPR'06)», . Cited on page 9
- [67] P. SOLLICH; «Probabilistic interpretations and bayesian methods for support vector machines»; dans «9th International Conference on Artificial Neural Networks: ICANN '99», (1999).
- [68] L. KAUFMAN & P. J. ROUSSEEUW; Finding Groups in Data: An Introduction to Cluster Analysis (John Wiley & Sons) (2009). Cited on page 9
- [69] T. KOHONEN; «The self-organizing map»; Proc. IEEE **78**, p. 1464–1480 (1990). Cited on pages xii, 8, and 10
- [70] J. IIVARINEN, K. VALKEALAHTI, A. VISA & O. SIMULA; «Feature Selection with Self-Organizing Feature Map»; dans «ICANN '94», p. 334–337 (Springer London) (1994).
- [71] J. BIEN, J. TAYLOR & R. TIBSHIRANI; «A LASSO FOR HIERARCHICAL INTER-ACTIONS»; Ann. Stat. 41, p. 1111–1141 (2013). Cited on page 9
- [72] K. KOUROU, T. P. EXARCHOS, K. P. EXARCHOS, M. V. KARAMOUZIS & D. I. FO-TIADIS; «Machine learning applications in cancer prognosis and prediction»; Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J. 13, p. 8–17 (2015). Cited on page 3
- [73] R. BUTTERWORTH, G. PIATETSKY-SHAPIRO & D. A. SIMOVICI; «On Feature Selection through Clustering»; dans «Fifth IEEE International Conference on Data Mining (ICDM'05)», . Cited on page 9
- [74] J. FRIEDMAN, T. HASTIE & R. TIBSHIRANI; «Regularization Paths for Generalized Linear Models via Coordinate Descent»; J. Stat. Softw. 33, p. 1–22 (2010). Cited on page 17

- [75] A.-C. HAURY, P. GESTRAUD & J.-P. VERT; «The influence of feature selection methods on accuracy, stability and interpretability of molecular signatures»; PLoS One 6, p. e28 210 (2011).
- [76] Y. BENGIO, P. LAMBLIN, D. POPOVICI & H. LAROCHELLE; «Greedy Layer-Wise Training of Deep Networks»; dans B. SCHÖLKOPF, J. C. PLATT & T. HOFFMAN (rédacteurs), «Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 19», p. 153–160 (MIT Press) (2007).
- [77] K. PEARSON; On Lines and Planes of Closest Fit to Systems of Points in Space (1901). Cited on pages 26 and 87
- [78] G. DITZLER, R. POLIKAR & G. ROSEN; «Multi-Layer and Recursive Neural Networks for Metagenomic Classification»; IEEE Trans. Nanobioscience 14, p. 608–616 (2015).
   Cited on pages x, xi, 2, 3, 5, 54, 55, and 56
- [79] J. B. TENENBAUM, V. DE SILVA & J. C. LANGFORD; «A Global Geometric Framework for Nonlinear Dimensionality Reduction»; Science 290, p. 2319 (2000). Cited on page 26
- [80] I. BORG, P. J. GROENEN & P. MAIR; Applied Multidimensional Scaling (Springer Publishing Company, Incorporated) (2012); ISBN 3642318479, 9783642318474. Cited on page 26
- [81] X. HUO, X. S. NI & A. K. SMITH; A Survey of Manifold-Based Learning Methods;
   p. 691-745 (WORLD SCIENTIFIC) (2011). https://www.worldscientific.com/ doi/abs/10.1142/9789812779861\_0015; https://www.worldscientific.com/ doi/pdf/10.1142/9789812779861\_0015. Cited on pages 23, 26, and 27
- [82] J. D. HUNTER; «Matplotlib: A 2D graphics environment»; Computing In Science & Engineering 9, p. 90–95 (2007). Cited on pages 43, 44, and 71
- [83] D. REIMAN, A. A. METWALLY & Y. DAI; «PopPhy-CNN: A Phylogenetic Tree Embedded Architecture for Convolution Neural Networks for Metagenomic Data»; p. – (2018). http://biorxiv.org/lookup/doi/10.1101/257931. Cited on pages x, 2, and 56
- [84] Y. LECUN, B. BOSER, J. S. DENKER, D. HENDERSON, R. E. HOWARD, W. HUBBARD & L. JACKEL; «Backpropagation applied to handwritten zip code recognition»; Neural computation 1, p. 541–551 (1989)ISSN 0899-7667. Cited on pages 56 and 65
- [85] Y. LECUN, L. BOTTOU, Y. BENGIO & P. H. NER; «Gradient-Based Learning Applied to Document Recognition»; p. 46. Cited on page 56
- [86] V. NAIR & G. E. HINTON; «Rectified Linear Units Improve Restricted Boltzmann Machines»; dans «Proceedings of the 27th International Conference on International Conference on Machine Learning», ICML'10; p. 807–814 (Omnipress, USA) (2010); ISBN 978-1-60558-907-7. http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id= 3104322.3104425. Cited on pages 57 and 69

- [87] «Neural networks: tricks of the trade»; OCLC: 246316889. Cited on page 69
- [88] A. J. IZENMAN; «Introduction to manifold learning»; 4, p. 439-446. ISSN 1939-0068. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/wics.1222. Cited on pages 23, 26, 27, 38, and 86
- [89] E. W. DIJKSTRA; «A Note on Two Problems in Connexion with Graphs»; Numer. Math. 1, p. 269-271 (1959). ISSN 0029-599X. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01386390.
- [90] R. W. FLOYD; «Algorithm 97: Shortest Path»; Commun. ACM 5, p. 345- (1962).
   ISSN 0001-0782. http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/367766.368168. Cited on page 27
- [91] J. MCQUEEN, M. MEILA, J. VANDERPLAS & Z. ZHANG; «megaman: Manifold Learning with Millions of points»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1603.02763; 1603.
   02763. Cited on page 26
- [92] F. CELESTI, A. CELESTI, J. WAN & M. VILLARI; «Why Deep Learning Is Changing the Way to Approach NGS Data Processing: a Review»; p. 1–1 (2018). ISSN 1937-3333.
- [93] D. MASTERS & C. LUSCHI; «Revisiting Small Batch Training for Deep Neural Networks»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1804.07612; 1804.07612. Cited on page 71
- [94] K. SEDLAR, K. KUPKOVA & I. PROVAZNIK; «Bioinformatics strategies for taxonomy independent binning and visualization of sequences in shotgun metagenomics»;
   15, p. 48-55. ISSN 2001-0370. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5148923/. Cited on page 53
- [95] M. ARUMUGAM, J. RAES, E. PELLETIER, D. L. PASLIER, T. YAMADA, D. R. MENDE, G. R. FERNANDES, J. TAP, T. BRULS, J.-M. BATTO, M. BERTALAN, N. BORRUEL, F. CASELLAS, L. FERNANDEZ, L. GAUTIER, T. HANSEN, M. HAT-TORI, T. HAYASHI, M. KLEEREBEZEM, K. KUROKAWA, M. LECLERC, F. LEV-ENEZ, C. MANICHANH, H. B. NIELSEN, T. NIELSEN, N. PONS, J. POULAIN, J. QIN, T. SICHERITZ-PONTEN, S. TIMS, D. TORRENTS, E. UGARTE, E. G. ZOE-TENDAL, J. WANG, F. GUARNER, O. PEDERSEN, W. M. d. VOS, S. BRUNAK, J. DORÉ, M. C. a. MEMBERS), M. ANTOLÍN, F. ARTIGUENAVE, H. M. BLOTTIERE, M. Almeida, C. Brechot, C. Cara, C. Chervaux, A. Cultrone, C. Delorme, G. DENARIAZ, R. DERVYN, K. U. FOERSTNER, C. FRISS, M. v. d. GUCHTE, E. GUE-DON, F. HAIMET, W. HUBER, J. v. HYLCKAMA-VLIEG, A. JAMET, C. JUSTE, G. KACI, J. KNOL, K. KRISTIANSEN, O. LAKHDARI, S. LAYEC, K. L. ROUX, E. MAGUIN, A. MÉRIEUX, R. M. MINARDI, C. M'RINI, J. MULLER, R. OOZEER, J. PARKHILL, P. RENAULT, M. RESCIGNO, N. SANCHEZ, S. SUNAGAWA, A. TOR-REJON, K. TURNER, G. VANDEMEULEBROUCK, E. VARELA, Y. WINOGRADSKY, G. ZELLER, J. WEISSENBACH, S. D. EHRLICH & P. BORK; «Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome»; **473**, p. 174–180. ISSN 1476-4687. https://www.nature. com/articles/nature09944. Cited on page 53

- [96] I. SUTSKEVER, J. MARTENS, G. DAHL & G. HINTON; «On the Importance of Initialization and Momentum in Deep Learning»; dans «Proceedings of the 30th International Conference on International Conference on Machine Learning - Volume 28», ICML'13; p. III-1139-III-1147 (JMLR.org) (2013). http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?id=3042817.3043064. Cited on page 62
- [97] A. CANZIANI, A. PASZKE & E. CULURCIELLO; «An Analysis of Deep Neural Network Models for Practical Applications»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1605.07678; 1605.07678. Cited on page 56
- [98] H. LI, Z. XU, G. TAYLOR, C. STUDER & T. GOLDSTEIN; «Visualizing the Loss Landscape of Neural Nets»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1712.09913; 1712.09913. Cited on page 57
- [99] D. CHICCO; «Ten quick tips for machine learning in computational biology»;
   10. ISSN 1756-0381. https://biodatamining.biomedcentral.com/articles/
   10.1186/s13040-017-0155-3. Cited on page 83
- [100] S. NAYFACH & K. S. POLLARD; «Toward Accurate and Quantitative Comparative Metagenomics»; 166, p. 1103–1116. ISSN 0092-8674. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC5080976/. Cited on page 53
- [101] S. M. DABDOUB, S. M. GANESAN & P. S. KUMAR; «Comparative metagenomics reveals taxonomically idiosyncratic yet functionally congruent communities in periodontitis»; 6, p. 38993. ISSN 2045-2322. https://www.nature.com/articles/ srep38993. Cited on page 53
- [102] L.-x. CHEN, M. HU, L.-n. HUANG, Z.-s. HUA, J.-l. KUANG, S.-j. LI & W.-s. SHU; «Comparative metagenomic and metatranscriptomic analyses of microbial communities in acid mine drainage»; 9, p. 1579–1592. ISSN 1751-7370. https: //www.nature.com/articles/ismej2014245. Cited on page 53
- [103] D. H. HUSON, D. C. RICHTER, S. MITRA, A. F. AUCH & S. C. SCHUSTER; «Methods for comparative metagenomics»; 10, p. S12. ISSN 1471-2105. http: //www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2105/10/S1/S12. Cited on page 53
- [104] C. MATHÉ, M.-F. SAGOT, T. SCHIEX & P. ROUZÉ; «SURVEY AND SUM-MARY: Current methods of gene prediction, their strengths and weaknesses»; 30, p. 4103-4117ISSN 0305-1048. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC140543/. Cited on page 53
- [105] Z. WANG, Y. CHEN & Y. LI; «A Brief Review of Computational Gene Prediction Methods»; 2, p. 216-221. ISSN 1672-0229. http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1672022904020285. Cited on page 53
- [106] N. GOEL, S. SINGH & T. C. ASERI; «A Review of Soft Computing Techniques for Gene Prediction»; . https://www.hindawi.com/journals/isrn/2013/191206/. Cited on page 53

- [107] N.-P. NGUYEN, T. WARNOW, M. POP & B. WHITE; «A perspective on 16S rRNA operational taxonomic unit clustering using sequence similarity»; 2, p. 16004. ISSN 2055-5008. https://www.nature.com/articles/npjbiofilms20164. Cited on page 53
- [108] S. PARK, H. S. CHOI, B. LEE, J. CHUN, J. H. WON & S. YOON; «hc-OTU: A Fast and Accurate Method for Clustering Operational Taxonomic Units Based on Homopolymer Compaction»; 15, p. 441–451. ISSN 1545-5963. Cited on page 53
- [109] F. CHOLLET *et al.*; «Keras»; https://keras.io (2015). Cited on pages xix, 70, 71, and 119
- [110] M. ABADI, P. BARHAM, J. CHEN, Z. CHEN, A. DAVIS, J. DEAN, M. DEVIN, S. GHE-MAWAT, G. IRVING, M. ISARD, M. KUDLUR, J. LEVENBERG, R. MONGA, S. MOORE, D. G. MURRAY, B. STEINER, P. TUCKER, V. VASUDEVAN, P. WARDEN, M. WICKE, Y. YU & X. ZHENG; «TensorFlow: A System for Large-scale Machine Learning»; dans «Proceedings of the 12th USENIX Conference on Operating Systems Design and Implementation», OSDI'16; p. 265–283 (USENIX Association, Berkeley, CA, USA) (2016); ISBN 978-1-931971-33-1. http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id= 3026877.3026899.
- [111] M. ABADI, A. AGARWAL, P. BARHAM, E. BREVDO, Z. CHEN, C. CITRO, G. S. CORRADO, A. DAVIS, J. DEAN, M. DEVIN, S. GHEMAWAT, I. GOODFELLOW, A. HARP, G. IRVING, M. ISARD, Y. JIA, R. JOZEFOWICZ, L. KAISER, M. KUDLUR, J. LEVENBERG, D. MANÉ, R. MONGA, S. MOORE, D. MURRAY, C. OLAH, M. SCHUSTER, J. SHLENS, B. STEINER, I. SUTSKEVER, K. TALWAR, P. TUCKER, V. VANHOUCKE, V. VASUDEVAN, F. VIÉGAS, O. VINYALS, P. WARDEN, M. WATTENBERG, M. WICKE, Y. YU & X. ZHENG; «TensorFlow: Large-Scale Machine Learning on Heterogeneous Systems»; (2015). https://www.tensorflow.org/; software available from tensorflow.org.
- [112] L. BUITINCK, G. LOUPPE, M. BLONDEL, F. PEDREGOSA, A. MUELLER, O. GRISEL, V. NICULAE, P. PRETTENHOFER, A. GRAMFORT, J. GROBLER, R. LAYTON, J. VAN-DERPLAS, A. JOLY, B. HOLT & G. VAROQUAUX; «API design for machine learning software: experiences from the scikit-learn project»; dans «ECML PKDD Workshop: Languages for Data Mining and Machine Learning», p. 108–122 (2013). Cited on page 71
- [113] K. SIMONYAN, A. VEDALDI & A. ZISSERMAN; «Deep Inside Convolutional Networks: Visualising Image Classification Models and Saliency Maps»; http:// arxiv.org/abs/1312.6034; 1312.6034. Cited on pages 53 and 80
- [114] X. Z. FERN & C. E. BRODLEY; «Random Projection for High Dimensional Data Clustering: A Cluster Ensemble Approach»; p. 8. Cited on pages 25 and 87
- [115] C. GRELLMANN, J. NEUMANN, S. BITZER, P. KOVACS, A. TÖNJES, L. T. WESTLYE, O. A. ANDREASSEN, M. STUMVOLL, A. VILLRINGER &

A. HORSTMANN; «Random Projection for Fast and Efficient Multivariate Correlation Analysis of High-Dimensional Data: A New Approach»; 7. ISSN 1664-8021. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene.2016.00102/ full. Cited on pages 25 and 87

- [116] P. LI, M. MITZENMACHER & A. SHRIVASTAVA; «Coding for Random Projections»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1308.2218; 1308.2218. Cited on pages 25 and 87
- [117] E. BINGHAM & H. MANNILA; «Random Projection in Dimensionality Reduction: Applications to Image and Text Data»; dans «Proceedings of the Seventh ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining», KDD '01; p. 245–250 (ACM, New York, NY, USA) (2001); ISBN 1-58113-391-X. http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/502512.502546. Cited on pages 25 and 87
- [118] L. BREIMAN; «Random Forests»; **45**, p. 5–32. ISSN 0885-6125, 1573-0565. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A:1010933404324. Cited on pages xix and 69
- [119] C. CORTES & V. VAPNIK; «Support-vector networks»; 20, p. 273-297. ISSN 0885-6125, 1573-0565. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF00994018. Cited on pages xix and 69
- [120] W. JOHNSON & J. LINDENSTRAUSS; «Extensions of Lipschitz mappings into a Hilbert space»; dans «Conference in modern analysis and probability (New Haven, Conn., 1982)», , *Contemporary Mathematics*, tome 26p. 189–206 (American Mathematical Society) (1984).
- [121] N. AILON & B. CHAZELLE; «The Fast Johnson-Lindenstrauss Transform and Approximate Nearest Neighbors»; SIAM J. Comput. 39, p. 302–322 (2009). ISSN 0097-5397. http://dx.doi.org/10.1137/060673096. Cited on page 25
- J. KRUSKAL & M. WISH; «Multidimensional Scaling»; Sage University Paper Series on Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences (1978)http://dx.doi.org/10. 4135/9781412985130.
- [123] BORG & GROENEN; «Modern Multidimensional Scaling Theory and Applications»; (2005)https://www.springer.com/fr/book/9780387251509. Cited on page 26
- [124] S. T. ROWEIS & L. K. SAUL; «Nonlinear Dimensionality Reduction by Locally Linear Embedding»; 290, p. 2323-2326. ISSN 0036-8075, 1095-9203. http://science. sciencemag.org/content/290/5500/2323. Cited on page 27
- [125] A. TALWALKAR, S. KUMAR & H. ROWLEY; «Large-scale manifold learning»; dans «2008 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition», p. 1–8. Cited on page 27
- [126] F. WICKELMAIER; «An Introduction to MDS»; p. 26 (2003). Cited on page 26

- [127] C. HEGDE, M. WAKIN & R. BARANIUK; «Random Projections for Manifold Learning»; dans J. C. PLATT, D. KOLLER, Y. SINGER & S. T. ROWEIS (rédacteurs), «Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 20», p. 641–648 (Curran Associates, Inc.). http://papers.nips.cc/paper/ 3191-random-projections-for-manifold-learning.pdf. Cited on page 25
- [128] S. LAHIRI, P. GAO & S. GANGULI; «Random projections of random manifolds»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1607.04331; 1607.04331. Cited on page 25
- [129] S. DASGUPTA; «Experiments with Random Projection»; p. 9 (2000). Cited on page 25
- [130] I. GASHI, V. STANKOVIC, C. LEITA & O. THONNARD; «An Experimental Study of Diversity with Off-the-Shelf AntiVirus Engines»; dans «2009 Eighth IEEE International Symposium on Network Computing and Applications», p. 4–11. Cited on page 27
- [131] P. HAMEL & D. ECK; «LEARNING FEATURES FROM MUSIC AUDIO WITH DEEP BELIEF NETWORKS»; p. 6. Cited on page 27
- [132] A. R. JAMIESON, M. L. GIGER, K. DRUKKER, H. LI, Y. YUAN & N. BHOOSHAN; «Exploring nonlinear feature space dimension reduction and data representation in breast CADx with Laplacian eigenmaps and -SNE»; 37, p. 339–351. ISSN 2473-4209. https://aapm.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1118/1.3267037. Cited on page 27
- [133] I. WALLACH & R. LILIEN; «The protein-small-molecule database, a non-redundant structural resource for the analysis of protein-ligand binding»; 25, p. 615–620. ISSN 1367-4803. https://academic.oup.com/bioinformatics/article/25/5/615/183421. Cited on page 27
- [134] H. PARK; «ISOMAP induced manifold embedding and its application to Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment»; 513, p. 141– 145. ISSN 0304-3940. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0304394012002030. Cited on page 26
- [135] J. DUCHI, E. HAZAN & Y. SINGER; «Adaptive Subgradient Methods for Online Learning and Stochastic Optimization»; 12, p. 2121–2159ISSN ISSN 1533-7928. http://jmlr.org/papers/v12/duchi11a.html. Cited on page 69
- [136] D. P. KINGMA & J. BA; «Adam: A Method for Stochastic Optimization»; http: //arxiv.org/abs/1412.6980; 1412.6980. Cited on page 69
- [137] H. ROBBINS & S. MONRO; «A Stochastic Approximation Method»; 22, p. 400– 407. ISSN 0003-4851, 2168-8990. https://projecteuclid.org/euclid.aoms/ 1177729586. Cited on page 69
- [138] J. KIEFER & J. WOLFOWITZ; «Stochastic Estimation of the Maximum of a Regression Function»; 23, p. 462-466. ISSN 0003-4851, 2168-8990. https:// projecteuclid.org/euclid.aoms/1177729392. Cited on page 69

- [139] L. BOTTOU, F. E. CURTIS & J. NOCEDAL; «Optimization Methods for Large-Scale Machine Learning»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1606.04838; 1606.04838. Cited on page 69
- [140] S. ABUBUCKER, N. SEGATA, J. GOLL, A. M. SCHUBERT, J. IZARD, B. L. CANTAREL, B. RODRIGUEZ-MUELLER, J. ZUCKER, M. THIAGARAJAN, B. HENRISSAT, O. WHITE, S. T. KELLEY, B. METHÉ, P. D. SCHLOSS, D. GEVERS, M. MITREVA & C. HUTTENHOWER; «Metabolic Reconstruction for Metagenomic Data and Its Application to the Human Microbiome»; 8, p. e1002358. ISSN 1553-7358. http://journals.plos.org/ploscompbiol/article?id=10. 1371/journal.pcbi.1002358. Cited on pages xviii and 67
- [141] H. B. NIELSEN, M. ALMEIDA, A. S. JUNCKER, S. RASMUSSEN, J. LI, S. SUNAGAWA, D. R. PLICHTA, L. GAUTIER, A. G. PEDERSEN, E. L. CHATELIER, E. PELLETIER, I. BONDE, T. NIELSEN, C. MANICHANH, M. ARUMUGAM, J.-M. BATTO, M. B. Q. d. SANTOS, N. BLOM, N. BORRUEL, K. S. BURGDORF, F. BOUMEZBEUR, F. CASELlas, J. Doré, P. Dworzynski, F. Guarner, T. Hansen, F. Hildebrand, R. S. KAAS, S. KENNEDY, K. KRISTIANSEN, J. R. KULTIMA, P. LÉONARD, F. LEVENEZ, O. LUND, B. MOUMEN, D. L. PASLIER, N. PONS, O. PEDERSEN, E. PRIFTI, J. QIN, J. RAES, S. SØRENSEN, J. TAP, S. TIMS, D. W. USSERY, T. YAMADA, M. CONSOR-TIUM, H. B. NIELSEN, M. ALMEIDA, A. S. JUNCKER, S. RASMUSSEN, J. LI, S. SUNA-GAWA, D. R. PLICHTA, L. GAUTIER, A. G. PEDERSEN, E. L. CHATELIER, E. PEL-LETIER, I. BONDE, T. NIELSEN, C. MANICHANH, M. ARUMUGAM, J.-M. BATTO, M. B. Q. d. Santos, N. Blom, N. Borruel, K. S. Burgdorf, F. Boumezbeur, F. CASELLAS, J. DORÉ, P. DWORZYNSKI, F. GUARNER, T. HANSEN, F. HILDE-BRAND, R. S. KAAS, S. KENNEDY, K. KRISTIANSEN, J. R. KULTIMA, P. LEONARD, F. LEVENEZ, O. LUND, B. MOUMEN, D. L. PASLIER, N. PONS, O. PEDERSEN, E. PRIFTI, J. QIN, J. RAES, S. SØRENSEN, J. TAP, S. TIMS, D. W. USSERY, T. YA-MADA, P. RENAULT, T. SICHERITZ-PONTEN, P. BORK, J. WANG, S. BRUNAK, S. D. EHRLICH, A. JAMET, A. MÉRIEUX, A. CULTRONE, A. TORREJON, B. QUINQUIS, C. BRECHOT, C. DELORME, C. M'RINI, W. M. d. VOS, E. MAGUIN, E. VARELA, E. GUEDON, F. GWEN, F. HAIMET, F. ARTIGUENAVE, G. VANDEMEULEBROUCK, G. DENARIAZ, G. KHACI, H. BLOTTIÈRE, J. KNOL, J. WEISSENBACH, J. E. T. v. H. VLIEG, J. TORBEN, J. PARKHILL, K. TURNER, M. v. d. GUCHTE, M. ANTOLIN, M. Rescigno, M. Kleerebezem, M. Derrien, N. Galleron, N. Sanchez, N. GRARUP, P. VEIGA, R. OOZEER, R. DERVYN, S. LAYEC, T. BRULS, Y. WINO-GRADSKI, Z. E. G, P. RENAULT, T. SICHERITZ-PONTEN, P. BORK, J. WANG, S. BRUNAK & S. D. EHRLICH; «Identification and assembly of genomes and genetic elements in complex metagenomic samples without using reference genomes»; 32, p. 822-828. ISSN 1546-1696. https://www.nature.com/articles/nbt.2939. Cited on pages xviii, 27, and 67
- [142] J. OH, A. L. BYRD, C. DEMING, S. CONLAN, N. C. S. PROGRAM, B. BARN-ABAS, R. BLAKESLEY, G. BOUFFARD, S. BROOKS, H. COLEMAN, M. DEKHT-YAR, M. GREGORY, X. GUAN, J. GUPTA, J. HAN, S.-I. HO, R. LEGASPI, Q. MADURO, C. MASIELLO, B. MASKERI, J. MCDOWELL, C. MONTEMAYOR, J. MULLIKIN, M. PARK, N. RIEBOW, K. SCHANDLER, B. SCHMIDT, C. SISON,

M. STANTRIPOP, J. THOMAS, P. THOMAS, M. VEMULAPALLI, A. YOUNG, H. H. KONG & J. A. SEGRE; «Biogeography and individuality shape function in the human skin metagenome»; **514**, p. 59–64. ISSN 1476-4687. https://www.nature.com/articles/nature13786. Cited on pages xviii, 27, and 67

- [143] J. NING & R. G. BEIKO; «Phylogenetic approaches to microbial community classification»; 3. ISSN 2049-2618. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC4593236/. Cited on page 3
- [144] G. MONTAVON, K. HANSEN, S. FAZLI, M. RUPP, F. BIEGLER, A. ZIEHE, A. TKATCHENKO, O. A. VON LILIENFELD & K.-R. MÜLLER; «Learning Invariant Representations of Molecules for Atomization Energy Prediction»; dans «Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems - Volume 1», NIPS'12; p. 440–448 (Curran Associates Inc.). http: //dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2999134.2999184. Cited on page 56
- [145] M. LI & B. YUAN; «2D-LDA: A statistical linear discriminant analysis for image matrix»; 26, p. 527-532. ISSN 0167-8655. http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0167865504002272. Cited on page 35
- [146] S. MIKA, G. RATSCH, J. WESTON, B. SCHOLKOPF & K. R. MULLERS; «Fisher discriminant analysis with kernels»; dans «Neural Networks for Signal Processing IX: Proceedings of the 1999 IEEE Signal Processing Society Workshop (Cat. No.98TH8468)», p. 41–48. Cited on page 35
- [147] P. XANTHOPOULOS, P. M. PARDALOS & T. B. TRAFALIS; «Linear Discriminant Analysis»; dans «Robust Data Mining», SpringerBriefs in Optimization; p. 27–33 (Springer, New York, NY); ISBN 978-1-4419-9877-4 978-1-4419-9878-1. https:// link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4419-9878-1\_4. Cited on page 35
- [148] R. A. FISHER; «The Use of Multiple Measurements in Taxonomic Problems»; 7, p. 179–188 (1936). ISSN 2050-1439. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/ 10.1111/j.1469-1809.1936.tb02137.x. Cited on page 35
- [149] D. RAVÌ, C. WONG, F. DELIGIANNI, M. BERTHELOT, J. ANDREU-PEREZ, B. LO & G. Z. YANG; «Deep Learning for Health Informatics»; 21, p. 4–21. ISSN 2168-2194. Cited on pages xi and 3
- [150] V. KUZNETSOV, H. K. LEE, S. MAURER-STROH, M. J. MOLNÁR, S. PONGOR, B. EISENHABER & F. EISENHABER; «How bioinformatics influences health informatics: usage of biomolecular sequences, expression profiles and automated microscopic image analyses for clinical needs and public health»; 1. ISSN 2047-2501. https: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4336111/. Cited on pages x and 3
- [151] J. LI, S. K. HALGAMUGE, C. I. KELLS & S.-L. TANG; «Gene function prediction based on genomic context clustering and discriminative learning: an application to bacteriophages»; 8, p. S6. ISSN 1471-2105. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC1892085/. Cited on pages x and 3

- [152] G. H. FERNALD, E. CAPRIOTTI, R. DANESHJOU, K. J. KARCZEWSKI & R. B. ALT-MAN; «Bioinformatics challenges for personalized medicine»; 27, p. 1741–1748. ISSN 1367-4803. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3117361/. Cited on pages x and 3
- [153] K. SUDARIKOV, A. TYAKHT & D. ALEXEEV; «Methods for The Metagenomic Data Visualization and Analysis»; p. 37–58. ISSN 14673037. http://www.caister.com/ cimb/abstracts/v24/37.html. Cited on pages xiii, xiv, 3, 22, 23, and 38
- [154] R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM; «R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing»; (2008)http://www.R-project.org; ISBN 3-900051-07-0. Cited on pages xiv and 22
- [155] B. D. ONDOV, N. H. BERGMAN & A. M. PHILLIPPY; «Interactive metagenomic visualization in a Web browser»; 12, p. 385. ISSN 1471-2105. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-12-385.
   Cited on pages xiv, 22, 24, and 117
- [156] G. W. TYSON, J. CHAPMAN, P. HUGENHOLTZ, E. E. ALLEN, R. J. RAM, P. M. RICHARDSON, V. V. SOLOVYEV, E. M. RUBIN, D. S. ROKHSAR & J. F. BAN-FIELD; «Community structure and metabolism through reconstruction of microbial genomes from the environment»; 428, p. 37–43. ISSN 1476-4687. https: //www.nature.com/articles/nature02340. Cited on pages 24 and 117
- [157] F. MEYER, D. PAARMANN, M. D'SOUZA, R. OLSON, E. GLASS, M. KUBAL, T. PACZIAN, A. RODRIGUEZ, R. STEVENS, A. WILKE, J. WILKENING & R. EDWARDS; «The metagenomics RAST server – a public resource for the automatic phylogenetic and functional analysis of metagenomes»; 9, p. 386. ISSN 1471-2105. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2563014/. Cited on pages xiv, 22, 24, and 117
- [158] D. H. HUSON, A. F. AUCH, J. QI & S. C. SCHUSTER; «MEGAN analysis of metagenomic data»; 17, p. 377–386. ISSN 1088-9051. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC1800929/. Cited on pages 24 and 117
- [159] M. JOHNSON, I. ZARETSKAYA, Y. RAYTSELIS, Y. MEREZHUK, S. MCGINNIS & T. L. MADDEN; «NCBI BLAST: a better web interface»; 36, p. W5–W9. ISSN 0305-1048. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2447716/. Cited on page 22
- [160] C. KEREPESI, D. BÁNKY & V. GROLMUSZ; «AmphoraNet: The webserver implementation of the AMPHORA2 metagenomic workflow suite»; 533, p. 538–540. ISSN 0378-1119. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378111913014091. Cited on pages xiv and 22
- [161] L. B. R. G. W. H. A. L. T. L. M. M. A. M. S. M. M. S. B. V. GREGORY R. WARNES, Ben Bolker; «Package 'gplots', CRAN repository»; https://CRAN. R-project.org/package=gplots. Cited on pages xiv and 22
- [162] A. A. U. H. RUDIS, B.; «Package 'metricsgraphics', CRAN repository»; (2015)https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=metricsgraphics. Cited on pages xiv and 22

- [163] H. BIK; «Phinch: An interactive, exploratory data visualization framework for metagenomic datasets»; (2014). https://figshare.com/articles/ Phinch\_An\_interactive\_exploratory\_data\_visualization\_framework\_for\_ metagenomic\_datasets/951915. Cited on pages xiv and 22
- [164] J. CHENG; «Package 'd3heatmap', CRAN repository»; (2016)https://CRAN. R-project.org/package=d3heatmap. Cited on pages xiv and 23
- [165] L. JIANG, M. SONG, L. YANG, D. ZHANG, Y. SUN, Z. SHEN, C. LUO & G. ZHANG; «Exploring the Influence of Environmental Factors on Bacterial Communities within the Rhizosphere of the Cu-tolerant plant, Elsholtzia splendens»; 6. ISSN 2045-2322. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5080579/. Cited on pages xiii, 3, and 22
- [166] J. T. MORTON, J. SANDERS, R. A. QUINN, D. MCDONALD, A. GONZALEZ, Y. VÁZQUEZ-BAEZA, J. A. NAVAS-MOLINA, S. J. SONG, J. L. METCALF, E. R. HYDE, M. LLADSER, P. C. DORRESTEIN & R. KNIGHT; «Balance Trees Reveal Microbial Niche Differentiation»; 2, p. e00162–16. ISSN 2379-5077. http: //msystems.asm.org/content/2/1/e00162–16. Cited on pages xiii, 3, and 22
- [167] X. JIANG, X. HU, H. SHEN & T. HE; «Manifold learning reveals nonlinear structure in metagenomic profiles»; dans «2012 IEEE International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedicine», p. 1–6. Cited on pages xiv, 23, and 25
- [168] A. GISBRECHT, B. HAMMER, B. MOKBEL & A. SCZYRBA; «Nonlinear Dimensionality Reduction for Cluster Identification in Metagenomic Samples»; dans «2013 17th International Conference on Information Visualisation», p. 174–179. Cited on pages xiv and 23
- [169] M. ALSHAWAQFEH, A. BASHAIREH, E. SERPEDIN & J. SUCHODOLSKI; «Consistent metagenomic biomarker detection via robust PCA»; 12, p. 4. ISSN 1745-6150. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13062-017-0175-4. Cited on pages xiv and 23
- [170] R. VIDAL, Y. MA & S. S. SASTRY; «Generalized Principal Component Analysis»;
   p. 353 (2006). Cited on pages xiv and 23
- [171] R. O. DUDA, P. E. HART & D. G. STORK; Pattern Classification (2Nd Edition) (Wiley-Interscience, New York, NY, USA) (2000); ISBN 0471056693. Cited on page 23
- [172] K. FUKUNAGA; Introduction to Statistical Pattern Recognition (2Nd Ed.) (Academic Press Professional, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) (1990); ISBN 0-12-269851-7. Cited on pages 23 and 25
- [173] J. YE, R. JANARDAN & Q. LI; «Two-Dimensional Linear Discriminant Analysis»; dans L. K. SAUL, Y. WEISS & L. BOTTOU (rédacteurs), «Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 17», p. 1569–1576 (MIT Press) (2005). http://papers. nips.cc/paper/2547-two-dimensional-linear-discriminant-analysis.pdf. Cited on page 25

- [174] N. SEGATA, J. IZARD, L. WALDRON, D. GEVERS, L. MIROPOLSKY, W. S. GARRETT & C. HUTTENHOWER; «Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation»; 12, p. R60 (2011). ISSN 1465-6906. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3218848/.
- [175] H. ZHENG & H. WU; «Short prokaryotic dna fragment binning using a hierarchical classifier based on linear discriminant analysis and principal component analysis»;
   08, p. 995–1011. ISSN 0219-7200. https://www.worldscientific.com/doi/abs/10.1142/S0219720010005051. Cited on page 25
- [176] D. D. LEE & H. S. SEUNG; «Learning the parts of objects by non-negative matrix factorization»; 401, p. 788–791. ISSN 1476-4687. https://www.nature.com/ articles/44565. Cited on page 25
- [177] N. GILLIS; «The Why and How of Nonnegative Matrix Factorization»; http:// arxiv.org/abs/1401.5226; 1401.5226. Cited on page 25
- [178] P. PAATERO & U. TAPPER; «Positive matrix factorization: A non-negative factor model with optimal utilization of error estimates of data values»; 5, p. 111–126. ISSN 1099-095X. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/env.3170050203. Cited on page 25
- [179] C. FÉVOTTE & J. IDIER; «Algorithms for nonnegative matrix factorization with the beta-divergence»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1010.1763; 1010.1763. Cited on page 25
- [180] C.-J. LIN; «Projected Gradient Methods for Nonnegative Matrix Factorization»;
   19, p. 2756-2779. ISSN 0899-7667, 1530-888X. http://www.mitpressjournals. org/doi/10.1162/neco.2007.19.10.2756. Cited on page 25
- P. O. HOYER; «Non-negative Matrix Factorization with Sparseness Constraints»;
   5, p. 1457–1469ISSN 1532-4435. http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1005332.
   1044709. Cited on page 25
- [182] C. BOUTSIDIS & E. GALLOPOULOS; «SVD Based Initialization: A Head Start for Nonnegative Matrix Factorization»; Pattern Recogn. 41, p. 1350–1362 (2008). ISSN 0031-3203. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.patcog.2007.09.010. Cited on page 25
- [183] S. DODGE & L. KARAM; «A Study and Comparison of Human and Deep Learning Recognition Performance Under Visual Distortions»; http://arxiv.org/abs/ 1705.02498; 1705.02498.
   Cited on pages x, 3, and 100
- [184] D. PRATIWI; «The Use of Self Organizing Map Method and Feature Selection in Image Database Classification System»; CoRR abs/1206.0104 (2012). Cited on page 4
- [185] J. GÖPPERT & W. ROSENSTIEL; «Self-organizing Maps vs. Backpropagation: An Experimental Study»; dans «Proc. of Workshop on Disign Methodologies for Microelectronis and Signal Processing», p. 153–162 (1993). Cited on page 4

- [186] J. N. PAULSON, M. POP & H. C. BRAVO; «Metastats: an improved statistical method for analysis of metagenomic data»; 12, p. P17. ISSN 1465-6906. https: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3439073/. Cited on page 29
- [187] J. REN, K. SONG, C. DENG, N. A. AHLGREN, J. A. FUHRMAN, Y. LI, X. XIE & F. SUN; «Identifying viruses from metagenomic data by deep learning»; http: //arxiv.org/abs/1806.07810; 1806.07810. Cited on page 56
- [188] D. SHRIVASTAVA, S. CHAUDHURY & D. JAYADEVA; «A Data and Model-Parallel, Distributed and Scalable Framework for Training of Deep Networks in Apache Spark»; http://arxiv.org/abs/1708.05840; 1708.05840. Cited on page 101
- [189] A. NANDI; Spark for Python Developers (Packt Publishing); ISBN 978-1-78439-969 6. Cited on page 101
- [190] L. VAN DER MAATEN; «Barnes-Hut-SNE»; (2008)http://arxiv.org/abs/1301. 3342; 1301.3342. Cited on pages 27 and 101
- [191] J. BARNES & P. HUT; «A hierarchical O(N log N) force-calculation algorithm»; 324, p. 446-449. ISSN 1476-4687. https://www.nature.com/articles/324446a0. Cited on page 101
- [192] A. M. BOLGER, M. LOHSE & B. USADEL; «Trimmomatic: a flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data»; 30, p. 2114–2120. ISSN 1367-4811. Cited on page 65
- [193] E. PASOLLI, L. SCHIFFER, P. MANGHI, A. RENSON, V. OBENCHAIN, D. T. TRUONG, F. BEGHINI, F. MALIK, M. RAMOS, J. B. DOWD, C. HUTTENHOWER, M. MORGAN, N. SEGATA & L. WALDRON; «Accessible, curated metagenomic data through ExperimentHub»; 14, p. 1023–1024 (2017). ISSN 1548-7105. https://www.nature. com/articles/nmeth.4468.
- [194] J. RIVERA-PINTO, J. J. EGOZCUE, V. PAWLOWSKY-GLAHN, R. PAREDES, M. NOGUERA-JULIAN & M. L. CALLE; «Balances: a New Perspective for Microbiome Analysis»; 3 (2018). ISSN 2379-5077. Cited on pages xix, 53, 67, and 86